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Highlights 2020/21

Gearing2:

47.7% (44.6%) 

Weighted Average Cost of Capital: 

3.18% (4.27%)

1 ‘Core operating’ is defined and reconciled to our statutory results on p61 and p65.
2 ‘Gearing’ is calculated as net debt (loans and cash) as a percentage of housing properties.
Figures in brackets refer to 2019/20 performance.

calculated based on debt - does not include in the opportunity cost of deploying reserves

Core operating income1:

£272.6m (£265.6m) 

Available liquidity:

£907.6m (£828.3m) 

Core operating surplus1:

£85.4m (£84.6m) 

Core operating margin1: 

31.3% (31.8%)

Our financial performance

An efficient, high-performing, 
customer-driven culture

Becoming a truly  
customer-driven housing provider

84%

Overall satisfaction with 
customer services:

2020/21

83%

2019/20

Customer satisfaction with 
responsive repairs:

2019/20

83%

2020/21

84%

Delivering more of the right  
homes, in the right places

Annual social value  
of a Hyde tenancy:

£19,067 (£21,001) 

Creating social value

Annual social value  
from all Hyde tenancies:

£648m (£723m) 

More than 3,000  
customers involved in  
helping improve our services

5 (4) out of 36 (26) cases 
where the Housing Ombudsman 
determined full maladministration 

£1.5m (£0.3m) 
awarded by Hyde Charitable 
Trust through 632 (154) grants 

£3.0m (£2.3m) invested in communities

All 11 (9 of the 11 
buildings) of our buildings 
taller than 18m with unsafe 
cladding have had that 
cladding replaced 

988 (1,648) Fire Risk 
Assessments carried out

£63.7m 
(£51.1m) invested  
in fire safety since 2017

100% (100%) 
Decent Homes compliance

66% (64%) of our 
general needs homes are  
EPC band C or above.

48,721 (48,287) 
homes in management

1,926 (1,042) 
homes started on site

651 (687) homes 
(including JVs) completed

0.5% (0.5%)  
of homes empty at year end

107 (77)  
homes unsold at  
31 March 2021

Staff  
engagement:  

85% (86%)

Median ethnicity  
pay gap:  

16.6% (15.7%)

Median gender  
pay gap:  

5.5% (2.6%)

Investors in People 

Gold  
tenth year running

Ensuring all of our homes are safe, 
decent and energy-efficient

Highlights 2020/21
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Introduction from the Chair

Listening to, and engaging  
and working with, customers
Our future success relies on meeting the needs of our 
customers, understanding their views and preferences, 
and involving them in the design of homes and 
communities and the services we provide. 

This has been highlighted by the ongoing building 
safety crisis. It’s a tough, frustrating and worrying time 
for many of our customers, leaseholders particularly. 
We share these worries and frustrations and want 
nothing more than to be able to sort out these issues, 
so that everyone feels safe in their homes. I want to 
assure customers we’re fixing problems as quickly as 
we can and, while sometimes we do have to pass on 
costs to leaseholders, we’re doing everything to avoid 
that happening.

Succession planning
I’m delighted to be handing over the Chair to Mike Kirk 
in the Autumn. Mike, who joined the board on 7 April 
2021, has extensive experience in both executive and 
non-executive roles and has been the Chair of the Board 
at Vivid Housing Association since 2017. He’s provided 
invaluable services and support for organisations such 
as Portsmouth Water and Quadrise Fuels International 
plc, and with a career background in engineering, 
investment banking, PR and communications, he’ll bring 
his substantial commercial expertise and proven board 
leadership skills to Hyde. 

Leadership and delivery
At the beginning of June 2021, Peter Denton told the 
Board that he’d accepted the position of Chief Executive 
of Homes England. On behalf of the Board I’d like to 
thank Peter for all he has done at Hyde and wish him 
every success in his new role.

In making the decision to allow Peter to be released 
from his contract on 30 June 2021, the Board 
recognised the importance of his new role for the 
sector. This appointment will give Peter’s passion, 
enthusiasm and talents a national platform. I know that 
he’ll make an enormous contribution to delivering more 
and better homes that the country desperately needs. 
He has much to do at Homes England, not least to 
prepare for the Government’s Comprehensive Spending 
Review in the autumn, which will be crucial in ensuring 
that housing receives its fair share of funding.

I’m delighted that Neal Ackcral, Hyde’s Chief Property 
Officer, has agreed to step in as Interim CEO while 
we search for Peter’s permanent successor. Hyde 
has a hugely strong and capable executive and senior 
leadership team built up by Peter over the last couple of 
years, ably supported by its dedicated, skilled, engaged 
and enthusiastic staff. 

We are underpinned by a strong balance sheet, resilient 
financial plan and a low cost of capital.  We have a 
clear Strategic Plan against which we are making good 
progress and clear targets for delivery this year and 
beyond. While our sector faces significant challenges 
over the coming years, I believe we have the structure, 
expertise and skills to overcome these. I’m confident 
we’ll continue to fulfil our social purpose and deliver 
more of the right homes in the right places; homes that 
are safe, decent and energy-efficient for our customers.

Through everyone’s hard work and commitment we 
were able to provide almost a full business as usual 
service to customers during the lockdowns, reflected 
in our customer satisfaction scores, which remained 
high all year. And I’m pleased our staff continue to 
feel engaged – we had one of our best-ever staff 
engagement scores this year. It was great to see 
colleagues supporting one another during the crisis.

We’re emerging from COVID-19 in a good place. In 
November 2020, we retained our G1/V2 rating from 
the Regulator of Social Housing, demonstrating our 
robust governance and solid finances. This has been 
acknowledged in both of our credit ratings: S&P 
recently upgraded us to A+ (stable outlook) and Fitch 
upgraded us to A+ (stable outlook).

COVID-19: A catalyst for change
COVID-19 has seen us accelerate our plans to transform 
how we build homes and deliver better services. We 
made significant progress on our 2020-25 objectives 
this year (p14) and put one of our key plans – to be 
a catalyst for delivering more homes – into action 
by agreeing a ground-breaking partnership with M&G 
Investments in March 2021 (p85). 

The M&G partnership is founded on the principle of 
‘additionality’, ie delivering a net increase of homes 
that we couldn’t build on our own. It has a £500m 
development pipeline that plans for up to 2,000 shared 
ownership homes to be built, that we’ll manage on 
behalf of M&G’s ‘for-profit’ registered provider.

This type of partnership will be vital for the social 
housing sector, if we’re to overcome the multiple 
funding challenges we face. If many housing 
associations don’t find new sources of funding, they 
simply won’t have the money to keep developing at 
the same rate, while also ensuring existing homes are 
maintained to safe, decent and sustainable standards.

Building long term sustainability  
to drive positive impact
We also need to ensure we continue to have a positive 
impact on society, the economy and the environment 
in the long term, which will be achieved by operating 
through the lens of our Environmental, Social and 
Governance (ESG) framework, launched at the end of 
2020/21. ESG, which builds on our pioneering Value of 
a Social Tenancy research (p22) and aligns closely with 
our 2050 strategy, will help us respond to the significant 
challenges facing society, such as climate change.

The sustainable retrofit of homes, along with a 
sustainable approach to building new ones, is one of 
the best ways of helping the transition to a low-carbon 
economy. But there’s little sense in trying to tackle this 
enormous issue alone.

That’s why we’ve co-founded the Greener Futures 
Partnership (p56), a collaboration of five major housing 
associations that together provide 300,000 homes 
for more than 600,000 people and expect to spend a 
combined £7bn on delivering energy-efficient homes 
over the next decade. The partnership aims to be a 
major voice for the social housing sector, influencing 
the green agenda and helping customers tackle fuel 
poverty, sustain tenancies and live in healthier homes.

Introduction from the Chair 

I’m very proud of how our staff pulled together this year to support all our 
customers, and each other, throughout the coronavirus pandemic.

A note from the Board on Alan’s tenure as Chairman
Alan joined the Board as a non-executive director 
in 2012 and became Chair in 2018. On behalf 
of everyone at Hyde, we’d like to thank Alan for 
his hard work and dedication. Not only has he 
steered the board through a global pandemic 

but throughout his tenure he’s encouraged us to 
continually innovate and to strive to become a 
better organisation, able to build homes at scale, in 
a thoughtful, risk-managed way. We wish him all the 
best for the future.

Alan Collett 
Hyde Group Board Chair
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Strategic  
report
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Our core principles

We’re a leading provider of affordable housing in London, the south east of England and 
neighbouring areas. We’re primarily a group of ‘not-for-profit’ organisations, headed by 
Hyde Housing Association, which was established in 1967. We provide 48,721 homes 

for more than 105,000 people who might not otherwise be able to afford one, as well as 
providing them with easy-to-use landlord services.

We’re committed to our social purpose, and to becoming a truly customer-driven 
organisation, providing great services and to ensuring our homes are safe, decent and 

energy-efficient. We’re guided by a set of core principles:

We’ll: 
• Provide good quality, affordable 

rented homes and landlord services
• Deliver great housing management, 

asset management and targeted 
specialist services, such as tenancy 
support and debt advice, to those 
who need them

• Be truly customer-driven, ensuring 
fairness and choice

• Create greater customer mobility
• Ensure homes are safe, decent and 

energy-efficient
• Provide a mix of tenures to support 

successful mixed communities and 
placemaking

• Become a ‘catalyst’ for delivering  
more homes; the principle of 
‘additionality’ (ie a net increase)  
will be central to development

• Maintain our financial strength  
and stability

• Take a long-term view of our homes, 
communities, and business – 
making sure we’re here for good, and  
continue to deliver social value over 
the next 30 years.

We’ll achieve this by:
• Listening to our customers and better 

understanding their needs
• Investing in our homes to improve  

their quality
• Working in partnership to do more, 

we’ll partner on funding, construction, 
services and skills

• Building our knowledge of our 
portfolio of homes to better 
understand where to invest and where 
homes are not fit for purpose

• Striving to be ‘best-in-class’ in being 
customer-driven, ensuring safe 
homes, creating greener homes and 
working in partnership with others

• Using a mixed-funding model for 
new homes including: grant, capital 
investment, debt finance,  
third-party investment and income  
from private sales

• Expanding into new areas where we  
can build, manage or own – at scale

• Building and managing homes for 
ourselves and others

• Building a diverse, engaged and 
empowered workforce

• Maintaining our focus on operating 
efficiencies and prudent investment.

Our vision

A great home for everyone
We want to provide great homes, that are decent, safe 

and energy-efficient, to everyone that needs one. 

To provide more people with  
a roof over their head so  

that they can make a home

Our mission

We’ll be fair and equitable, giving customers more 
choice and the flexibility to live in a Hyde home that 
most suits their needs, whatever their stage in life.
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Hyde in 2050

Our 2050 Strategic Plan, A great home for everyone, sets out our commitment to becoming 
a truly customer-driven organisation over the next thirty years. Our social purpose is 
unchanged: we provide great services to customers; ensure all our homes are safe, decent 
and energy-efficient; and provide homes to rent or sell at prices people can afford.

We’re committed to providing social rented homes, but 
demand for these homes often means a lack of choice 
and little opportunity for people to move as their needs 
change over time. We’ll make it easier for customers to 
move between homes, ensuring they have the right home 
for every stage in their lives. We’ll invest in improving the 
quality of our homes, with a sector-leading approach to 
ensuring they’re safe and energy efficient.

Balancing customers’ needs 

We’ll also balance the needs of existing and future 
customers, and we’re committed to providing as 
many new homes as possible. We’ll be a catalyst for 
development, working with others to build significant 
numbers of homes in successful, mixed communities.

Some of our goals can be delivered comfortably within five 
years, others will take 10 or even 20 years to deliver fully.

Attracting 
more public 
and private 
investment

Hyde’s 
social 

purpose

Delivering more 
affordable, safe and 
sustainable homes

Measuring and 
quantifying ESG 

performance

Delivering our plan: Hyde in 2050

Delivering real impact

We recognise that when fulfilling our social purpose 
we also have responsibilities to a number of different 
stakeholders (not just our customers and our staff) 
who are impacted by what we do. To achieve the 
objectives set out in our 2050 Strategic Plan, we must be 
sustainable in everything we do, including being:

• Financially sustainable
• Environmentally sustainable
• Socially sustainable.

We also recognise we’re starting a journey and that 
how we achieve our objectives will evolve. Our new 
Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) impact 
strategy, launched in March 2021, is an important 
component of this. We believe our approach to ESG will 
enable more sustainable social housing, helping to drive 
the significant private and public investment needed to 
help us meet the zero-carbon agenda.

Our ESG framework is underpinned by the Sustainability 
Reporting Standard for Social Housing and goes further 
than those developed by the corporate sector, which 
we believe may not fully explain the true value housing 
associations deliver.

ESG will enable us to:
• Show customers we’re listening to them and acting 

in their best interests
• Be clear about our commitment to working with 

housing providers (and others) to deliver our shared 
purpose, and to overcome the funding challenges 
we face

• Demonstrate to investors that we’re an attractive, 
culturally-aligned partner; one that will only work 
with those serious about ESG outcomes. Investors 
need to share our ambitions to give more people a 
home and improve their life chances

• Provide evidence to Government that ESG reporting 
can be used to drive capital investment and address 
the country’s housing crisis.

2020/21 was a transitional year. We’ll start reporting 
using our ESG framework in 2021/22, analysing the 
outcomes of our actions and measuring ourselves 
against them. By 2022, we’ll also publish our targeted 
plan to deliver large scale carbon reduction, as part of our 
commitment to achieving Net Zero by 2050.

Delivering our plan: Hyde in 2050
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2050

2030

2020

Delivering our plan: Our progress in 2020/21

Delivery of the first phase of our strategic plan is guided by our 2020-25 objectives. This 
year, we launched a number of strategies across the business and began work on some major 
programmes and projects which will make our services to customers even better, improve the 
way we manage our data and make us more efficient.
We also took steps to address some of the biggest external challenges we and our customers face, including 
supporting staff and customers through the coronavirus pandemic, managing our Building Safety programme to 
keep customers safe, putting in place plans to tackle the 2030 and 2050 Net Zero Carbon challenge, and securing 
funding that will allow us to keep building new affordable homes. 

2050

2030

2020

2050

2030

2020

2050

2030

2020

Delivering our plan: Our progress in 2020/21
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Delivering our plan: Our progress in 2020/21Delivering our plan: Our progress in 2020/21

We will: 
• Champion a customer-driven approach, guided by the 

principles of ‘listen to me, empower me and improve 
my service’ in our customer strategy

• Improve our systems and processes to deliver modern 
service choices to fit with customers’ lives

• Ensure we have the resources, tools, skills and 
flexibility to deliver the ambitions we share with our 
customers

• Define, promote and provide core housing management 
and asset management services, in line with our 
housing management strategy

• Implement changes to support the ‘lifecycle homes’ 
principle.

In 2020/21 we:
• Introduced a new customer contact and case 

management system, making it easier to track and 
respond to customer enquires

• Switched more services onto digital platforms,  
allowing us to continue to deliver services to  
customers during COVID-19

• Took steps so that we could continue to safely  
deliver a full responsive repairs service to customers 
during COVID-19

• Provided support and advice to customers struggling 
with the financial impact of COVID-19 

• Launched our 2020-24 Customer strategy, which 
promotes and embeds the principles of ‘listen to me, 
empower me and improve my service’

• Launched our 2020-23 Housing Management strategy 
- a three-year plan to improve services including: estate 
services, homeowner services, customer payments and 
community investment

• Launched our 2020-24 Customer Involvement strategy, 
to broaden the ways customers can get involved and 
ensure their voice is heard. 

Become a truly customer-driven housing provider
We will: 
• Develop a mixed funding model for development, 

incorporating grant, debt funding, partnerships/joint 
ventures and third-party investors

• Work in partnership with others to build more than we 
could alone; becoming a catalyst for new housing

• Adopt an ‘ownership-blind’ approach to development 
and management

• Build new homes to sector-leading standards of safety, 
energy efficiency and sustainability

• Implement a portfolio management strategy to guide 
the disposal, acquisition and building of homes

• Agree and deliver our development strategy to guide 
purchase of land, construction, sale and letting of  
new homes.

In 2020/21 we:
• Established the sector’s first shared ownership fund 

with M&G Investments, creating a £0.5bn pipeline of 
2,000 new shared ownership homes (see p85)

• Began building the first 346 of 1,000 affordable 
homes which we plan to deliver through our innovative 
partnership with Brighton & Hove City Council

• We completed our first development through 
Evera Homes (our partnership with three housing 
associations in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough), 
near Huntingdon

• Established a new joint venture of Evera Homes and 
Vistry to build 650 homes in Cambridgeshire, taking the 
total pipeline for Evera Homes to 1,302 homes

• Took ownership of the first affordable homes at 
Rochester Riverside, where we’re building 1,400 homes 
using 60% local labour

• Started building more than 700 homes through our 
strategic partnerships with Homes England and the 
Greater London Authority

• Continued engaging with our key local authorities that 
will unlock new opportunities from our existing estate.

Deliver more of the right homes, in the right places



Delivering our plan: Our progress in 2020/21Delivering our plan: Our progress in 2020/21

We will: 
• Implement our asset management strategy
• Create a five-year investment plan, using the most  

cost-effective approach to ensure our homes remain 
decent and safe

• Re-procure our stock investment contracts to  
reduce costs of component replacement, while 
retaining quality

• Review the Hyde Quality Standard, ensuring it provides 
value for money, while giving customers choice

• Achieve greater assurance by improving asset data.

In 2020/21 we:
• Co-founded the sector-leading Greener Futures 

Partnership with four other major housing associations. 
This partnership will help shape government policy 
and allow us to combine resources to deliver a ‘once 
in a generation’ level of investment to improve the 
sustainability of our homes and communities

• Delivered a multi-million pound programme to remedy 
fire safety issues in our homes, while pursuing 
successful legal action against the contractors 
responsible and offering advice to leaseholders 
struggling with EWS1 issues

• Began planning for changes to policies, data 
management and ways of working to comply with the 
forthcoming Building Safety Bill

• Launched our 2020-25 Asset Management strategy – a 
five-year investment plan to improve the quality of all 
our homes

• Launched our 2020-22 Energy and Sustainability 
strategy and the Hyde Pathway to Net Zero

• Re-procured our five-year stock investment contracts, 
saving about £2m a year.

Ensure all of our homes are safe, decent and energy-efficient
We will: 
• Implement our people and culture strategy, including a 

customer-driven approach
• Maintain focus on delivery and efficient ways  

of working
• Maintain alignment between our long-term financial 

and strategic plans
• Agree and implement our IT road map
• Ensure information governance principles are 

embedded.

In 2020/21 we:
• Worked with our staff to renew our approach to 

Diversity and Inclusion, with a particular focus on 
listening and responding to the needs of staff

• Successfully pivoted the organisation in response to 
the coronavirus pandemic, with flexibility, ingenuity 
and resilience, continuing to provide services and new 
homes to our customers

• Agreed our new overarching 2020-25 People and 
Culture commitment, which will introduce new 
corporate values, new ways of working and our revised 
Diversity and Inclusion strategy

• Launched our multi-year Digital Programme, which will 
transform how we deliver services to customers and 
manage data across Hyde

• Issued a 35-year, £400m low interest bond to help pay 
for new homes and investment

• Closed down old lending arrangements which will 
reduce our cost of borrowing over time.

Have an efficient, high-performing, and customer-driven culture

18   |   Consolidated report and financial statements | 31 March 2021 Consolidated report and financial statements | 31 March 2021   |   19 



20   |   Consolidated report and financial statements | 31 March 2021

Social  
sustainability

Consolidated report and financial statements | 31 March 2021   |   21 



Creating value 
for society

Social sustainability

The value we create as a housing association goes beyond delivering financial surpluses and building more 
homes: social housing has an inherent value to society and the economy.
We know that social housing creates safe and 
sustainable communities. It reduces the burden on 
emergency services, healthcare and local authorities. 
However, measuring and demonstrating that value 
hasn’t always been easy, which is why we launched The 
value of a social tenancy report in 2018.

This work has put a value on good quality, well-
managed social tenancies, showing how, by giving 
people a secure roof over their heads we can not only 
enrich their lives but also contribute millions of pounds 
to the economy, by giving people better life chances and 
allowing them to realise their potential.

The ‘Social’ strand of our ESG framework will build upon 
our Value of a social tenancy reporting. However, we’ll 
continue to use this evidenced approach, based on 
the five pillars of wellbeing (financial, physical, mental, 
relational and purpose) to measure our impact on 
customers, communities and society as a whole.

But we’ll also expand our analysis, to measure the impact 
on staff performance and employee needs, and on our 
supply chain, which will also help us choose suppliers 
whose values and objectives align with our own.

*We believe the value of a social tenancy is ‘at least’ this amount because figures have been discounted by 5%, reflecting that benefits may arise without a social tenancy, 
and by a further 40%, because other factors, individuals and agencies contribute to delivering these benefits. Furthermore, only data obtained from reliable sources has 
been included within our research; there are aspects of social tenancies that we know generate value but, to date, we have not been able to measure them accurately.

Social sustainability: Creating value for society

Total social value impacted by reduced construction 
activity in 2020/21
Despite the increase in core social value, our total social 
value in 2020/21 was at least £648m or £19,067 per 
tenancy, down from £723m and £21,001 in 2019/20. 

This decrease was directly caused by the dramatic 
reduction in construction activity last year during 
COVID-19. As a result, the economic impact from our 
construction activity reduced from £236m, or £5,992 per 
tenancy, in 2019/20, to £101m and £2,956 in 2020/21.

The economic impact of our maintenance activity was 
£45m, or £1,330 per tenancy in 2020/21, in line with 
the previous year, (£51.9m and £1,327 in 2019/20), as 
we resumed our full repairs and maintenance service 
during the second and third lockdowns.

As a result, the total construction and maintenance 
impact in 2020/21 was £146m, or £4,287 per tenancy 
(£252m and £7,319 in 2019/20).

Social sustainability: Creating value for society

Social value per  
Hyde tenancy

£14,781 
per year

All Hyde social homes
£502m per year

Economic impact  
of construction

£2,956 
per tenancy

All Hyde homes
£101m in total

Economic impact  
of maintenance

£1,330 
per tenancy 

All Hyde homes
£45m in total

Total social value 
per Hyde tenancy

£19,067 
(at least*)

All Hyde homes
£648m

Core social value of tenancies increases due to COVID-19
The ‘core’ social value of our tenancies (excluding 
construction and maintenance impact) increased from 
at least* £471m, or £13,682 per tenancy in 2019/20, 
to £502m and £14,781 per tenancy in 2020/21, across 
our 33,989 rented and shared ownership homes 
(34,416 in 2019/20).

Aside from inflation, this increase is due mainly to the 
sharp rise in people moving into social housing from 

temporary accommodation during the coronavirus 
pandemic. This was most likely the result of the 
Government’s ‘Everyone In’ campaign to support and 
find housing for those sleeping rough or in emergency 
accommodation. Moving people from temporary 
accommodation to social housing delivers significant 
savings for local authorities (and increases the value of 
social tenancies).

Social value per tenancy  
2019/20 - 2020/21

2019/20 2020/21

Core social 
value

£1
3,

68
2

£1
4,

78
1

£1
,3

27

£1
,3

30

£5
,9

92

£2
1,

00
1

£1
9,

06
7

£2
,9

56

Maintenance 
impact

Construction 
impact

Total social 
value
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Social sustainability: Creating value for society Social sustainability: Creating value for society

Economy £243m  • 10,642 more adults in work through the stability of social housing, 
generating £224m

 • Social tenancies reduce presenteeism valued at £5m

 • Social tenancies halve absenteeism to ten days a year, valued at £14m.

NHS £94m People living in social housing have improved physical and mental wellbeing, 
resulting in:

 • Fewer drug and alcohol issues

 • Fewer falls for the elderly

 • Reduced incidence of childhood asthma due to damp living conditions

 • Fewer GP and A&E attendances.

Police and Justice £66m People living in social housing are less likely to be involved in, or be victims 
of, crime. This:

 • Reduces the number of police callouts not resulting in an arrest, saving £7m

 • Results in 9,337 fewer incidents, saving £59m

Local Authority £59m Local authority savings are the result of:

 • Moving 8,237 people out of temporary accommodation, saving £54m

 • Helping the elderly stay independent longer, delaying a move into 
residential care, saving £4m

 • Children living in social housing being less likely to be on the Child 
Protection Register, saving £1m.

DWP £20m People living in social housing are more likely to be employed, reducing 
Universal Credit claims.

Education £16m Children living in social housing are more likely to attend school and have 
improved earning potential.

Banks and Creditors £2m People living in social housing are less likely to have problem debt..

Fire Service £2m Secure, safe and high quality social housing (along with housing association 
support) reduces the risk of domestic fires.

The value of a social tenancy by key stakeholder The value of Hyde social tenancies to HM Treasury
Our research demonstrates that the Treasury sees 
a total value of at least £6,277 per year per tenancy 
(2019/20: £5,698) directly to government agencies, 
and a further £12,064 (2019/20: £14,617) in broader 
economic gains. For example, every extra resident 
in employment, generates taxes for the Treasury. So 
it’s certainly in HM Treasury’s interest to consider 
increasing funding for social housing: there’s a direct 
relationship between the additional return generated (to 
both public finances and to the UK economy) and the 
number of social tenancies the Treasury enables.

About the Value of a social tenancy research
The value of a social tenancy is calculated with the 
support of our advisor, Sonnet Advisory & Impact CIC. 
The methodology compares how life would look like 
‘with social housing’ to the counterfactual: life ‘without 
social housing’ (where tenants are assumed to be 
living in ether temporary accommodation, private rental 
accommodation or with family and friends).

A detailed evaluation model is built using observed  
and researched information, analysed using Hyde’s 
tenancy data.

Furthermore, only data obtained from reliable sources 
has been included within our research; there are aspects 
of social tenancies that we know generate value but, to 
date, we have not been able to measure them accurately.

Further details on our approach and methodology,  
as well as the reporting criteria used within the  
models, can be found on our website:  
www.hyde-housing.co.uk/value-to-society.

The annual direct benefit of all Hyde’s social tenancies, £502m, is shared between a number of sectors: local 
authorities; police and justice; education; the National Health Service; the Department for Work and Pensions; the 
economy; the fire service and banks and creditors.
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We want to build trusting relationships with customers, treating them with respect, so we can engage in more 
positive and meaningful ways. This year, we launched our first Customer strategy, with interlinked strategies 
for housing management and customer involvement. This will help us shape efficient services, tailored to 
meet customers’ needs, now and in the future, as we continue on our journey to become truly customer-driven. 
This ambition will be supported by investment in seamless digital services, increasing engagement and giving 
customers more control.

Our customers
Our customers range from those receiving benefits and 
living in low-income households, to people taking their 
first steps on the property ladder, adults and families 

requiring stable homes to raise their children and improve 
their life chances, as well as older people who need safe, 
secure and comfortable homes in their retirement.

The average age  
of customers is 38; 

13% are 35-54  
years old

11% of customers  
are over 65 years old,  

while just under 42% are 
younger than 35

22% of 
customers 

have children

67% of 
customers are 

employed

53% of households have  
an annual income of less  

than £20k; for 31% of these, 
annual household income  

is less than £10k

About 24% of 
households have an 

annual income of 
£20k-£30k

Becoming truly 
customer-driven

Demographics Finances Tenancies

72% of customers rent 
their homes, most on 
social rent or below 

market rent tenancies

24% of customers  
are homeowners, 

including  
shared owners

The average  
tenancy lasts about 

6.3 years

Social sustainability

Listening to, and engaging  
and working with, our customers

Our Customer Involvement strategy, launched in September 2020, sets out our commitment to listen to 
customers and act on what they tell us. We want to inspire customers to share their views, so we can deliver 
services and homes to meet their needs now, and in the future.
The strategy was developed with the support of Customer Voice, a group of customer volunteers that works 
with our senior managers. Customer Voice examines our performance and consults with the wider customer 
community, to help find ways for services to be improved for everyone. The strategy has three key themes:

• Connected communities
We’ll listen to, and act on, the views of customers. 
Customers have told us they want more 
opportunities to talk to and engage with us about 
services and issues concerning them. We need to 
do this regularly and proactively.

• Customers with influence
We recognise the value of customers’  
experiences and we’ll listen and work together 
in partnership. Involvement needs to start at an 
early stage. We need to make sure that customer 
volunteers on formal groups are representative of 
our communities.

• Improving services together
We want to get more customers involved in 
influencing, improving and designing our services. 
Customers told us that we need to promote 
activities better, keep things simple and make 
performance information more widely available.

Voice meetings
Customer31

2,600 
customers  
responded to surveys

3,000
customers

More than 

got involved in helping 
improve our services

customers  
logged into the OAK*

1,100

tenant and resident 
associations and 
customer groups

We engaged with

32

74 online 
meetings

300 customers 
joined

customers received our 
bi-annual Customer 
Involvement bulletin

36,000

*our online customer engagement portal

Social sustainability: Becoming truly customer driven
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Social sustainability: Becoming truly customer-driven

Delivering the new strategy
We’ve introduced three commitments to support the strategic themes:

• A better online offer: We’re improving our online tools, to make it quick and easy to engage with us, through 
surveys and discussion forums, online meetings and consultation. We’ll continue to offer customers who don’t 
use technology ways to get involved.

• Improved communications: We’ll promote ways for customers to get involved in shaping our future, using a 
range of tools to reach as wide an audience as possible, and publicise when customers have played a key role in 
improving services.

• Training and support: We’ll offer training, resources and other learning opportunities, to ensure customers are 
supported and empowered to make a difference.

Highlights from 2020/21
Engagement was obviously challenging in 2020, which meant we had to take a different approach, using virtual 
meetings (both formal and informal), online surveys, publishing more information on our website and targeted 
consultation, via email and post. This approach was developed with customers, to make it easy for them to continue 
to engage with us. The result was that more customers got involved and response rates increased, particularly around 
issues such as service charges and fire safety.

In 2020/21: 

• Customer Voice influenced and directed our coronavirus communications and online content, to ensure we 
provided information that was helpful and easy-to-understand

• Our Resident Inspection team recommended 15 service improvements to our complaints service, grounds 
maintenance, cleaning services and estate services

• Customers helped us to select contractors and design the services for planned maintenance, internal lifts and 
hoists, and parking

• Two customers were recruited to our Complaints Board and took part in the review of the process and  
lessons learned.

Why ‘customers’, rather than residents?
We’re consciously moving away from using the term ‘resident’ or the type of the tenure, for example ‘tenant’ or 
‘leaseholder’, to show that everyone should be treated and recognised as a customer, and that we value their views 
on our services.

Our services

We want customers to feel valued and important; for services to be seamless, integrated and easy. This has 
been particularly challenging during the coronavirus pandemic, but we managed to deliver almost all our services 
throughout the crisis, maintaining our levels of customer satisfaction. We know we’ve got work to do around 
complaints and service charges. A renewed focus on these areas, combined with a major digital transformation 
programme, will help us to listen to and empower our customers, and to improve our services.

Continuing to deliver normal services during COVID-19
Following the first lockdown, services returned to 
normal by the summer of 2020 and throughout the 
rest of the year. This included essential maintenance 
and repairs (p46), property management and estate 
services, dealing with anti-social behaviour, providing 
rental homes and sending regular coronavirus updates 
to customers, as well as providing increased support 
to those who needed it most during the pandemic. 
As a result, we increased overall satisfaction with 
customer services to 84% (2019/20: 83%), despite the 
unprecedented situation.

Our Resident Services team focused on our most 
vulnerable customers, specifically those living in our 
supported and sheltered accommodation. With  
scheme officers working remotely, we contacted 
customers regularly, making 32,907 calls between April 
and June 2020. We also liaised with local food banks 
and other partners to ensure vulnerable customers had 
enough food, toiletries and household cleaning products 
during the lockdown.

Our ‘Flying Squad’, set up to address the challenge of 
workload fluctuations as a result of COVID-19, matched 
employees with spare capacity to over-stretched 
teams. Thirty-one staff members, drawn from across 
the business, were re-allocated to Resident Services, 
Income, Customer Operations, Digital, Hyde Foundation 
and Stakeholder and Investor Relations. Between April 
and June, the Flying Squad provided more than 1,100 
hours of support, avoiding the need for temporary staff 
(and the associated costs).

Anti-social behaviour (ASB) was amplified for many 
customers during the lockdowns. The number of ASB 
cases in 2020/21 increased by 44% compared with 
2019/20, which was not unexpected, with people 
spending more time at home, and noise and ASB 
difficult to escape. While our ASB officers carried out 
some home and site visits to investigate issues, most 
cases were handled by telephone, email and WhatsApp 
in the first instance, so we could continue to respond 
promptly. As a result, customer satisfaction with ASB 
remained high, hitting our target of 70%.

“This is an exciting opportunity to improve 
services by involving more customers 
in the way these are delivered. We look 
forward to an increased partnership with 
Hyde to continue to improve and develop 
services for all customers.”

Jan Durbridge and Stella Young,  
Chair and Vice Chair, Customer Voice

overall satisfaction 
with customer services 

(2019/20: 83%)

of 20,207 planned estate 
inspections completed 

(2019/20: 100%)

increase in anti-social 
behaviour (ASB) cases 

during lockdown

84% 44% 100%

satisfaction with 
complaints handling

55%
(2019/20: 54%)

satisfaction  
with lettings

90% 
(2019/20: 95%)

satisfaction with 
ASB services 

70%
(2019/20: 70.3%)

homes let to  
new customers

1,432
(2019/20: 1,312)
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Helping people find an affordable home
We completed 1,432 lets in 2020/21 (2019/20: 1,312), 
making it one of the busiest years since the Empty 
Homes and Letting team was set up. We finished the 
year with an average empty home turnaround of 22.9 
days, against a target of 25 days. We also facilitated 259 
mutual exchanges in 2020/21 (2019/20: 281) when many 
other social landlords weren’t allowing them to go ahead 
due to the pandemic.

Given the lettings process is entirely customer-facing, 
this was a great achievement. The team adapted by 
using digital platforms to carry out inspections remotely, 
for people wanting to move or exchange their home. It 
also used mobile apps to sign tenancy agreements and 
other paperwork. As a result, customer satisfaction with 
lettings reached 90% (2019/20: 95%).

At the end of the year we launched Jigsaw, our new home 
search online platform. We expect the system to begin 
to have a significant impact on helping customers find a 
new home in 2021/22, enabling people unable to access 
local authority housing registers to find an affordable 
home. Users can search the free website for available 
housing, wherever those homes are. They can ask for 
an auto-bidding service to be set up, to make bids on 
their behalf, if they don’t have access to a computer. We 
can also upload floor plans, gas certificates, EPCs and 
images and videos of the homes.

Embedding ‘I am Hyde’ to continue  
to improve customer engagement
The ‘I am Hyde’ tone of voice is the most important 
cultural and customer experience improvement tool 
we have to influence customer engagement and 
satisfaction. This year, our focus was to firmly embed the 
tone of voice in all customer communications across the 
organisation, with the aim of maintaining good practice 
and confidence in the approach.

This year, 718 staff attended webinars and virtual 
classroom sessions and we trained 17 ‘I am Hyde 
champions’, who’ll provide support and coaching to 
colleagues, so the approach becomes business as usual. 
We also offered digital learning programmes through our 
online learning and development portal.

We know ‘I am Hyde’ is making a difference: customers 
have praised our empathy in our regular updates on the 
coronavirus pandemic and we achieved our highest-ever 
open rates for mailings, of more than 60%. We’ve seen 
the benefits of reduced contact from formal and legal 
consultations, for example the M&G deal (p85), by getting 
our messages right for customers.

Working to improve complaints handling
In February 2021, we adopted a new complaint policy 
and procedure which responds to both the findings of a 
Resident Inspection team review of complaints in 2020 
and the publication of the Housing Ombudsman’s new 
Complaint Handling Code. We share the Ombudsman’s 
ambitions for a prompt, fair and polite complaints service.

Our new approach offers choice for customers of 
using an informal or a formal process. It also adopts 
a 10 working day response target. A high volume of 
complaints received during the third COVID-19 lockdown 
has created a backlog we are working to reduce. 
Allocating complaints to a dedicated team member 
makes it possible to provide customers with a quicker 
response than before.

This year, 55% of customers were satisfied with our 
complaint handling. This is a slight improvement on 
the previous year (2019/20: 54%), but falls short of our 
ambition of 65% satisfaction. This remains a priority 
for us as we, and our customers, adapt to the new 
complaints process.

In November 2020, two customers joined our Complaints 
Board, which meets every two months to review themes 
and trends in complaints and to discuss what we’re doing 
to address the causes of complaints. We’re pleased to 
have this additional insight, challenge and support from 
customers in these discussions.

Our commitment to  
improving service charges
Customers have told us they want to see improvements 
in accuracy, transparency and value for money. We know 
we have more to do and we’re continuing to work closely 
with Customer Voice and our Homeowner Panel to share 
and monitor plans to work towards meeting customer 
expectations.

Based upon last year’s successful pilot, we established 
a dedicated Customer Service Charge team to handle 
enquiries and offer a named, accountable staff member 
for each case. We’ve improved proactive contact with 
customers and taken steps to reduce common errors 
and we’ve had positive feedback from those customers 
who’ve had complex enquiries resolved. Increased 
service costs, related to fire safety and reactive costs 
for bulk refuse, contributed to higher volumes of contact 
this year, which means many customers waited too long 
for a response.

Our Digital programme: Continuing to 
transform our services and ways of working
The coronavirus pandemic has shown that, while we 
have been using digital technology for many tasks in 
the past few years, we could be using it more on a day-
to-day basis.

For example, this year we launched MyAccount, which 
enables customers to manage their rent account, view 
their balance and download statements, pay bills and 
update their details from their PC or mobile device. By 
the end of the year, 6,000 customers had signed up.

Our Digital programme is the next step on this journey. 
The programme aims to transform our customers’ 
experience through digital services, empowering  
them to manage their homes effectively, as well 
as enabling more efficient ways of working for us. 
Eventually, we expect about 75% of our services will 
be delivered through digital platforms. There are three 
main workstreams:

• Salesforce: Salesforce is a customer relationship 
management system that will help transform our 
self-serve capabilities, empowering customers to 
manage their homes online. Salesforce will also 
help us to support customers more effectively as 
it will give us ‘one view’ of every customer. A big 
advantage of Salesforce is the range of ready-to-
install solutions that we can add to the system 
as customers’ needs evolve. For example, in 
June 2021 we’ll be introducing Salesforce Voice 
to replace our current customer contact system, 
Anywhere 365.

• TotalMobile Connect: We’re bringing together 
all our property information into one system - 
TotalMobile Connect - to efficiently manage teams 
and contractors across repairs, maintenance and 
compliance. We’ll be able to see all our data in one 
place, so we can make better decisions, have less 
reliance on our contractors and ensure we get the 
best value for money (p47).

• Data and Integration: We’ll hold one true version 
of all our data in a ‘data lake’ cloud-based system. 
This will enable us to more efficiently link data 
between each of our different systems. We’re 
using Kafka as our data streaming platform – the 
same system used by Netflix, Twitter and LinkedIn 
to stream data in huge quantities. This will enable 
us to implement not only the improvements in the 
Digital Programme but also other initiatives and 
programmes across Hyde.

Taking a strong stance  
against unlawful subletting
We’re committed to pursuing cases of unlawful subletting, 
which is vital, given the high demand for social housing 
and our desire to ensure affordable homes go to those who 
most need them. During the pandemic, we were unable 
to make as many visits to homes where we suspected 
unlawful subletting but we still uncovered 14 cases in 
2020/21 (2019/20: 34), which included cases of fraudulent 
succession claims. We continue to take legal action in 
many of these cases, which was often delayed by the 
Government’s eviction ban.

Social sustainability: Our servicesSocial sustainability: Our services
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Hyde Foundation

Hyde Foundation objectives
• To enable positive change in local communities 

and ensure we’re seen as leading the way in 
developing places where people want to live

• To provide specialist one-to-one advice and 
support to customers at risk of homelessness

• To deliver Hyde Charitable Trust grants and  
supply chain social value contributions, to add 
value to the Successful Places and Successful 
Tenancies programmes.

Many of the essential services that support our 
customers and communities can only be done through 
our fundraising. In 2020/21, we secured commitments 
of £774k for Hyde Charitable Trust (HCT), Hyde 
Foundation and our community partners, more than 
double our original target.

Supporting customers impacted by COVID-19
The pandemic continues to have a significant effect 
on customers and communities, and many people 
continue to feel the physical, mental and financial 
impacts. The Hyde Foundation team has seen a 
significant increase in demand for support around 
employment, mental health, domestic abuse and 
food poverty since March 2020 and we expect this to 
continue to rise. We’ve also seen an increase in the 
number of customers claiming benefits for the first 
time, along with rising numbers of Universal Credit 
claimants and customers affected by the benefit cap. 

Hyde Charitable Trust (HCT) made additional funding 
available to customers throughout the pandemic, 
releasing an extra £600k to set up an emergency relief 
fund for community and individual grants, bringing its 
total budget to £1m in 2020/21.

HCT also set up a rent relief fund supporting  
customers in financial difficulty, awarding £484k to 
277 eligible residents. Initial analysis of the impact 
of these grants show that rent payment is sustained 

following grant payment. The increased rent collection 
rate compared to the pre-grant payment, on average, 
equals the grant amount within two years. So far, the 
fund has been a big success - in the analysis of 173 
accounts, we’ve seen an increase from a collection 
rate of 83% overall for this group before grant award, to 
98% afterward.

HCT awarded £308k in crisis grants to help customers 
who couldn’t afford to buy food; helping families 
manage bereavement costs and supplying laptops 
for children so they could be home schooled. It 
also awarded £650k in community grants, including 
helping the Pilion Trust set up a new foodbank in 
Islington, serving 150 families a week; and delivering 
a programme with our partners in Brent, working with 
1,100 young people over four months.

As a result of this work Barclays Foundation donated 
£20,000 to help HCT continue to support people 
affected by the pandemic.

Supporting victims of  
domestic abuse during COVID-19
We’ve strengthened our focus on domestic abuse 
since the start of the first lockdown in 2020, to ensure 
customers are safe and that no one feels trapped during 
the coronavirus pandemic.

We have four women’s refuges across Kent, Brighton 
and London, run by specialist organisations on our 
behalf. This year, Hyde Charitable Trust awarded a 
£20,000 grant to My Sisters’ House, a women’s centre 
providing vital support to women experiencing any 
difficulty or crisis, including domestic abuse.

Our Domestic Abuse working group brings together 
staff from across Hyde to support customers, helping 
to secure urgent moves for those most at risk. We 
provide a sensitive and confidential response to anyone 
approaching us for assistance in cases of domestic 
abuse and will meet with them at one of our offices or 
at an agreed safe venue. We also provide translation 
services and those seeking help can ask to speak with 
someone of their own gender or ethnicity.

This year, for example, one of the customers we  
helped requested an urgent house move. The 
customer’s ex-partner was harassing her by phoning 
up to 100 times a day and was also using coercion 
and threats, as well as threatening to report her to 
the social services. These are all common themes in 
domestic abuse cases. The Tenancy and Empty Homes 
and Lettings teams found the customer a new home at 
short notice and gave her financial support through our 
emergency grants fund, which covered removal costs.

Social value from suppliers
We carefully choose our key suppliers, working with 
organisations who support our values and social 
purpose. Social value is built into the pre-procurement 
process and ensures contractors have the capacity 
and expertise to match our expectations to deliver 
economic, social or environmental outcomes for 
customers or the wider public.

During 2020/21, about £130k in social value 
was delivered by our suppliers, including project 
sponsorship, customer recruitment, training and 
workshops and skill sharing. This compares to about 
£150k delivered in 2019/20, with a number of activities 
put on hold due to the coronavirus pandemic.

Social sustainability: Hyde Foundation

secured towards 
rent payments

£3.5m 
of external 

funding secured

£264k 
customers received 

financial advice

1,552 

customers 
received jobs and 

skills training

86 

of non-housing related 
gains for customers

£925k

customers 
helped back into 

employment

104 
(2019/20: 207)

awarded by Hyde 
Charitable Trust

£1.5m
632 grants worth

(2019/20: 154, £0.3m)

(2019/20: £370k)(2019/20: £1.0m)

direct interventions 
preventing eviction and 

homelessness

2,083
(2019/20: 1,903)

(2019/20: £3.0m) (2019/20: 1,291)

(2019/20: 184)
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Tackling youth violence: One Flow-One Brent
‘One Flow-One Brent’ is a consortium of the Young 
Brent Foundation, local young people, Hyde and fellow 
housing associations MTVH and Catalyst, which aims 
to positively impact the lives of 3,000 young people 
living on three large estates in Brent: Chalkhill, Church 
End and Stonebridge.
‘One Flow-One Brent’ received £744k in funding from 
the Mayor of London’s Violence Reduction Unit ‘MyEnds’ 
programme in March 2021. This money will support 
programmes enabling young people to lead and influence 
neighbourhood planning and services, as well as the 
wider youth and community offer in Brent over the 
next three years. Young people will be able to use their 
experiences and collective voice to address the structural 
changes needed to tackle the drivers of violence.

“Hopefully this funding will provide a safe haven to keep young 
people engaged in positive activities, giving them hope that they’ve 
not been forgotten and can achieve their personal aspirations.”

Jean Marc, Chalkhill Estate Youth Steering Team

Our Domestic Abuse Fund
We launched our Domestic Abuse Fund earlier this 
year to support customers that have told us they’re 
experiencing domestic abuse, or are dealing with the 
ongoing effects of it. Our tenancy officers can apply for 
up to £1,000 per household (this limit can be increased 
in certain cases) and grants can be used to pay for:

• Keeping residents safe from their abusers – 
including help with changing phone numbers, 
accessing restraining orders and covering other 
similar costs

• Accessing help and support services
• Supporting the customer to leave their home, 

including hiring a removals firm, providing 
emergency accommodation, providing clothing for 
those who have fled with no possessions

• Food and personal hygiene items, as well as 
essential goods and services.

Chichester Social Prescribing
Jointly funded by HCT, Chichester District Council and 
the NHS, Chichester Social Prescribing is a referral 
system for GPs and other healthcare professionals, 
enabling them to refer patients with social, emotional 
or practical needs to a range of non-clinical, local 
community services. 
Our Tenancy Support team works alongside the Social 
Prescribers, solving problems for those customers 
referred to the service and linking them with other Hyde 
Foundation projects. The focus is mainly on housing 
issues, money, debt and benefits, social isolation, 
employment and general wellbeing.

“The support we’ve received from Hyde means we’ve been able 
to grow the team and provide a better, more joined up service for 
our clients. We achieve better outcomes for clients who are Hyde 
customers and issues are resolved quicker and easier.”

Elaine Thomas, Community Wellbeing Manager

The Sylvia Beaufoy Centre
The Sylvia Beaufoy Centre, in Petworth, West Sussex, 
carries out youth and community work and offers a 
safe meeting place to young people in Petworth and 
surrounding villages. 
Over the past two years, the project has grown from 
supporting eight young people a week to working with 
120. HCT has provided funding for half the salary of 
a Senior Youth and Community Development (SYCD) 
Manager, a pivotal role for the centre. HCT also gives 
direct support to the SYCD Manager, meeting them 
regularly to discuss progress and future programmes, 
advising on funding opportunities and acting as a referee.

“Without the HCT grant funding and its regular support, we 
wouldn’t be able to run our weekly sessions for young people, half 
of whom live in a Hyde home.”

Karen Chessman, Sylvia Beaufoy Centre Manager

Angela’s* story
Hyde Foundation employment advisers helped our 
customer Angela to find a new job and to train for a new 
career in teaching, after she was made redundant during 
the coronavirus pandemic.
Angela has been a Hyde customer for 22 years and 
was first supported by Hyde Foundation in 2016, when 
she was helped to find a job as a dining host at a hotel. 
Angela was referred for support last year, having been 
made redundant from her job. Our employer advisers 
helped Angela to apply for a new position and she was 
successful in getting back to work. Having expressed a 
desire to do something completely different in her career, 
our advisers also encouraged Angela to start a course 
on learning to teach English as a foreign language, and 
helped her get new laptop to support her studies.

“The support Hyde Foundation gives is person-centred. My life has 
changed a lot. I feel the future is bright and that there are many 
opportunities available to me; having a second pair of eyes has 
helped me see them.”

Angela*, Hyde Customer

Caroline’s* story
Our Successful Tenancies team helped Caroline get 
the benefits to which she was entitled, so that she 
could pay her rent and bills, put food on the table, and 
care for her disabled daughter.
Caroline is a single parent living in south east London, 
who was referred to our Successful Tenancies team 
when she fell behind with her rent. Caroline had 
separated from her partner, and lost her job, but couldn’t 
go back to work, as she was caring for her eldest 
daughter, who is disabled.

When her daughter turned 19, she was no longer 
covered by Caroline’s Universal Credit payments, which 
meant the family’s benefits were cut. As a result, 
Caroline started to struggle financially, having to make 
the stark choice of paying the rent or buying food. Our 
advisers explained to Caroline that she could apply for 
Universal Credit on behalf of her daughter, and that she 
could also claim carer benefits, which she’d missed out 
on for more than a year. We contacted Universal Credit 
for Caroline and kept in touch with her each week, until 
everything was resolved.

“I’m now on time with my rent, pay my credit card and I’m not 
behind in any of my payments. Life was pretty hard before, 
worrying about how I was going to provide food for my kids. I feel 
so much happier. Hyde Foundation has been really helpful and 
really helped change our lives for the better.”

Caroline*, Hyde customer

Corinna’s* story
The HCT’s Rent Relief Fund, set up to support customers 
in financial difficulty due to the coronavirus pandemic, 
has helped one of our customers stay in her home.
Corinna got into financial difficulties when she was 
diagnosed with COVID-19 in March 2020 and was off 
work for three months. She was also pregnant with 
her third child and began falling behind with her rent 
payments. This meant she defaulted on a previous 
agreement for rent arrears, and was at risk of losing her 
home. Fortunately, Corinna applied for the relief fund 
and all her arrears were cleared. She was also given 
food vouchers and advice on how to get back on her 
feet financially.

“There’s light at the end of the tunnel, I’m much happier and 
optimistic about life. Becoming homeless was my biggest worry 
but I know I have a home and that’s the most important thing. 
The help I received from Hyde Foundation has totally turned my 
life around.”

Corinna*, Hyde customer

*Name changed

Social sustainability: Hyde FoundationSocial sustainability: Hyde Foundation
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Over the course of 2020/21, we - like many others - had to adapt to the challenges thrown up by the coronavirus 
pandemic. Our staff responded very well to working remotely, continuing to deliver business as usual services 
and maintaining high customer satisfaction. We also believe COVID-19 hasn’t negatively impacted our culture, as 
shown by our high employee engagement scores.
Our staff engagement score was 84.5% across all of our teams at the end of March 2021, down just 1.5% on March 
2020, which we feel is a very good result, considering the unprecedented situation the pandemic has caused. This 
compares favourably with both the national average engagement score of 72% and the 2019 G15 upper quartile 
score of 82%. Nearly 88% of staff say they’d like to be working at Hyde in 12 months’ time. This is slightly higher 
than 2019/20 (87%) and much higher than in 2018/19 (81%).

We were also re-accredited with our Investors in People (IiP) award at Gold level in 2020. We’ve now held Gold status 
for ten years, demonstrating a consistent high level of leadership and people management practices.

Introducing new ways of working
During the first lockdown, 77% of our staff worked 
largely from home, falling to 55% in the third lockdown 
over winter 2020/21, as we returned to providing normal 
services. We ensured our offices were COVID-safe and 
introduced a desk booking system for staff who needed 
to work in them.

About a quarter of our workforce are classed as 
essential workers and continued carrying out repairs, 
inspecting properties, maintaining health and safety 
on our estates and, during the year, returning to our 
construction sites. We furloughed 98 staff, bringing back 
83 as services returned to normal.

Staff adapted well to remote working, developing their 
digital skills, and our managers were able to adapt to 
the challenges of managing teams remotely, offering 
flexibility wherever possible. And, while there have been 
challenges – around social isolation, poor internet 
connection and feelings of disconnection, juggling home 
schooling and caring - we believe remote working hasn’t 
negatively impacted our culture, as shown by our high 
employee engagement scores.

We were also able to deliver most of our planned 
training, using virtual classrooms and other e-learning 
tools. Again, we’ve seen some benefits in this approach 
and gained useful insight, which will shape how staff 
learn in the future.

Engaging with staff
We’ve come together as an organisation throughout 
lockdown. Our private social media platform, Workplace 
by Facebook, enabled us to communicate openly with 
staff and helped to connect colleagues, support them 
and create a sense of community, in the absence of a 
physical working environment.

For example, #WeAreHyde, a group of 30 volunteers 
from across the business, came up with many wellbeing 
ideas during the pandemic, from lunchtime yoga and 
sharing photos (#MeAt20, #MeAtSchool) and healthy 
lunch recipes, to our #LiveLounge, where we discovered 
how many talented musicians work for us.

We wanted to keep staff informed of government advice 
in a timely and engaging way. Our former CEO, Peter 
Denton, recorded videos straight after press briefings, 
so colleagues could watch that evening if they wanted 
to, or first thing the next morning. This also ensured 
messages were delivered from colleagues to customers 
appropriately, for example via our website or by letter, 
so customers would know how their services would be 
impacted. Peter also held a monthly CEO briefing and 
Q&A session, with up to 85% of staff tuning in.

The essential 
role of our staff

Social sustainability Social sustainability: The essential role of our staff

Maintaining staff wellbeing
We spoke regularly with our employees to understand 
their concerns, running two surveys covering working 
from an office and wellbeing. Our sickness levels reached 
an all-time low, at five days per person, and voluntary 
turnover also reduced to 7.4%.

We built on our strong - and award-winning - wellbeing 
offer to support staff during the lockdowns, through our 
employee assistance programme and our stress and 
financial wellbeing guidance, as well as by developing new 
approaches. These ranged from resilience workshops 
early in the first lockdown and ‘Wellbeing Wednesday’ 
webinars (running from November 2020 to February 2021), 
to a corporate subscription to the Headspace meditation 
and mindfulness app and a new online GP service. Our 
wellbeing survey in June 2020 revealed that 91% of staff 
thought their manager cared about their wellbeing with 
90% saying the same in March 2021.

The Junior Board
Our Junior Board, set up in March 2020, saw some of 
Hyde’s younger talent develop initiatives to help raise staff 
morale and to support our future culture strategy:

• The Hyde Home Marathon: This week-long exercise 
challenge encouraged staff to rack up miles and 
help raise £5,000 for four foodbanks.

• The Hyde Festive Calendar: Ten days of activities on 
our intranet, Hyve and Workplace were designed to 
get people in the holiday spirit. Each day a different 
member of the Junior Board presented an activity, 
from photo challenges and quizzes, to encouraging 
staff to share holiday traditions.

• Attracting and retaining younger staff: The Junior 
Board suggested a number of recruitment initiatives, 
some of which are being progressed, including 
providing more sustainable offices and using social 
media to engage with younger people.

• Increasing staff volunteering: The Junior Board 
developed a range of ideas to increase the number 
of staff using their volunteering leave allocation.

Award-winning staff  
communications during COVID-19
Our Communications team was named ‘Best in-house 
internal communications team’ in the CovidComms 
Awards in 2020, beating household names including 
DHL, Lloyds Banking Group and Santander. The award 
recognised our response to the crisis, keeping staff 
productivity and morale high, which was essential, to 
ensure we continued to deliver services to our customers.

Shaping our people and  
culture commitment to 2025
During the year we’ve put together our people and culture 
commitment, building on our already strong culture that 
makes Hyde a great place to work. Our objectives are to:

• Redefine how and where people work
• Ensure we have the right structure and skills now, 

and in the future
• Give leaders and managers the skills to lead our 

evolving business
• Build a diverse workforce at every level of Hyde
• Be more inclusive, listening to and valuing staff, and 

being fair and transparent.
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How and where we work in the future
During 2020/21, we engaged a workplace consultancy to help us think about the design of our offices and future 
ways of working. Engaging staff through workshops and a survey was central to this approach, and the feedback was 
remarkably consistent across all levels of staff:

• 77% of employees enjoyed working from working from home and 93% of managers believed their team 
performance improved or at least stayed the same

• 63% of staff missed social interaction with colleagues and, for this reason, just 16% said they’d prefer to work 
from home all the time

• 87% said the pandemic changed how they wanted to work, with the vast majority looking for a blended approach 
to working from home and in the office.

We trialled a new approach to how and where we work from June 2021, introducing a blended approach to where 
people work from as we respond to employee feedback for more flexibility. We’ll harness the positives from the 
last year but we will also expect everyone to work from an office at least two days a week, to regain the sense of 
community and collaboration that defines us.

Diversity and inclusion
Diversity and inclusion is an important part of our culture. It’s about understanding, respecting and valuing 
differences between people, whether they are our staff, customers or other stakeholders. We all bring different 
experiences and perspectives and we encourage these to be voiced and shared. This underpins Hyde’s strong culture 
and makes us a stronger team, enabling better decision-making and creating better solutions for our customers.
We’ve always been committed to building a more 
diverse and inclusive workforce that reflects the 
communities in which we work. Following the murder 
of George Floyd and the increasing prominence of the 
Black Lives Matter movement, we’ve been thinking 
and talking more about diversity and inclusion at Hyde 
this year. Staff from ethnic minority backgrounds 
were invited to join a series of externally-facilitated 
conversations to gauge how they were feeling in 
general and to gain insight about what it’s like to be 
an ethnic minority employee at Hyde - 105 people 
(32% of our ethnic minority staff) took part. Further 
conversations were open to anyone who wanted to talk 
about diversity and inclusion.

Following this, a small group came together to design 
our first ever diversity and inclusion survey, which ran in 
October 2020. There were many positive things to take 
from the survey. For example, 84% of respondents said 
Hyde was an inclusive organisation.

However, areas for improvement were highlighted. These 
included the level of ethnic diversity and, to a lesser 
extent, gender diversity, at senior levels; some concerns 
around recruitment practices and internal mobility; and 
some historical instances of discrimination. Staff also 
told us that more training was needed and, in response, 
we launched an ‘Inclusive Leadership’ programme 
for all senior leaders and a ‘Let’s talk about inclusion’ 
programme for people managers.

Diversity and Inclusion group
We set up a Diversity and Inclusion group to work 
with the Executive Leadership Team and Board on 
our diversity agenda. The group will also support our 
continuing diversity and inclusion journey and will act 
as a staff voice. We also have four staff networks, each 
sponsored by a member of ELT:

• Pryde, the LGBTQI+ network, held a successful 
LGBTQ+ History month in February 2021, including 
virtual movie nights and podcasts where staff 
discussed issues and shared their personal stories

• Don’t Dis My Ability, the disabled staff network, 
organised a neurodiversity awareness raising 
campaign

• Aspire, our women’s network, held two  
successful events including an International 
Women’s Day celebration

• The BAME staff network was launched in March 
2021, with a week of speakers, staff stories and 
endorsements, including one from Baroness 
Doreen Lawrence.

 

Social sustainability: The essential role of our staffSocial sustainability: The essential role of our staff

“While Hyde is a large organisation, I feel  
that virtual meetings and updates on 
Workplace has brought us together more  
as a family - Hyde doesn’t feel that big 
anymore - in a good way!”

“A lot of us were sceptical about working 
from home, more than the odd day here 
and there, but we now realise we don’t 
all have to be together all the time to 
work effectively. There’s most definitely a 
balance - and no-one wants to go back to 
commuting five days a week.”
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Gender pay gap

Social sustainability: The essential role of our staffSocial sustainability: The essential role of our staff

We have several activities focusing on closing the gender and ethnicity pay gaps:

• Our equality and diversity online training 
• We ensure all senior recruitment shortlists contain 

a mix of male and female candidates and that they 
are as ethnically diverse as possible 

• We monitor starting salaries and salary increases 
for any emerging trends or bias

• We monitor who joins our talent programmes to 
ensure there is no unconscious bias 

• We continue to prioritise talent programme 
opportunities for women and ethnic minorities 
employees identified in the wider talent pool

• We use our women’s network, Hyde Aspire, to 
encourage women to develop their careers.

Our diversity and inclusion aims:

• To make decisions that consider the diverse needs 
of staff and customers

• To ensure the ethnic and gender diversity of 
our leadership group represents the whole 
organisation, and to introduce KPIs to help focus 
on enhancing the ethnic and gender representation 
of our managers and senior leaders

• To ensure our workforce age demographic is more 
in line with the UK’s wider working population

• To develop managers’ ability to create  
inclusive teams

• To keep diversity and inclusion high on the 
agenda, which includes celebrating activities and 
events such as Black History Month, Pride and 
International Women’s Day.

While it isn’t mandatory to measure the ethnicity pay gap, 
we’ve been doing so since 2018, to identify and address 
any issues. While ethnic minority employees make up 
29.5% of our staff (2019/20: 29%), only 9.6% of Heads 
of Service, Directors and Executive Leadership Team are 
ethnic minority (2019/20: 10%). While this increased by 
1.8% in 2021/21, lower ethnic minority representation at 
more senior levels is a key factor in our mean ethnicity 
pay gap increasing from 15.7% in 2019/20 to 16.6% in 
2020/21 and the median increasing from 5.5% to 6.5%. 
We’re committed to supporting ethnic minority staff in 
developing their careers - 24% of promotions in 2020/21 
were staff from ethnic minority groups. According to the 
latest figures from the Office of National Statistics, the 
median ethnicity pay gap among all employees in the UK 
(in terms of hourly pay) was 2.3% in 2019.

Mean gender pay gap

Median gender pay gap

14.1% (10.1%)

5.5% (2.6%)

Ethnic minority employees - 29% (29%)

Ethnic minority senior staff - 8.6% (6.8%)

16.6% (15.7%)

6.5% (5.5%)

Mean ethnicity pay gap

Median ethnicity pay gap

Ethnicity pay gap

According to the latest figures from the Office of National Statistics, the median gender pay gap among all UK 
employees was 16.6% in April 2021. Female employees make up 55.3% of our workforce (2019/20: 55%). We 
continue to have a gender pay gap; our analysis indicates this is not the result of men and women being paid 
differently for the same or equivalent work, but is due to a lower proportion of women at more senior levels (41.4% 
in 2020/21 compared with 43.3% in 2019/20). We’re committed to supporting female staff in developing their 
careers - 63% of promotions in 2020/21 were women. Our mean gender pay gap increased from 10.1% in 2019/20 
to 14.1% in 2020/21, with the median gender pay gap increasing by 2.9% to 5.5%. This was due, in part, to a fall in 
the number of women holding senior positions.

Our gender and ethnicity pay gaps
As an equal opportunities employer, we value the diversity of our staff but we know that there is more to do. By law 
we have to monitor our gender pay gap and we choose to publish our ethnicity pay gap as well.

Figures in brackets refer to 2019/20.

Target percentage of  
ethnic minority senior leaders

March 2021 actual 9.6%

March 2022 target 11%

March 2025 target 29.2%

Target percentage of  
female leaders

March 2021 actual 41.1%

March 2022 target 42.5%

March 2025 target 55.2%

Target percentage of ethnic minority  
middle and first line managers

March 2021 actual 21.4%

March 2022 target 23.2%

March 2025 target 29.2%

Our key diversity targets 2022-2025
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Environmental  
sustainability
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Providing safe, 
decent and 
energy-efficient 
homes

Environmental sustainability

Sustainable housing, and the wellbeing of our customers and their communities, are directly linked. The same 
goes for having safe, energy efficient buildings and maintaining a financially healthy organisation. Customers 
benefit from improved comfort, less risk of mould and damp, lower home repair costs, better respiratory health 
and their children do better at school. And, because energy efficient homes produce fewer carbon emissions, they 
can help address climate change.
We’ve set ourselves targets for our environmental 
performance, based on climate stability, resource 
security and healthy ecosystems. Within those,  

we have set additional targets, including energy efficiency 
for our existing and new homes, protecting homes from 
floods and protecting biodiversity in our developments.

PeterboroughPeterborough

LondonLondon

CambridgeCambridgeNorthamptonNorthampton

Milton KeynesMilton Keynes

SouthamptonSouthampton
PortsmouthPortsmouth BrightonBrighton

ChichesterChichester

PetersfieldPetersfield

DoverDover

CanterburyCanterburyMaidstoneMaidstone

RochesterRochester

BrentBrent

IslingtonIslington

LewishamLewisham

CroydonCroydon

DartfordDartford

CrawleyCrawley

OxfordOxford

BirminghamBirmingham

General needs and affordable rent 
31,612 (31,581)
Primarily for individuals and families unable to rent 
or buy at a market value

Shared ownership 
4,042 (3,962)
Customers purchase a share in the equity of their 
home and pay rent to us on the remainder

Supported housing and older people schemes 
2,821 (2,944)
Primarily for those with additional needs 
 

Other social housing 
1,029 (1,033)
Including intermediate rent, leasehold and 
management schemes providing temporary 
accommodation and rent to buy tenures

Leaseholder and freeholder management 
9,144 (8,694)
Properties and homes owned by individuals on our 
developments and to whom we provide services

Non-social rental units 
73 (73)
Available for individuals who can afford to rent at 
market levels

Contract management 7,759 (6,999)
Homes we manage on behalf of others (included in the above, based on tenure)

Homes by tenure type 2020/21 (2019/20 shown in brackets)

Total homes 
48,721 (48,287)

Our homes
Our mission is to provide more people with a roof over their head, so that they can make a home. To do this, we 
need to provide homes that span customers’ lives, via a range of tenures.
We had 48,721 (2019/20: 48,287) homes in ownership and management on 31 March 2021.
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Managing our homes 

We’re immensely proud of, and grateful for, the commitment of our property services team, who continued to 
provide an almost ‘business as usual’ maintenance and repairs service to customers during the lockdowns. Even 
where customers were self-isolating or shielding, we were able to provide emergency and essential services, such 
as gas boiler inspections and servicing, thanks to strict processes designed to put safety first.
This meant we were able to carry out 91% of expected repairs during lockdown. And, despite these challenging 
circumstances, we only had a small backlog of work at year end, with customer satisfaction with responsive repairs 
remaining high, at 83% (2019/20: 84%).

We also delivered a large stock investment programme, including cyclical decorations, replacing bathrooms, kitchens, 
windows and doors, installing new roofs and carrying out electrical and ‘business as usual’ fire safety works, to 5,500 
buildings. This benefited more than 31,000 homes, despite disruption caused by COVID-19.

Driving digital transformation in property services
One of the three workstreams of our Digital Programme (p31) is TotalMobile Connect, which will bring all our property 
information into one system. This will improve our repairs and maintenance services, and empower customers, by 
allowing them to have more control over the services they receive. We’ll be able to see all our data in one place, so we 
can make better decisions, have less reliance on our contractors and ensure we get the best value for money.

The cloud-based system will link data for maintenance, safer homes compliance and asset management, with a 
focus on the servicing, repair or replacement of items that make up a property, including work carried out by our 
contractors. We expect to implement the system by the end of 2021.

TotalMobile Connect will also allow us to introduce more services like Track My Engineer, which allows customers 
who have booked a repair to see where the engineer is, add appointments to their calendars on their phones and 
rearrange appointments if they need to. Customers can also message the engineer directly if, for example, they have 
to go out for a few minutes or are delayed getting home.

Stock condition surveys
We carried out the latest phase of stock condition surveys in 2020/21, checking the age and condition of key 
elements in 5,100 homes, to help us understand the overall condition of homes and blocks. We carry out surveys 
on a five-year rolling basis. Data, which includes energy ratings of buildings, is used to plan repairs and our future 
investment programme and surveys also help ensure our homes continue to meet the Decent Homes Standard and 
the Human Habitation Act. We re-procured the stock condition surveying contract this year, with our consultant 
providing enhanced services, while continuing to deliver value for money.

satisfaction with
83%

responsive repairs 
satisfaction with
89%
gas repairs 

satisfaction with
89%

stock investment

cost per home

£1,642
Maintenance 
and major repair

Environmental sustainability: Managing our homes

£29.1m  
stock investment

48,721
homes managed Decent Homes 

compliance

100% 

of expected repairs  
demand delivered  

during the pandemic

91% 1,407 
homes

(new kitchens, bathrooms, 
doors and windows)

Improvements to

(2019/20: 100%)

(2019/20: 85.1%)

(2019/20: 1,891)(2019/20: £1,762)

(2019/20: 48,287) (2019/20: £34.0m)

(2019/20: 84.5%)(2019/20: 84%)
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New contracts to deliver improvements to homes
We re-procured our stock investment contracts in 2020/21, which will improve customers’ homes and save an 
estimated £2m a year, over the next five years.

Alongside Engie Regeneration (kitchens and bathrooms) and Anglian Building Products (windows and doors), 
which have retained their contracts, we have three new contractors: AD Construction (major internal and external 
works), Breyer Group (roofing) and Ian Williams (cyclical decorations). Customers were involved in the procurement 
process, to help us understand what they valued from these services, and helped score contractors on customer 
satisfaction and their customer liaison proposals.

Social value was a key factor in selection and has been written into the contracts. Contractors will each donate 
a minimum of £61,000 over the next five years and combined, they will offer at least 41 job opportunities, 12 
apprenticeships, 45 work placements, as well as 27 training days for our customers. Other activities include 
refurbishing 35 community centres and spaces, organising community events and 16 schools projects.

Setting up an in-house team to tackle long-running repair issues
Disrepairs - long-running repair issues - present a 
financial and reputational risk for social landlords, with 
solicitors encouraging customers to prevent access to 
their homes and to take legal action. Contractors are 
often reluctant (and charge a premium) to carry out this 
work as a result. 

We launched our in-house London Property 
Management team in April 2021. This followed a 
successful trial in 2020/21, using directly-employed 
staff from our Property Maintenance team to carry out 
disrepair work across the capital.

Bringing disrepair work in-house will gives us more 
control, so we can better-anticipate access issues and 
the multi-trade team can be easily redeployed on other 
jobs, such as voids work. This should mean we can 
complete work faster, save time and money, improve 
customer satisfaction and reduce the risk of litigation.

A portfolio approach to managing our homes 

A deeper understanding of the homes and other properties we own and manage ensures we provide homes that 
meet the needs of our customers, whatever their stage in life. Active management of our portfolio, based on 
customer demand, providing modern homes and selling those that no longer meet our standards, is a key pillar of 
our corporate strategy.
Selling homes allows us to recycle the charitable capital that we then use to make our homes safer, more energy 
efficient and decent for customers. It funds new homes, in line with ‘Project 1.5’: our commitment to build 1.5 
homes for each one we sell. It also allows us to identify land we already own to build new homes, instead of only 
relying on greenfield sites.

Continually improving our homes
When a customer leaves their home, we assess that home to ensure it will continue to provide a decent and safe 
living environment for someone else. Our Asset Intelligence Model (AIM) compares our homes against robust 
criteria (including energy efficiency, property type, location and long term financial viability) which determines 
whether we keep hold of an empty home and re-let it, or sell it.

We typically refurbish empty homes before selling them, so they provide a decent home for people who need them 
and to maximise the charitable capital we can recover, to reinvest. Local authorities are our largest buyer of empty 
homes, because it’s a great way for them to re-house people currently living in temporary accommodation. We sold 
146 empty homes in 2020/21, generating a surplus of £28.3m.

An innovative approach to re-house families 
living in temporary accommodation
In March 2021, we sold 50 refurbished homes in 
Bromley, south east London, to Beehive Affordable 
Homes. The homes will be rented by the London 
Borough of Bromley to house families currently living in 
temporary accommodation. The innovative tri-party deal 
was funded by Macquarie Asset Management and gives 
the council the option to buy the homes for £1 at the 
end of the agreement.

Transferring homes to deliver better services 
for customers and provide more homes
Ensuring customers receive the best possible services 
is an important driver when considering selling homes 
to other housing providers. Some of our homes are 
outside our key operational areas, making sense to 
transfer them to an organisation that can provide a 
great level of customer service, while ensuring homes 
stay affordable. In July 2020, we transferred 53 homes 
and a community centre in Northampton to Greatwell 
Homes, a local housing association looking to grow in 
the region, generating proceeds of £3.5m.

Environmental sustainability: Managing our homes
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A strategic approach to making the most of our assets
Building homes on land we already own (so we don’t have to buy more land) and improving the safety and energy-
efficiency of our existing homes, are two of the most critical elements in our long term strategy to provide customers 
with the right homes, in the right places.

Over the past few years we’ve been gaining a deep understanding of the land and homes we own and manage in 
every local authority area in which we operate, so we can develop long-term strategic asset management plans. We’re 
working with our local authority partners, customers and other stakeholders to ensure money from sales is reinvested 
in the area to improve homes and build new ones meeting the needs of local people.

This year, we continued to work with Chichester District Council to develop a detailed plan for the first five years of 
our 30-year strategy for our 7,868 homes in the area. We’re developing similar strategies in the London Boroughs 
of Lambeth, Lewisham and Greenwich, and plan to roll the approach out to more local authority areas over the next 
five years.

Ensuring sheltered and supported customers receive the best possible services
Our sheltered and supported housing provides safe, secure and decent homes for some of our most vulnerable 
customers and it’s crucial they receive the best possible services and support. That’s why we commissioned a 
review of our sheltered and supported homes in 2020/21, to put together our future plans. This may include new 
partnerships with sheltered and supported housing operators or transferring homes to providers that can better 
support customers.

Keeping our customers safe in their homes

Our priority is, and always has been, the safety of our customers. It’s been a tough, frustrating and worrying 
year for many people, leaseholders in particular. Further changes to Government guidelines on building safety 
have, unfortunately, led to more confusion and delays in addressing safety improvements and in obtaining EWS1 
forms, which are increasingly required by lenders when people want to buy, sell or re-mortgage their homes.
Throughout this crisis, we’ve continued to work hard  
to address safety issues identified in our buildings and 
to keep customers safe. We spent £12.6m on fire safety 

in 2020/21 and since 2017, we’ve spent £63.7m. This 
has included removing cladding at 11 of our blocks 
since the Grenfell fire.

Environmental sustainability: A portfolio approach to managing our homes

Fire Risk Assessments 
carried out in 2020/21

988
(2019/20: 1,648)

total spent on fire safety 
work since 2017/18

£63.7m
(2019/20: £51.1m)

£12.6m 
spent on fire safety 

work in 2020/21
(2019/20: £20.2m)

(2019/20: 9 of the 11 buildings)

11of our buildings taller 
than 18m with unsafe 
cladding have had that 
cladding replaced 

All
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Our strategic, risk-based approach to fire safety
We carried out 988 Fire Risk Assessments (FRAs) this year (2019/20: 1,648), including Type 1 FRAs, which are 
visual inspections, as well as Type 4 FRAs, which are detailed intrusive inspections that can include inspections of 
the external wall system.

FRAs are carried out on a one-, two- or three-year cycle, depending on the nature of the building, to ensure there are 
adequate layers of protection against fire. Significantly more FRAs were carried out in 2019/20 than this year, as we 
brought forward FRAs of hundreds of buildings, as a result of increasing assessment frequency across our stock.

FRAs set out the actions we must carry out (within a set time), to improve a building’s safety. As the owner and 
manager of almost 50,000 properties, we carry out thousands of FRA actions each year.

This year, we introduced RiskHub, a new cloud-based FRA action tracker system, which replaces a number of 
different systems we used previously, making us more efficient at addressing actions. The impact was significant: 
in April 2020 there were more than 2,000 overdue FRA actions but by October 2020 there were none. At year end, we 
still had no overdue actions and our FRAs were 60 days ahead of programme.

The scale of the fire safety issue and its impact
Since the Grenfell fire in 2017 we’ve taken a strategic, risk-based approach to improving building safety, first 
carrying out Type 4 intrusive fire risk assessments of 86 of our 115 tallest blocks more than 18m (six or seven 
storeys) high. We investigated internal compartmentation of these buildings and the cladding systems, as well as 
external wall systems.

We consider a Type 4 FRA, which looks at all levels of protection in a building (not just the cladding) provides a 
more comprehensive view of fire safety than an EWS1 (External Wall System) assessment and demonstrates a 
building is safe. These assessments invariably uncover issues (which can include anything from a missing fire exit 
sign, right up to unsafe cladding) and we act to rectify these. This year, we carried out Type 4 FRAs and external 
wall system inspections at two blocks in Brighton (Temple House and Embankment House) and across all the 
buildings on the Packington estate in Islington.

The draft Fire Safety Bill and draft Building Safety Bill, both of which are due to be completed during 2021/22, and 
look likely to require us to carry out Type 4 FRAs and intrusive external wall inspections on buildings below 18m, 
potentially resulting in further remedial works.

We own and manage about 2,000 blocks that are four storeys and above but lower than 18m high. We estimate 
having to spend a further £100m on Type 4 FRAs and external wall inspections, and remedial works to these 
buildings – including cladding and compartmentation issues – over the next 10 years.

However, this estimate doesn’t include 3,000 buildings that are three storeys and lower. If we have to carry out 
intrusive fire risk assessments on these, we may have to spend more. These estimated costs also don’t include 
replacing timber decking on balconies.

Paying for building safety work
We must follow the rules about how we use our charitable funds. This means that, while we won’t ask customers to 
pay for anything until we’ve exhausted all other options, we may have to pass some of the fire and building safety 
costs on to them. Under the terms of their leases, leaseholders are responsible for contributing financially to the 
cost of any remedial work to their building. 

We hope to obtain grant funding where possible and to recover money from our developers mutually or via legal 
action, where we can, to offset these costs. To date, we’ve recovered £12.9m through the courts and from the 
Government’s Building Safety Fund.

Spending an estimated £100m on fire safety, as well as improving the energy efficiency of our existing homes, will 
inevitably hit our development programme. It will be extremely challenging for us to pay for any more fire safety 
work for our leaseholders, while building more homes for people on the lowest incomes.

Our position on EWS1 forms
The EWS1 form is produced by an external wall surveyor, following an EWS1 survey on buildings more than 
18m high. Some lenders are now requiring an EWS1 form on buildings, regardless of height, before they’ll offer 
mortgages to home buyers, allow leaseholders to re-mortgage or allow shared owners to ‘staircase’ (increase how 
much of their home they own).

However, the EWS1 form is not a legal requirement. Despite some lenders insisting on an EWS1 form, building owners 
are not legally-obliged to provide one. This is a condition being imposed by lenders, based on Government advice. 
We consider EWS1 to be a ‘purist’ approach which doesn’t take account of the Hackitt Review recommendations on 
layers of fire protection. We consider Type 4 FRA to be a much better tool, as it considers all layers of fire protection.

We do carry out external wall system inspections as part of Type 4 FRAs but these are not the same as EWS1 surveys, 
so don’t result in an EWS1 form. We carry out EWS1 surveys once remedial works are finished and on new build 
developments. However, we won’t be carrying out EWS1 surveys on buildings below 18m, unless legislation changes.

Additionally, lenders will only accept an EWS1 form from an approved EWS1 assessor. Demand for EWS1 forms 
is very high and there are fewer than 300 qualified assessors in the UK, which is leading to delays of months, 
and potentially years. We’re procuring a new framework of EWS surveyors and expect to be in a position to start 
commissioning EWS1 surveys from July 2021.
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Lobbying Government and lenders
We’re very concerned about the effect this situation is 
having on customers. We recognise this is a national 
crisis that’s largely out of our control and which can 
only be resolved by the Government and lenders.

We’re taking an active supporting role in trying to 
resolve this situation. Through the G15, we’re lobbying 
Government, RICS and lenders. We chair the G15 
Building Safety Group, attended by Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government, and support the 
National Housing Federation’s lobbying of Government. 
We’re also working hard to explain to lenders that an 
EWS1 form is an advisory document and there are other 
ways (such as fire risk assessments) that demonstrate 
buildings are safe.

Communicating with customers
We received more than 2,500 enquiries from customers 
about EWS1, cladding and building safety between 
January and March 2021. While we have endeavoured 
to answer customers’ questions where we can, we 
accept that our communication on the complex and 
rapidly-changing issue has fallen short at times. We’ve 
worked hard this year to build customers’ confidence 
and trust, through regular communications, virtual 
meetings and a dedicated building safety area on our 
website. This includes regular updates on individual 
buildings and estates, plus the answers to customer’s 
most frequently asked questions.

Preparing for new building safety legislation
Our Safer Homes 2 programme, launched in early 2021, 
aims to demonstrate to customers and the new Building 
Safety Regulator that we’re proactively managing both 
fire and other structural risks, so we can minimise the 
risk of major incidents and improve customer safety 
further, in accordance with the upcoming Fire Safety 
Act and Building Safety Bill.

This will include having building safety cases (making 
building safety data available to everyone who needs 
it) and building safety managers for some of our tallest 
buildings. We’re planning a number of pilot programmes 
across our estates in the early part of 2021/22. These 
will look at the role of the building safety manager; 
assess our policies and procedures relating to new 
build homes; and to look at how we’ll work with 
customers, so they understand their responsibilities, as 
well as our own.

Building information will need to be stored using 
a ‘golden thread’ of data. As part of our Digital 
Programme, we aim to have a new database providing 
us with ‘one version of the truth’, to provide a baseline 
for measuring compliance (covering lifts, electrical, 
legionella, fire risk assessments, fire servicing, gas and 
asbestos); and to develop an assurance reporting tool, 
eventually linked to other data, giving us a complete 
picture of all our properties.

Starting out on our journey to net zero

Achieving net zero carbon emissions is one of the biggest challenges, and opportunities, facing the built environment. 
Housing associations own and manage about 17% of the UK’s housing stock, or about five million homes, so the 
retrofit of homes, along with a sustainable approach to building new ones, will be a massive task.
This is one of the best ways of helping to improve the health and financial wellbeing of our customers and to help the 
UK transition to a low-carbon economy. This is a significant long-term challenge, one that needs action now.
Our Energy and Sustainability Strategy sets out how we will improve our energy and environmental performance from 
2020 to 2022. We’ve identified six priorities to help improve customers’ lives, their homes and communities. Over the 
next two years, we’ll be developing detailed plans and processes to ensure we can meet these, as part of our ESG 
impact strategy.

• Energy and carbon reduction: Reducing carbon 
emissions from our homes, landlord electricity 
supplies, heat networks, offices and transport will 
drive significant improvements to customer health 
and financial wellbeing, by reducing fuel poverty, 
lowering energy bills and improving living conditions

• Reducing water use: Reducing the water 
consumption of our homes and offices will help 
reduce customers’ bills, address water stress and 
reduce our operational costs

• Climate change – protecting customers from 
floods and overheating: Designing and building 
our homes to be more resilient to extreme weather, 
such as heatwaves and flooding, will improve 
the physical, mental and financial wellbeing of 
customers, while protecting our assets

• Protecting ecology and green space: Incorporating 
and managing green infrastructure (private gardens, 
street trees and green roofs) in our developments 
and estates will encourage biodiversity and support 
climate change adaptation of our homes

• Protecting air, land and water: Actively managing 
the risks to the environment from building, 
refurbishing and operating our buildings will help us 
avoid accidental damage to ecosystems or pollution 
to air, land and water

• Efficient use of natural resources: Reducing waste 
in the construction and refurbishment of homes 
will protect natural resources and reduce embodied 
carbon emissions.

Environmental sustainability: Keeping our customers safe in their homes
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The Greener Futures Partnership – a joint 
effort to meet the sustainability challenges  
of social housing
We must truly collaborate, if we are to tackle 
sustainability issues effectively and at scale.  
The Greener Futures Partnership, launched at the 
beginning of April 2021, signals the beginning of our 
commitment to join forces and resources with others 
in the sector to support the UK’s shift towards a zero 
carbon future, to help the environment and improve the 
lives of millions of people.

The Greener Futures Partnership is our collaboration 
with Abri, Anchor Hanover, Home Group and Sanctuary 
Group, that aims to improve the sustainability and energy 
efficiency of homes, helping to reduce fuel poverty and 
improve living conditions for millions of people.

The GFP partners have a combined turnover of £2.3bn, 
provide 300,000 homes for more than 600,000 people 
and expect to spend £7bn on delivering energy-efficient 
homes by 2030. This means we have significant 
influence in driving changes in the sector, for the benefit 
of customers, their communities and society as a whole.

Our main focus, initially, will be to engage with key 
stakeholders and to consult with customers. We have 
unique and invaluable insight into the hundreds of 
thousands of people living in our homes, which means 
we can inform and educate on low carbon solutions 
and encourage customers to adopt and embrace new 
technology and lifestyle changes, laying the foundations 
for more sustainable living.

Customers’ views and preferences must be understood. 
Residents and communities will be consulted with and 
they will be involved in designing solutions, which aim to 
reduce fuel poverty and improve living conditions from 
the outset. 

Our first actions will be to agree shared standards 
and pathways for property types, building insight 
into customer views and preferences, and sharing 
insight with the wider sector. This includes sharing our 
understanding of fuel poverty and deprivation levels 
across geography and stock types, along with property 
datasets and analysis.

Over time, the partners intend to work together to 
procure services, build skills and create jobs, and 
develop solutions that enable them and the wider sector 
to build more affordable and sustainable homes, while 
maintaining homes so they are safe and secure for 
customers.

Improving the energy efficiency of our homes
One of the most effective ways we have of reducing our 
carbon emissions, while helping to reduce customers’ 
bills, addressing fuel poverty and improving their living 
environment, is to improve the energy efficiency of our 
homes. About 19,000 (66%) of our general needs homes 
achieve band C or above (2019: 64%). The average UK 
home is mid-band D. The Government has set a target 
for all existing homes to reach an Energy Performance 
Certificate (EPC) band C by 2035. 

Our aim is for all our EPC rated D, E, F and G homes to 
either be improved to EPC band C or we’ll replace them 
with modern, energy efficient homes. We estimate it 
costs between £13,000 and £25,000 to bring an energy-
inefficient home up to an EPC rating of C.

We’ll take a fabric-first approach, making improvements 
to insulation, windows and doors in existing homes and 
incorporating this philosophy in the homes we build, 
to reduce heating demand. We’ll also invest in new 
technologies, such as renewable heating systems, solar 
panels and battery technology.

Developing a complete understanding of what 
net zero means for us and our customers
The ‘Hyde Pathway’ aims to give us a complete 
understanding of what net zero means for us and our 
customers, across all of our activities and operations – 
from new homes through to our existing stock, and how 
we run our business. The pathway gives us a clear view 
of what the challenges are, and the choices we have to 
meet them. 

The actions we take must be based on real evidence 
and analysis, so we can make the right choices at the 
right time for our customers and ourselves. This year, we 
measured our operational carbon footprint for the first 
time. We now have energy performance data for more 
than 90% of our general needs homes (about 70% of our 
entire stock), which are responsible for more than 90% of 
our carbon emissions.

The pathway also identifies a number of financing 
options that could unlock funding, such as the 
forthcoming Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund, 
for both retrofitting existing stock and building energy-
efficient new homes.
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We had another strong financial performance this year, delivering a healthy surplus and maintaining a robust balance 
sheet and a sector-leading funding position. Our core financial strength has enabled us to grow and sustain our 
business, even through the short term COVID-19 challenges, and will continue to do so in the medium and longer 
term, so we can meet the ambitions of our 2050 Strategic Plan.
Our financial strength is also acknowledged in both of our credit ratings: S&P recently upgraded us to A+ (stable 
outlook) and Fitch upgraded us to A+ (stable outlook).

Income and expenditure analysis for the last five years (before break costs, fair value 
adjustments and derivative movements)
We achieved a £87.8m surplus this year, which was ahead of budget and a significant achievement, in the light of risks 
and uncertainties caused by COVID-19 and our continuing investment in building safety. Although, in comparative 
terms, this is lower than 2019/20, this is primarily as a result of the one-off strategic asset disposal proceeds received in 
2019/20. The table reconciles our surplus by internal activity to the total reported statutory surplus.

2016/17
£m

2017/18
£m

2018/19
£m

2019/20
£m

2020/21
£m

Core operating business

Operating income 261.3 265.5 272.2 265.6 272.6

Operating costs (184.3) (181.5) (173.5) (181.1) (187.3)

Core operating surplus 77.0 84.1 98.7 84.6 85.4

Margin 29.5% 31.7% 36.3% 31.8% 31.3%

Building safety works      

Fire costs                  -   (11.8) (19.1) (20.2) (12.7)

Fire recovery                  -                    -   2.3 - 12.9

Net fire costs - (11.8) (16.8) (20.2) 0.3

Development      

Development sales 54.4 74.0 175.7 98.7 79.8

Development operating cost                  -                    -   (3.3) (3.1) (2.1)

Development cost of sale (39.4) (51.5) (138.0) (87.0) (67.4)

Development surplus 14.9 22.6 34.4 8.6 10.3

Margin 27.5% 30.5% 19.6% 8.7% 12.9%

Joint Ventures (JV)      

JV income 24.8                  -   74.7 44.0 21.9

JV operating cost -                  -                    -   (1.8) (2.0)

JV cost of sales (19.6)                  -   (61.0) (28.8) (18.2)

Share of JV surplus 5.3 - 13.7 13.5 1.6

Margin 21.2% - 18.3% 30.6% 7.5%

Total surplus from sales 20.2 22.6 48.1 22.1 11.9

Margin 25.5% 30.5% 19.2% 15.5% 11.7%

Disposals      

Disposal receipts 138.5 146.3 167.2 237.1           139.7 

Disposal costs (74.5) (80.1) (113.5) (122.6) (98.0) 

Disposal surplus 64.0 66.2 53.7 114.6 41.7

Operating cost adjustments - - - (25.5)                  -   

Total operating surplus 161.2 161.0 183.7 175.5 139.3

Net financing costs (68.4) (70.2) (65.7) (59.9) (51.8)

Other financing costs (0.2) (0.6) (0.4) (0.4) 0.2

Underlying surplus before break costs, fair value adjustments and tax 92.6 90.3 117.7 115.1 87.8

We report on our business by activity, distinguishing between our core operating business, our building safety works 
programme, development and joint venture sales, and disposal proceeds.
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Delivering 
strong financial 
performance

Financial sustainability

60   |   Consolidated report and financial statements | 31 March 2021 Consolidated report and financial statements | 31 March 2021   |   61 



Our core operating income increased to £272.6m, excluding recovery of fire safety costs. This compared to £265.6m 
in 2019/20, incorporating increased rents (in line with regulation) and service charges.

Before capitalisation, we spent £71.7m (2019/20: £74.9m) on responsive, planned and major repairs to our 
properties this year as we continue to proactively invest in, and maintain, our homes. We also spent, across 
social housing tenures, leaseholders and freeholders, £43.4m (2019/20: £35.8m) on property management 
costs and £30.0m (2019/20: £29.9m) on service charge costs, as well as recognising £37.2m (2019/20: £37.0m) 
depreciation charge on our properties.

Fire safety
We’ve spent £63.8m on fire safety since the Grenfell fire in 2017 and we continue to invest in improving safety 
standards, keeping customers safe in their homes.

We expensed £12.7m on fire safety in 2020/21 as part of our ongoing Safer Homes programme. The building safety 
programme will continue for future years as required.

We also successfully recovered historic fire safety costs of £12.9m from Government grants and through legal 
recoveries from contractors. We’ll continue to seek cost recovery and grant funding, to offset the cost to Hyde and our 
customers as much as possible.
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Our core operating surplus of £85.4m delivered a 31.3% margin and demonstrates the financial resilience of our core 
business, and our continued strong performance over the last five years.

Net proceeds from development sales, including joint ventures, were £11.9m (2019/20: £22.1m). The proceeds 
and margins achieved were lower than the previous year, due to the timing of when new development schemes 
were due to be completed, but exceeded our forecast for the year because of stronger market conditions and 
further stimulation provided by the stamp duty holiday.

We raised net proceeds of £41.7m from disposals in 2020/21. As expected, this was significantly lower than the 
previous year (2019/20: £114.6m), when we carried out the last of our large strategic disposals to rationalise our 
asset base. Disposals proceeds in 2020/21 were generated from our ongoing void disposal programme, staircasing 
of properties and Right to Buy sales, as well as from the transfer of properties to the M&G Shared Ownership Fund. 
These proceeds are reinvested to create more new homes that are safe, decent and energy-efficient.

Net financing costs in 2020/21 (before the impact of derivatives) reduced to £51.8m (2019/20: £59.5m), as we 
continued to see the benefits from refinancing over the last three years. This included the successful refinancing of 
our Haven bond and redemption of our L&G loan during the year. As a result, our Weighted Average Cost of Capital 
(WACC) has reduced by more than 40% over the past four years, from 5.5% in 2016/17 to 3.2%.

Core operating business
Our core operating business generated a surplus of £85.4m, which was consistent with the previous year’s 
performance. The operating margin of 31.3% in 2020/21 is in line with our strategic target of 30%.
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Five year summary statement of comprehensive income
The following table shows our five year summary financial performance. Fluctuations are mainly driven by the 
phasing of our development and sales programme. Additionally, over the past few years, our treasury strategy has 
seen us simplify borrowings and reduce our cost of capital (for example, through the refinancing of our Haven bond 
this year). We incurred break costs of £154.9m in 2020/21 through refinancing transactions. These were undertaken 
to simplify our borrowings and reduce our cost of capital as part of our ongoing treasury strategy. The accounting 
(non-cash) gain from derivative instruments was £42.8m (2019/20: loss £30.3m), due to the reduction in fair value of 
the derivative liabilities. After these adjustments, there was an accounting loss for the year of £22.5m.

2017
£m

2018
£m

2019
£m

2020
£m

2021 
£m

Turnover  315.7  339.6  450.2  364.4  365.4 

Operating cost (223.7) (244.7) (333.9) (317.0) (269.4)

Surplus on fixed asset disposals  63.8  63.8  51.5  111.3  41.7 

Surplus on sale of investment property  0.2  2.4  2.2  3.3  -   

Share of surplus of joint ventures  5.3  -    13.7  13.5  2.2 

Overall operating surplus  161.3  161.1  183.7  175.5  139.3 

Net financing costs (68.4) (70.1) (65.7) (59.9) (51.8)

Other income/cost (0.2) (0.6) (0.3) (0.4)  0.2 

Underlying surplus before break costs, fair value adjustments and tax  92.7  90.4  117.7  115.2  87.7 

Break costs  -   (88.9) (6.8)  -   (154.9)

Fair value adjustments  5.7  0.4  3.5  0.5  1.9 

Surplus pre derivative financial instruments  98.4  1.9  114.4  115.7 (65.3)

Derivative Financial Instruments (36.8)  26.2 (4.2) (30.3)  42.8 

Surplus for the year before tax  61.6  28.1  110.2  85.4 (22.5)

Financial sustainability: Delivering strong financial performance

Development and joint venture sales proceeds
Net proceeds from development sales, including joint ventures, were £11.9m (2019/20: £22.1m), with 427 
completions during 2020/21. Due to phasing of development completions this was lower than the previous year 
(2019/20: 575), but exceeded our annual forecast.

Disposal proceeds
We generated net proceeds of £41.7m from property disposals this year (2019/20: £114.6m). This was lower than the 
previous year, when we completed our major stock rationalisation, to ensure we concentrate the homes we own in our 
core operational areas.

These proceeds were:

• £27.6m surplus was generated through our ongoing programme to dispose of properties as they become 
void, and if they’re both inefficient for us to manage and expensive for our customers to live in. Despite longer 
conveyancing times because of COVID-19, this surplus was higher than budget. Proceeds will be re-invested into 
new affordable housing, as well as existing homes.

• £8.4m surplus was generated from net staircasing receipts, reflecting a strong year for staircasing, with 156 
completions (2019/20: £8.7m surplus, 166 completions). Of these, 113 homeowners staircased to own 100% 
equity in their home and 43 staircased to own an average of 62% equity. The average equity purchase was 42%.

Number of completions 
2020

Net surplus £m 
2020

 
2020

Number of completions 
2021

Net surplus £m 
2021

 
2021

First tranche sales  145 2.5 11.3%  107 1.8 15.0%

Outright sales  281 6.1 27.6%  210 8 66.7%

Total joint venture sales  149 13.5 61.1%  110 2.1 18.3%

Total sales  575  22.1  427  11.9 

Number of completions 
2020

Net surplus £m 
2020

Number of completions 
2021

Net surplus £m 
2021

Void disposals and stock transfers  717 101.5 562 35.1

Staircasing  166 8.7 156 8.4

Right to Buy/Right to Acquire 17 1.1 10 0.8

Property cost write offs  - -  n/a (2.6)

Total housing fixed asset disposals  900 111.3 728 41.9 

Investment property disposals  3 3.3  - -

Total disposals  903 114.6 728 41.9

Financial sustainability: Delivering strong financial performance
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As explained on p65, we’ve incurred break costs in recent years as part of our ongoing treasury strategy to simplify 
our borrowings and reduce our cost of capital.

Housing properties, net of depreciation, decreased by £32.9m in 2020/21, with disposals of £79.9m (2019/20: 
£80.6m) to support our strategic disposal plan, offset by investments of £114.2m (2019/20: £218.6m) in our existing 
homes and new developments.

Total assets, less current liabilities, increased by £32.3m to £3.48bn in 2020/21, continuing the upward trend of the 
last five years.

Statement of financial position
Net assets and reserves have increased by £225.1m over the last five years, even after investing £250.6m break 
costs. Our reserves are used to support reinvestment into our business and to meet the ambitions of our long term 
strategic plan.

2017
£m

2018
£m

2019
£m

2020
£m

2021 
£m

Housing properties net of depreciation  2,895.4  2,954.4  2,948.4  3,042.9  3,008.0 

Long term assets  136.5  159.6  136.7  134.6 136.6 

Fixed assets net of depreciation  3,031.9  3,114.0  3,085.1  3,177.5  3,144.6 

Net current assets  129.3  219.1  331.4  266.6  331.7 

Total assets less current liabilities  3,161.2  3,333.1  3,416.5  3,444.1  3,476.3 

Grant (1,085.3) (1,083.1) (1,095.2) (1,110.2) (1,118.0)

Long term loans (1,307.4) (1,593.1) (1,576.2) (1,491.8) (1,595.6)

Other long term creditors (413.9) (261.3) (240.7) (233.0) (183.2)

Net Assets  354.6  395.6  504.4  609.1  579.7 

Reserves  354.6  395.6  504.4  609.1  579.7 

Break costs  -   (88.9) (6.8)  -   (154.9)
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Gearing
Our gearing of 47.7% (2019/20: 44.6%) remains low and relatively consistent, given the strength of our asset base 
that’s conservatively valued at historic cost, rather than its much higher market value. Net drawn debt increased in the 
year by £77.5m to £1.5bn.

In addition to our gearing metrics and, as , detailed in the Funding metrics section (p76), we report on our interest 
cover – core EBITDA MRI (using adjusted operating surplus) as a % of interest, as an internal KPI. This was 162.5% 
(2019/20: 120.1%), which is above our internally set target for the year of 150.3%.
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Liquidity
We’ve deliberately increased our available liquidity from about £300m to more than £900m over the last five years, 
providing significant financial resilience against the heightened uncertainties we’ve faced, thereby safeguarding our 
long-term viability, even under the most extreme economic stress testing scenarios.
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Capital structure and 30-year financial plan
Our 2021-25 financial plan demonstrates our strong and sustainable financial position. Our ambitions for at least 
the next five years are fully-funded by our existing resources, without the need for additional borrowing.

With the current levels of global uncertainty, the financial plan includes a set of cautious and well-considered 
assumptions and risk mitigations to ensure we maintain a prudent level of financial resilience, even under a 
considerable level of economic stress. Covenant compliance and liquidity are at the forefront of the plan, with 
stringent tests to ensure we can pass our covenants with sufficient long-term liquidity in place, even under a very 
severe adverse scenario.

We have a transparent, diversified and sustainable set of funding sources underpinning our strong balance sheet 
position. This includes secured bonds, revolving credit facilities, term loans and private placements. Where 
possible, we’ve sought to minimise refinancing risk and, given the long term nature of our housing assets, we 
have a strong preference for longer-dated facilities to provide the Group with funding certainty across its five year 
planning horizon and beyond.

We had £2,384.0m (2019/20: £2,223.9m) in loan 
facilities at the end of this year, of which £769.7m 
(2019/20: £700.1m) is undrawn. Including cash, we had 
£907.6m (2019/20: £828.9m) of available liquidity at 
31 March 2021. This is a deliberate risk mitigation; we 
emerged from Brexit and entered the COVID-19 crisis 
in a very strong position and have demonstrated our 
continuing sustainability throughout the year. We’re able 
to withstand significant pressures, as well as having 
the ability to respond quickly to any market movements 
or opportunities. Our current available debt financing 
is sufficient to cover at least the next five years of our 
development programme.

Our financial covenants are based on our standardised 
‘common terms’ interest cover and gearing tests, which 
have been adopted by all our key bank lenders. Interest 
cover is calculated based on an adjusted operating 
surplus measure, and gearing is based on the historical 
costs of assets divided by debt.

Our scenario modelling and stress testing has 
demonstrated that our business model is robust and 
sustainable and we would remain covenant-compliant, 
with appropriate mitigations, even under a very severe 
economic situations. Further details of our stress tests 
are provided in our viability statement in this report,  
and our going concern disclosures in note 1 to the 
financial statements.

Since 2017, our treasury strategy has focused on 
refinancing and reducing interest rates on our long term 
debt. We issued a 35-year £400m bond (which included 
a £50m retained element) at a coupon of 1.75%, in 
August 2020.

Maturity profile for  
total loan facilities 

2020 
£m

2020 
%

2021 
£m

2021 
%

Less than 1 year  16.8 0.8%  43.2 1.8%

Between 1 and 2 years  59.8 2.7%  100.3 4.2%

Between 2 and 3 years  109.0 4.9%  232.0 9.7%

Between 3 and 5 years  264.9 11.9%  305.6 12.8%

More than 5 years  1,773.3 79.7%  1,703.0 71.4%

Total  2,223.9 100.0%  2,384.0 100.0%

Drawn and undrawn debt 2020 
£m

2020 
%

2021 
£m

2021 
%

Loan balance  1,523.8 68.5%  1,614.3 67.7%

Undrawn  700.1 31.5%  769.7 32.3%

Debt facilities  2,223.9 100.0%  2,384.0 100.0%

Liquidity 2020 
£m

2020 
%

2021 
£m

2021 
%

Undrawn  700.1 84.5%  769.7 84.8%

Unrestricted cash  128.8 15.5%  137.9 15.2%

Total  828.9 100.0%  907.6 100.0%

Borrowing profile 2020 
£m

2020 
%

2021 
£m

2021 
%

Fixed  1,270.1 84.2%  1,399.7 87.6%

Variable  238.6 15.8%  199.0 12.4%

Total  1,508.6 100.0%  1,598.7 100.0%

Weighted life (years) 15.3 18.1  

WACC 4.27% 3.18%

Financial sustainability: Delivering strong financial performance

Use of reserves
We have a total investment of £3.3bn in housing property and inventory (less depreciation and impairment), of 
which only 45% (2019/20: 43%) was funded through debt in 2020/21, with the rest financed primarily from grants 
and reserves.

2020 
£m

2020 
Funding % 

2021 
£m

2021 
Funding%

Housing net book value plus inventory less depreciation and impairment  3,254.7 100%  3,215.6 100%

Financed by:  

Loans (net of cash)  1,373.7 42%  1,451.9 45%

Grant  1,110.2 34%  1,118.0 35%

Reserves  609.0 19%  579.7 18%

Other  161.7 5%  66.1 2%

Cash flow (£m) 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Cash flow from operating activities 104.6 177.7 262.2 345.8 237.8

Cash flow from investing activities (116.1) (153.4) (55.3) (143.2) (60.4)

Cash flow from financing activities (31.4) 11.6 (176.1) (163.7) (165.1)

Net change in cash (42.8) 36.0 30.7 38.9 12.3

Cash flow

Financial sustainability: Delivering strong financial performance

The increase in cash flows from operating activities of £237.8m was a result of a strong cash generation from 
operating activities, which includes property sales comprising first tranche and staircasing shared ownership, 
strategic asset disposal including right to buy, and open market sales. See notes 3 and 7 for further details. 

Cash outflows from investing activities of £60.4m is driven by our construction and acquisition of housing 
properties of £79.7m, offset by social housing grants received of £24.2m. This delivered 570 new homes, in 
addition to the homes delivered by our joint venture partners. 

Cash outflows from financing activities of £165.1m was aligned with our plans to reduce and simplify the debt held 
by the Group and further reducing our Weighted Average Cost of Capital from 4.27% in 2020 to 3.18% in 2021 (p70). 
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Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC)
Some of our new funds were put towards resetting the interest rates on a total of £38m fixed rate loans, which 
are now floating rate. The bond proceeds were also used to redeem our more expensive fixed rate L&G and Haven 
borrowings. This has helped to bring our average interest rate down by 42% to 3.18%, from 5.52% four years ago, 
and will reduce our cost of funding, further increasing our ability to service our debt and further strengthening our 
covenant compliance.

Financial sustainability: Delivering strong financial performance

Weighted Average Cost of Capital 
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Financial sustainability: Value for money

Business change, projects and governance
We redesigned project and programme governance, 
creating a Change Board, with representatives from 
across the business. This has greatly improved 
collaboration and cooperation and provides more robust 
governance and financial scrutiny.

The Change Board reviewed and supported six cases 
for change, seven business cases and three change 
requests, overseeing nearly £5.5m of spend, all of which 
relates to improvements to the way we work and deliver 
services. These include:

• A new-integrated, cloud-based finance system, 
Workday, that will automate many processes, avoid 
duplication of effort and reduce errors. This will 
free-up the Finance team to focus on adding value 
by supporting the business, rather than spending 
time on administrative tasks

• Our Digital Programme (p31), which will see us 
transform our customer services and the way we 
manage data.

Both of these programmes will deliver financial benefits 
over the next five years, but will start to bring benefits to 
our ways of working from 2021/22.

Continuous Improvement
This year we began a programme to embed skills 
throughout Hyde, ensuring we continue to our journey 
to becoming a truly customer-driven organisation. This 
included:

• Training 40 staff in Lean Six Sigma and change 
management techniques, allowing teams to 
address local process issues and waste

• Launching a new process excellence approach 
which is improving process ownership, 
measurement, management, documentation and 
control across the business.

Efficiencies and small changes have a big impact
We undertook an extensive review of all our operational 
costs this year, identifying a list of initiatives that could 
deliver cost savings or efficiencies. These initiatives 
were incorporated into an efficiency programme that will 
be delivered in 2021/22 and in subsequent years, with a 
target of £11m of benefits in 2021/22.

‘Every penny matters’ is our campaign to encourage 
staff to suggest money-saving ideas that will help us 
to get the best value out of everything we do. Nearly 40 
ideas were submitted which we’re currently assessing. 
These include changing inefficient processes, reviewing 
spending and looking at cheaper options when we need 
to buy something.

Procurement
We identified contract life savings of £3.7m through 
40 procurement projects in 2020/21. These included 
asbestos surveying, external audits, trade materials, car 
park management and utilities.

Other large tenders included procuring our new finance 
system, creating a framework of qualified financial 
advisory firms, re-procuring our internal audit provider, 
and procuring solutions for our Digital Programme.

We also raised £125,000 through selling our 
procurement frameworks, mainly our development 
frameworks, but also by collaborating with external 
partners in managing and promoting 90 of our other 
procurement frameworks.

VFM initiatives delivered in 2020/21

We began several initiatives this year, to help ensure we continue to change and evolve, and that we deliver a 
continuously improving service for our customers, underpinned by an efficient and effective organisation. We’ve 
embedded formal change management processes to better ensure our change programmes make a substantial 
difference, with improved support for all staff.

How we monitor VFM performance
• The Group Board is responsible for VFM and ensures our approach is strategic, comprehensive and 

appropriate
• The Group Housing Services Board oversees housing service delivery, including our performance against 

budget and delivery of key performance indicators
• The Group Investment Committee oversees investment, including new developments, considering their 

financial value, return on investment and affordability
• The Group Treasury Committee oversees treasury management, including ensuring our financing delivers 

appropriate funding for our long term assets
• The Group Audit Committee oversees risk and internal control, ensuring robust stewardship of our resources 

and timely risk management
• The Asset Management Approval Panel considers the best use of our existing assets, including the strategic 

disposal of some and major investment in others
• The Scheme Approval Panel evaluates all new development proposals
• Customer Voice monitors customers’ experience of our services.

Delivering value for money

Value for money

We ensure value for money (VFM) is at the heart of everything we do. VFM forms a key element of our 2050 Strategic 
Plan: by being more efficient, we can create more value that will enable us to build more of the right homes, in the 
right places, that are safe, decent and energy efficient, and deliver high levels of service to our customers.

We track our VFM performance through a range of financial, operational and strategic metrics, as well as metrics 
required by the Regulator for Social Housing. Progress is monitored monthly, using a balanced scorecard approach. 
To ensure VFM for our customers, and to ensure compliance and continuous improvement, we also carry out an 
annual assessment against:

• Regulatory standards
• The Sector scorecard, comparing our performance against other housing providers
• Internal key performance targets, with a range of key financial and non-financial performance indicators, 

covering all aspects of our organisation.

Measuring value for money
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The reinvestment KPI measures expenditure on our properties, including work to existing homes and building new 
ones, as a percentage of the value of total we hold at cost. Our reinvestment for the year, at 2.9%, is lower than the 
previous year (2019/20: 7.4%). This is driven by reduced development spend in the year, aligned with our development 
programme, coupled with the impact of COVID-19 in the early part of the year. We’ll continue with this commitment in 
future years, as set out in our recently-approved stock investment business plan. 

As well as business as usual fire safety maintenance, since Grenfell, we’ve introduced our Building Safety 
Programme, and have invested significant additional amounts every year following the tragedy. During 2020/21 
we spent £12.6m on fire safety costs, including waking watch costs. To ensure we minimise the impact of these 
costs, both on the organisation and on our customers, and to adhere to our charitable status, we seek to recover 
costs from contractors and apply for grant funding where possible. In 2020/21, we successfully obtained funding 
of £12.9m from grants and legal recoveries against historic costs.

Our occupancy rate for the year was 99.5% (2019/20: 99.5%), with a four-year high in the number of properties 
that became empty and were re-let, despite the coronavirus pandemic. This shows the success of our strategy 
of increasing customer mobility, giving more customers the opportunity to find new homes, even during the 
lockdowns, when void works and re-letting took longer than usual. Our aim is to re-let homes that become empty as 
quickly as possible to those who need one.

Return on Capital Employed (ROCE) compares the operating surplus to total assets, less current liabilities, and 
indicates the efficient investment of our capital. Our ROCE reduced to 4.1% in 2020/21 (2019/20: 5.1%), because 
of lower disposals this year, compared with 2019/20, and a resulting lower operating surplus. However ROCE still 
remains significantly higher than the median G15 performance of 2.6%. 

Our ratio of responsive repairs to planned repairs increased to 56.4% this year (2019/20: 48.5%), due to the short 
term impact of COVID-19, which meant that some planned works will be carried over to 2021/22.

Asset management metrics

KPI source Metric Actual  
2020/21

Target
2020/21

Actual  
2019/20

G15 median 
performance 

2019/20

Regulator Reinvestment in existing stock and new supply 2.9% 4.3% 7.4% 6.0%

Sector scorecard Occupancy - voids 99.5% 99.5% 99.5% 98.7%

Regulator Return on Capital Employed 4.1% 4.0% 5.1% 2.6%

Sector scorecard Ratio of responsive repairs to planned maintenance 56.4% 50.1% 48.5% 50.0%

Financial sustainability: Value for money

Our overall customer service satisfaction score showed a small increase for the third year in a row, closing at 83.8%  
for the year. In what was a challenging year for everyone, after the early pandemic response we returned to full (COVID-
safe) services by the summer of 2020 and continued this through the remainder of the financial year.

This included all our customer involvement activities, including resident scrutiny of services. We adapted to working 
virtually and continued with improvement initiatives, for example training more than 700 employees on our ‘I am Hyde’ 
tone of voice. We continued to deliver our customer strategy, commissioning research and, subsequently, delivery of 
our digital transformation programme, focused on empowering our customers (p31). 

We also continued to invest in communities through Hyde Foundation (p32). During 2020/21, we significantly 
increased investment in local communities and individual grants for our customers in response to the pandemic. We 
secured commitments of £0.7m for Hyde Charitable Trust (HCT), Hyde Foundation and our community partners in the 
year, which was more than double our original target. We also developed the Hyde Foundation Strategic Plan and ESG 
framework which will enable us to measure the impact.

Customer metrics

KPI source Metric Actual  
2020/21

Target
2020/21

Actual  
2019/20

G15 median 
performance 

2019/20

Sector scorecard Customer satisfaction with Hyde services 83.8% 83.0% 82.9% 78.5%

Sector scorecard Investment in communities £3.1m £3.0m £2.3m £2.0m

Financial sustainability: Value for money

Operating margin shows how efficient our business is overall. Our core operating margin (excluding profit from 
development sales and fire safety costs) was slightly above our target for the year. This reflects our aim to maintain 
a minimum core operating margin of 30% and demonstrates the financial strength of our core business. We achieved 
this despite additional costs in some areas such as IT, where we continue to invest in our digital infrastructure and 
customer services.

Our overall operating margin increased to 26.3% from 13.0% in 2019/20, primarily due to the one-off costs we took 
in the previous year relating to COVID-19 (impairment of housing properties, impairment of inventory and increase of 
bad debt provisions). Again, this reflects the core financial strength of our operating business and demonstrates our 
ability to withstand unprecedented costs.

Overhead costs as a percentage of turnover reduced to 9.5% (10.9% 2019/20) because of increased efficiencies and 
tight control of support overheads.

KPI source Metric Actual  
2020/21

Target
2020/21

Actual  
2019/20

G15 median 
performance 

2019/20

Internal Core operating margin – excluding sales and fire safety 
works* and one-off** costs

31.3% 30.3% 31.8% No data

Regulator Operating margin 26.3% 24.6% 13.0% 20.0%

Regulator Operating margin – Social housing lettings 36.5% 27.1% 33.5% 36.5%

Sector scorecard Overheads as a % of turnover (excl fire safety recovery) 9.5% 10.3% 10.9% 9.2%

*Fire safety works relate to investment in our properties outside normal business as usual activities and outside our standard asset management programme; 
specifically they relate to fire remediation works following Grenfell

**One-off costs relate to 2019/20 only, being COVID-19 related costs (exceptional impairment and bad debt provision)

Business health metrics
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Our headline social housing operating cost per home decreased to £3,951 (2019/20: £4,445), mainly due to a 
decrease in net project costs. Our performance remains significantly above the G15 median, as we continue to 
focus on value for money to support our core operating margin and to generate surpluses to invest in new and 
existing homes.

Property management costs increased to £1,325 per home (2019/20: £1,281), due to increased central costs 
(including further investment in new technology support and infrastructure and information governance, and 
closure of pension schemes).

Service charge costs increased slightly from £624 per home in 2019/20 to £630 per home in 2020/21, because of 
increased fire safety maintenance costs and cleaning costs, partly as a result of COVID-19. Responsive maintenance 
costs reduced to £1,074 per home (2019/20: £1,107), again as a result of the pandemic, which led to lower demand 
for responsive repairs and fewer cyclical maintenance projects. Major repairs costs reduced slightly to £610 per 
home (2019/20: £655), due to the phasing of the stock investment programme. 

Our income collection performance of 98.8%, while lower than the G15 median for 2019/20, was a reasonable 
performance, considering the financial challenges faced by our customers during the pandemic. It was more 
difficult to pursue overdue rent through legal enforcement. We mitigated some of the effects by encouraging 
customers to pay via our digital service, MyAccount, and trialling a visiting service to support customers.

Social housing lettings metrics

KPI source Metric Actual  
2020/21

Target
2020/21

Actual  
2019/20

G15 median 
performance 

2019/20

Regulator Headline social housing cost per home – Social housing activities £3,951 £4,035 £4,445 £5,034

Sector scorecard Property management cost per home – Social housing lettings £1,325 £1,348 £1,281 £1,322

Sector scorecard Service charge cost per home – Social housing lettings £630 £603m £624 £853

Sector scorecard Maintenance cost per home – Social housing lettings £1,074 £1,082 £1,107 £1,140

Sector scorecard Major repairs cost per home – Social housing lettings £610 £675 £655 £1,007

Sector scorecard Rent collected as a % of rent due 98.8% 99% 97.9% 99.5%

Gearing measures the level of net debt, compared with the carrying value of our housing properties. Gearing 
increased to 47.7% (2019/20: 44.7%), reflecting a £77m increase in the net debt level to £1.49bn and a £32m 
reduction in the value of our housing properties, to £3.01bn. Our gearing remains low, relatively consistent and in 
line with the G15 median. During the year, we issued a £400m bond, taking advantage of exceptionally low market 
rates, and redeemed higher fixed rate debt instruments, further reducing our net cost of debt and increasing 
interest cover. We also successfully set up a new partnership with M&G, transferring £60m of properties into a new 
shared ownership fund.

We have more than £907m of liquidity, in the form of undrawn facilities and cash available to support our future 
strategic ambitions, to facilitate our programme of debt refinancing and to further reduce cost of capital. Our 
properties are held at cost on the balance sheet and not current market value, which is significantly higher. 

Our interest cover ratios of 166.1% and 165.6% (2019/20: 59.8% and 120.1%) improved significantly this year, 
mainly because of lower interest payments resulting from the successful debt refinancing strategy we’ve 
undertaken over the last few years.

Additionally, one-off costs resulting from COVID-19 (impairment and increased bad debt provisions) incurred in 
2019/20 were not incurred in 2020/21, and fire safety costs were offset by successful recoveries against historic 
costs from contractors and Government funding. The EBITDA MRI % interest cover calculation excludes our share 
of surplus of joint ventures and housing asset sales, which both contribute to our overall sustainable surplus. 

Funding metrics

KPI source Metric Actual  
2020/21

Target
2020/21

Actual  
2019/20

G15 median 
performance 

2019/20

Regulator Gearing – Debt to asset ratio 47.7% 46.3% 44.7% 48.0%

Internal Interest Cover – core EBITDA MRI  
(using adjusted operating surplus) as a % of Interest 166.1% 150.3% 59.8% N/A

Regulator Interest cover - EBITDA MRI as a % of Interest 165.6% 163.9% 120.1% 104%
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The Board has undertaken an assessment of the future 
prospects of the Group over the next five years based on 
the approved Financial Plan. The Board has determined 
that a five-year period is appropriate to assess the 
viability of the Group as this is the focused cyclical 
period included within the Long-Term Financial Plan. 
The Financial Plan used for the viability assessment 
was reviewed and approved by the Board in June 2021. 
It has taken into consideration the impact of different 
strategic, operational and economic assumptions and 
factors. It also considers the impact of relevant risks and 
mitigation action available to the Group. The financial 
Plan is prepared with sufficient detail to allow the Board 
to assess the forecast liquidity position, covenant 
compliance and intercompany position. The five-year 
Financial Plan is fully funded with existing facilities and 
headroom of £333m. 

To assess the Group’s viability, scenario analysis was 
performed considering key factors that may adversely 
impact the viability of the Group. Based on the relevant 
risks impacting the Group, the scenarios applied included: 

• The Bank of England’s stress tests, with a focus on 
those most relevant to the Group using published 
indices such as including consumer prices, house 
prices and interest rates

• The Bank of England’s Disorderly Brexit Scenario, 
as these are considered the most relevant to the 
Group’s Financial Plan

• Other risks specific to the Financial Plan relating to 
sales, other income and building safety costs. 

Due to the Group’s healthy liquidity position, it can manage 
the potential risks under these different scenarios. 
Additionally, the Group has the ability to manage 
its operations in such a way as to control and defer 
significant parts of its cash outflows, whilst still meeting 
all contractual obligations. The ability to do this has 
further demonstrated that the Group can ensure long-term 
financial viability, in even the most adverse scenarios. 

The Board’s review of the five-year Financial Plan shows 
that we expect the Group to be financially viable over 
this period.

Viability statement

We completed 570 new homes in 2020/21: 38% of them for affordable rent, 36% for shared ownership and 26% for 
outright sale. This was lower than 2019/20, due to delays caused by COVID-19 and the planned completion dates 
of new properties; consequently we expect to hand over more homes in 2021/22, as we complete delayed projects 
alongside those originally planned to finish next year. We’ll have 23 active construction sites in 2021/22, compared 
with 20 in 2020/21, and expect this to grow in future years through our partnerships with private investors. By 2025, we 
aim to be building an average of 2,000 homes per year, comprised of homes owned by us and homes owned by others.

Many of the homes completed this year came from our established long term development projects, such as 
Stonebridge, Rochester Riverside and Harrow View East. Other projects represent the early phases of new long-term 
developments or smaller sites. These include sites such as Teynham, Peters Village, Christ’s Hospital, Cranleigh 
and Old Guildford Road. Work has now begun on larger Homes England Strategic Partnership and Greater London 
Authority sites and we expect to deliver more than 3,600 homes through these programmes by 2025.

Development metrics

KPI source Metric Actual  
2020/21

Target
2020/21

Actual  
2019/20

G15 median 
performance 

2019/20

Sector scorecard New supply delivered – Absolute 570 633 687 1,022

Sector scorecard New supply delivered – Absolute, social housing homes 425 480 204 680

Sector scorecard New supply delivered – Absolute, non-social housing homes 145 145 483 342

Sector scorecard New supply delivered – as a % of homes owned 1.7% 1.4% 2.0% n/a

Regulator New supply delivered – as a % of homes owned, social housing homes 1.2% 0.6% 0.6% 1.4%

Regulator New supply delivered – as a % of homes owned, non-social housing homes 0.2% 0.4% 1.2% 0.8%

Financial sustainability: Value for money
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Homes England partnership helps bring more 
affordable homes to Shoreham
We’re a strategic partner of Homes England. We’re 
receiving £95.4m in grant funding, enabling us to 
increase the number of homes we build. Under the 
current programme, we’ll build 1,623 homes; we’re also 
bidding for funding for about 3,000 more homes to start 
construction between 2021 and 2026.

One of the schemes that will benefit from this partnership 
is Kingston Wharf, our development of a former riverside 
industrial site in Shoreham-by-Sea, West Sussex, which 
was granted planning permission in July 2020. Homes 
England funding means all of the 255 homes will be 
affordable, for rent or for shared ownership. Plans include 
commercial space, a café and a gym.

Kingston Wharf is part of our ongoing commitment to work 
closely with Adur and Worthing Council to bring hundreds 
of affordable homes, and deliver real economic benefits, 
to the area. We completed another scheme in Shoreham 
harbour this year, the Waterfront, which provided 120 new 
homes for sale and shared ownership, as well as a riverside 
café and retail unit. We’re also seeking planning permission 
for the proposed redevelopment of Adur Civic Centre in 
Shoreham, to create 171 homes and commercial space in 
an improved public realm.

Working with the Greater London Authority to 
deliver more homes
We’re in partnership with the Greater London Authority 
(GLA), which is providing funding to support the delivery 
of 2,010 affordable homes. We are currently bidding for a 
further 1,476 homes in the 2021-26 programme. One of 
these projects is at Stafford Road in Waddon, in the London 
Borough of Croydon, where we’re building 126 affordable 
flats, maisonettes and townhouses with support from the 
GLA. Seventy of the homes will be available for shared 
ownership, with the rest for London Affordable Rent.

100% affordable Royal Docks development 
well underway
Store Road is part of the Royal Docks development in the 
London Borough of Newham. Located near the Woolwich 
ferry on the north side of the Thames, this 100% affordable 
scheme of 93 homes for London Affordable Rent and 70 
homes for shared ownership will offer fantastic views of 
the surrounding area, including the Thames Barrier, the O2 
and City Airport. The homes will comprise three houses 
and 160 flats in three blocks up to 14 storeys high, and are 
due to be complete by May 2023. 

Transformational development at Hyde 
Village, Islington
Our development in Surr Street, in Islington, is part of our 
long-running MORE (Maximising Our Resources Efficiently) 
programme. We transformed four garages on the Hyde 
Village Estate into 15 homes, nine of which will be 
available for London Affordable Rent and three for shared 
ownership, with the remaining three townhouses being 
sold on the open market to help fund the development, 
which is due to be handed over in 2021.

Creating a new community through major 
regeneration of Stonebridge
Our regeneration of the Stonebridge Estate was 
completed in September 2020, with the handover of 106 
homes for London Affordable Rent and 73 for shared 
ownership on the Helix site, near Harlesden Station. This 
major regeneration of the former London Borough of 
Brent housing estate began in 2004. It was delivered in 
partnership with our customer-led subsidiary, Hillside 
Housing Trust, and has provided 1,850 homes: 1,100 
for social rent, 100 for shared ownership and 650 for 
open market sale. A new community hub was also built, 
providing a new heath centre and community facility.

Financial sustainability: Enabling the delivery of more of the right homes, in the right places

Enabling the 
delivery of more 
of the right 
homes, in the 
right places

Financial sustainability

A key objective of our 2050 strategy is to provide more affordable homes for people that need them, in the places 
where they’re most needed. We’ll partner with others to build more than we could alone, and be a ‘catalyst’ for 
new homes. We use a diversified funding model incorporating grant, debt funding, partnerships, joint ventures 
and third-party investors. Our ambition is for the homes we build to be sector-leading in standards of safety, 
energy efficiency and sustainability.
We completed 651 new homes in 2020/21 (687: 
2019/20) with our strategic, joint venture, private 
capital and institutional investor partners (570 of these 
homes were delivered through direct use of our own 
resources). This was fewer than the year before, due to 
delays because of COVID-19. However, in 2020/21 we 
started work on sites that will eventually deliver 1,926 
new homes (2019/20: 1,042).

At the year end, just 107 homes (22 for outright 
sale and 85 for shared ownership) remained unsold 
(2019/20: 77 - 37 for outright sale and 40 for shared 
ownership. All of the homes unsold at year end had 
only been completed and made available for sale in the 
final quarter of the year.

homes due to be completed 
between 2021-26

6,8481,926
homes started

(2019/20: 1,042)

homes for 
shared 

ownership sold

171
(2019/20: 145)

homes  
for market  
sale sold

255
(2019/20: 401)

651
homes 

completed
(2019/20: 687)
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Working with our partners to create more homes

Providing hundreds of affordable  
homes in Brighton & Hove
We’ve acquired the sites to build 346 new homes at two 
sites in Brighton & Hove, that will help the city meet a 
growing demand for affordable housing. Half the homes 
will be available low social rents from Brighton & Hove 
City Council to people on the city’s joint housing register, 
with the rest available to buy for shared ownership 
through ourselves.

With house prices continuing to rise, it’s now harder 
than ever for local people working in Brighton & Hove 
to afford to live in the city. Social housing makes 
up only a small proportion of overall housing, with 
9% of homes owned by the local authority and 5.2% 
by housing associations. There are about 7,000 
households on the joint housing register, with 1,850 
in temporary accommodation, and there’s rising 
homelessness in the city.

The schemes, at Coldean Lane on the northern fringe of 
Brighton (near the University of Sussex), and on the site 
of the former Belgrave Centre in Portslade, to the west 
of the city, are the first of 1,000 homes we plan to build 
through Homes for Brighton & Hove, our joint venture 
partnership with Brighton & Hove City Council. The new 
homes at Coldean Lane and Portslade are due to be 
available from 2023.

Building a thriving community  
at Rochester Riverside
Rochester Riverside will eventually be a mixed tenure 
community of 1,400 homes, along with a new primary 
school, nursery, hotel, commercial units, parking, green 
open spaces and play areas.

We’re delivering this flagship regeneration scheme with 
Countryside, supported by Homes England and Medway 
Council. We’re making swift progress, with Phase 1 
finished, Phase 2 well underway and Phase 3 started. So 
far, 158 private homes are occupied and 59 affordable 
homes have been handed over to new residents. About 
60% of people working on the project are from the local 
area, demonstrating our commitment to sharing the 
economic benefits of the development across Medway.

Rochester Riverside was crowned the Winner of 
Winners at the Housing Design Awards in 2020, 
after also winning the Building for a Healthy Life 
Award, recognising the high-quality green open space 
incorporated into the design of the 131 homes in phase 
1B of the scheme, by architect BPTW.

Providing hundreds of homes in 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
Evera Homes, our ground-breaking partnership with 
three other housing associations: Longhurst Group, 
Cross Key Homes and Flagship Group, was set up 
with plans to build 2,100 homes over five years. Evera 
completed its first project his year, delivering 36 homes 
at De Haviland Gardens, near Huntingdon.

Evera Homes has now teamed up with housebuilder 
Vistry to form Littleport Developments, a joint venture 
building 680 homes and a new community centre in 
the village of Littleport, Cambridgeshire. A mix of flats, 
bungalows and houses will be built on a 28ha greenfield 
site. Of these, 40% will be affordable. Subject to 
planning consent, construction is due to start by the end 
of 2021, with the first homes available in late 2022.

Transforming the historic Kodak  
factory into a thriving community
We’re at the half-way stage of the first phases of the 
redevelopment of the former Kodak factory in Harrow, 
a major regeneration scheme we’re delivering in joint 
venture with Barratt London. Eastman Village will create 
a thriving new community of 2,000 homes, 40% of which 
will be affordable.

The first phases, due to be finished by May 2022, will 
deliver 284 homes for London Affordable Rent, 73 homes 
for shared ownership, 274 homes for private sale and 60 
homes for senior living. The site will also include shops 
and a landscaped park that will create a new green link 
in the heart of Harrow. The iconic chimney of the Kodak 
factory will be refurbished and incorporated into a new 
energy centre, serving the entire development.
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New partnership with M&G set to build 
thousands of new homes
In March 2021, we finalised our £0.5bn partnership with 
M&G Investments (M&G) with a pipeline of up to 2,000 
shared ownership homes.

We’ve been exploring co-investment partnerships with 
institutional investors over the past few years, as we 
believe this is a core way of supporting the development 
of new housing. We want to work with culturally-aligned 
partners looking to invest in ways that deliver social and 
environmental benefits, rather than those looking to turn 
a short-term profit, and M&G is one such organisation.

The first stage of the partnership saw M&G buy 422 of our 
shared ownership homes in London and Kent for £61m, 
to establish the M&G Shared Ownership Fund. An initial 
investment of more than £215m has been secured by 
the fund, from two local government pension schemes, 
Homes England, two of M&G’s client funds and ourselves.

Through capital raised through investors in the fund, 
£0.5bn will be allocated to enable M&G to commit in 
advance to buy the shared ownership homes we build. 
This reduces our risk exposure to the sales market and 
enables us to recycle capital more quickly to support 
further development.

The M&G Shared Ownership Fund was registered in 2020 
as a for-profit registered provider and must meet the 
same high standards expected by the Regulator of Social 
Housing. Homes will remain in the regulated social housing 
sector and we’ll continue to manage and maintain them for 
the long-term. Customers won’t see any changes to their 
shared ownership leases, rental arrangements or services.

Widening our local authority partnership offer
The third-party management service we’re providing 
for our partnership with M&G forms the foundation 
for working with other institutional investors. We’ll 
also offer this service to local authorities, as well as 
acting as development manager to procure and deliver 
affordable housing. Local authorities often struggle to 
deliver more homes due to a lack of resources and/or 
expertise; this approach will help them meet demand for 
much-needed housing.

Forming alliances
We’ll continue to work across the social housing sector 
to strengthen bonds with other registered providers, 
with the aim of driving improvement and innovation. For 
example, this year we signed an agreement with four 
other housing associations to form the Greener Futures 
Partnership to drive sustainable social housing (p56); 
and our partnership with three housing associations 
in the east of England, Evera Homes, began a major 
project to build hundreds of affordable homes in 
Cambridgeshire (p83).

We’ll also broaden our relationships with developers, 
to benefit from transactional opportunities and 
risk sharing. We work with developers who offer 
complementary skills, alongside capital, and that can 
help our drive to improve placemaking (as shown 
by our schemes with Barratt London in Harrow and 
Countryside in Rochester) and reduce the stigma 
surrounding social housing.

Financial sustainability: Developing long-term partnerships with stakeholders and investors

Developing long-term partnerships 
with stakeholders and investors

Like many housing associations, we face significant funding challenges to ensure our homes are safe and 
sustainable; to ensure we comply with fire and building safety legislation; and to meet the Government’s 
environmental targets. While we’ll improve customers’ lives as a result, we mustn’t allow development to stop 
when there is such a shortage of affordable homes.
If we don’t find new sources of funding, we simply won’t be able to develop homes at the same rate. This is one of 
the main reasons we want to work in partnership with others, such as local authorities, other housing associations 
and pension funds which share our values, to make best use of public and private capital. We must look at new 
ways of doing things – including whether we own homes or manage them on behalf of others.
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Business sustainability: Maintaining good governance

Maintaining 
good 
governance

Business sustainability

Our ESG strategy states our commitment to measuring governance performance in terms of transparency 
(providing information that is complete and informs), accountability to all stakeholders (from customers and staff, 
to investors, partners, the Regulator of Social Housing and Government) and in terms of engagement: making it 
easy for stakeholders to share their views with us and for them to trust we’ll respond to them.

We have adopted the National Housing Federation’s 2015 Code of Governance Excellence in governance as our 
code of governance. In May 2021, following a self-assessment, the Group Board certified its compliance with the 
code for the year.

The Group Board also reviewed the National Housing Federation new Code of Governance 2020 and adopted it from 
May 2021. After an informal review, the Board concluded that it is compliant with the new Code but there were areas 
to improve in reporting and best practice which will form the focus for the next year.

Good governance ensures effective decision-making and good risk management, keeping us aligned to our vision and 
mission, helping to meet our social purpose and reinforcing our reputation.

The Group Board

The Group  
Housing Services  

Board

The Group  
Audit  

Committee

The Group  
Treasury  

Committee

The Group  
Remuneration and 

Appointments 
Committee

The Group  
Investment 
Committee

The Group Board
The Group Board is our ultimate governing body, with 
up to ten non-executive directors and two executive 
directors. Board members (page 98) come from a 
range of professional and business backgrounds, 
giving us the best mix of skills and expertise and are 
paid for their time and involvement. The Board holds 
four formal business meetings each year and also 
meets to consider strategic issues. It delegates some 
responsibilities to five committees, each chaired by a 
non-executive member of the Board.

The Group Audit Committee
The Group Audit Committee (GAC) oversees internal 
and external audits, as well as our risk management 
framework and internal control framework. This ensures 
we have appropriate systems in place and that we 
comply with the Regulator of Social Housing’s standards 
and expectations.

GAC reviews the audited financial statements for 
all parts of the Group and recommends them to the 
relevant boards for approval. It’s responsible for 
recommending the appointment of internal and external 
auditors and for investigating any activity it thinks fit (or 
anything referred to it).

The Group Housing Services Board
The Group Housing Services Board (GHSB) scrutinises 
the performance of our core operations. It also identifies 
and mitigates statutory and regulatory risk (including 
health and safety) and people issues. GHSB gives the 
Group Board assurance that our operational performance 
is subject to effective non-executive oversight.

GHSB is the hub for our “common board” model of 
governance of our registered provider subsidiaries. 
GHSB members are also on the boards of Martlet 
Homes Limited, Hyde Southbank Homes Limited and 
Hillside Housing Trust Limited, so the boards can meet 
at the same time, if needed.

The Group Investment Committee
The Group Investment Committee (GIC) oversees and 
approves our property investment strategies, including 
acquisitions, capital expenditure, development, asset 
management and disposal. In particular, it scrutinises 
and approves our involvement and investment in large 
urban regeneration and renewal projects.

The Group Treasury Committee
The Group Treasury Committee (GTC) provides 
oversight of the Group’s corporate finance and treasury-
related activities and recommends, or endorses, actions 
and proposals to the Group Board or subsidiary boards 
for approval.

The Group Remuneration and  
Appointments Committee
The Group Remuneration and Appointments Committee 
(GRAC) is responsible for setting the remuneration of 
board members and of the Executive Leadership Team. 
GRAC oversees board member appraisals and reviews 
board member appointment, as well as overseeing 
recruitment of Executive Leadership Team members.

Executive Leadership Team
The Executive Leadership Team (ELT) is responsible 
for executing the strategies and plans agreed by the 
Group Board. ELT answers to the Group Board for our 
operational performance and takes remedial action 
where required. ELT meets monthly and additional 
meetings are held to consider strategic issues and 
oversight of change-related activities. No member of the 
ELT holds any interest in the Association’s shares and 
they act as executives within the authority delegated by 
the Group Board. The members of the ELT have a Group-
wide remit and their details are set out on p92.
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Group structure organogram

Key
Charitable entity

Holding and investment companies

Subsidiary non-regulated business (100% owned)

Subsidiary regulated business

Joint Ventures and Special Purpose Vehicles

Protecting our charitable reserves
We have a number of ways to protect our charitable reserves:

• Our registered provider subsidiaries focus on our 
affordable assets and customers as well as the 
direct funding of affordable development. These 
activities are overseen by GHSB. Our governance 
and policies help protect our affordable assets, 
while also using these to help develop and invest  
in opportunities

• Our commercial activities are carried out by 
distinct legal subsidiaries, to separate our 
regulated, publicly-funded and charitable activities 
from commercial risk. These are overseen by 
GIC. There are no guarantees from the Group’s 
charitable entities to the commercial subsidiaries

• Surpluses from residential development sales 
are typically used to offset the cost of building 
affordable homes. These commercial activities 
are typically funded from our own reserves, arm’s 
length pre-approved loans from the registered 
providers and third-party non-recourse finance

• GHSB oversees regulated activity and GIC 
oversees all commercial and property activities

• The exposure and level of risk is managed 
through a series of delegations. For GIC, this is 
via investment levels in the commercial entities 
and by the hurdle rates for development (which 
vary according to tenure). GIC refers any new or 
unusual schemes to the Group Board

• Joint ventures are usually entered into on a 
contractual basis, supplemented by JV-level  
formal governance

• We take independent professional advice 
regarding the regulatory and charity law aspects of 
any joint venture deals and on any liabilities

• Group Board, supported by GTC, approves any  
loans and charging of assets. It also has oversight  
of inter-company lending, liquidity and the 
development pipeline

• We stress test our financial plan every year,  
covering both Group and subsidiary covenants and 
liquidity need.

Partners for Improvement  
in Islington 1 & 2

PFI 10% equity stake HHA

Hyde 
Charitable Trust

100% HHA

Hyde Investment  
Leibniz Limited  

100% HIHL

Halesworth 
Limited 

100% HIHL

Hyde Investment 
HoldCo Limited (HIHL)

100% HHA

HHA Subsidiary  
Non-Regulated Business 

100% HHA

Hyde Southbank Homes

100% HHA

Hillside Housing Trust

100% HHA

Martlet Homes

100% HHA

HHA Subsidiary 
Regulated Business

100% HHA

Brent  
Co-Efficient

100% HHA

Hyde New Build  
Limited (HNBL)

100% HHA

Hyde  
Devco 2

100% HHA

Hyde Vale  
(HV)

100% HHA

Bilsham Road 
Developments LLP

99.9% HV, 0.1% HNBL

The Kent Home Building 
Partnership LLP

99.9% HV, 0.1% HNBL

London Home Building 
Partnership LLP

99.9% HV, 0.1% HNBL

Rochester Riverside 
Managing Agents

100% HHA

Special purpose vehicles

Evera Homes LLP

25% HV, 25% Flagship, 
25% Cross Keys, 
25% Longhurst 

One Preston Park LLP

87% HV,  
13% First Base

Packington Square LLP

50% HV, 
50% Rydon

Harrow View LLP

50% HV,  
50% Barratt

51 College Road LLP

50% HV,  
50% Barratt

Homes for the City of 
Brighton & Hove LLP (HCBH)

49.9% HHA, 0.1% HNBL, 
50% Brighton & Hove CC

DevManCo

Homes for the City of 
Brighton & Hove Design and 
Build Company 100% HCBH

Joint Ventures

Hyde Holdco  
Limited (HHL)

100% HHA

Hyde Devco 1
100% HHL

Hyde Manco
100% HHL

Hyde Devmanco
100% HHL

Hyde Housing  
Association Ltd (HHA)

Group Parent
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Board and advisers
The Board

Non Executives:
Alan Collett (Chair)
Elsie Akinsanya
David Banks
Lynn Gilbert
Paula Hay-Plumb  (retired 31 December 2020)
Duncan Ingram
Mike Kirk (Chair-Elect)  (appointed 7 April 2021)
Karen McElhatton  (appointed 1 August 2020)
Katherine Rodgers
James Wardlaw  (appointed 1 June 2020)
Piers White
Jan Durbridge (observer)

Executives:
Neal Ackcral (interim) (appointed 1 July 2021)
Peter Denton (resigned 30 June 2021)
Rod Holdsworth

Company Secretary

Zoe Ollerearnshaw

Registered Office

30 Park Street
London
SE1 9EQ
Tel: 020 3207 2600
www.hyde-housing.co.uk

Bank

National Westminster Bank Plc
143 High Street
Bromley
BR1 1JH

Solicitors

Devonshires
30 Finsbury Circus
London Wall
London
EC2M 7DT

Trowers and Hamlins
3 Bunhill Row
London
EC1Y 8YZ

Executive Leadership Team (ELT)

Neal Ackcral  Interim Group Chief Executive Officer  
   (appointed 1 July 2021) 
   Chief Property Officer  
   (until 30 June 2021) 

Mark Batchelor  Interim Chief Property Officer  
   (appointed 1 July 2021)   

Peter Denton  Group Chief Executive Officer  
   (resigned 30 June 2021)

Rod Holdsworth  Chief Finance and Resources Officer

Stephan Lavollee Chief Information and Data Officer

Guy Slocombe  Chief Investment Officer

Susan Stockwell Chief Customer Officer

Independent Auditors

BDO LLP
Chartered Accountants and 
Statutory Advisors
55 Baker Street
London
W1U 7EU

Internal Auditors

Beevers & Struthers LLP
15 Bunhill Road
London
EC1Y 8LP

How our Board operates

ACTIVITIES

Committee meetings

41
Board meetings, including 

sessions without the 
executive present, and 
additional meetings to 

address issues related to 
coronavirus

9
Annual assessment of 

governance effectiveness, 
review of compliance with 
NHF Code of Governance 

and Board member individual 
and collective appraisal

* Non-executive directors only

BOARD SIZE

2015 to date: 12 Board members 
including up to three co-optees

BOARD ACCOUNTABILITY TO STAKEHOLDERS

Regular liaison meetings 
with the sector’s regulator

Published annual review 
 
 

Annual meetings between 
non-executive directors and 
customer consultative body

DIVERSITY OF BACKGROUND*

Former senior  
partner of a professional 

practice 

Former or  
current senior executive 

directors

From ethnic 
minority background

 Female

100% 33%11%

Average age at 
31 March 2021

57
Younger than 60
66%

AGE DIVERSITY*HOW WE THINK ABOUT BOARD SUCCESSION PLANNING*

Term limits: policy maximum term 
nine years (appointed for one,  
three-year term, a further three-year 
term, followed by a maximum of 
three, one-year terms)

Annual Board appraisal  
and collective appraisal  
every three years

Achieving a balance of knowledge of 
the Group and fresh perspectives

In the past five years: we recruited 
five new board members following 
planned retirements and two new 
Board committee members; seven 
Non-Executive Board members have 
retired. We have plans to recruit three 
new board members in 2021/22

Tenure:  
Average: Four years nine months 
Longest: Eight years five months 
Shortest: seven months 
Four Board members have  
served for more than five years

11%

92   |   Consolidated report and financial statements | 31 March 2021 Consolidated report and financial statements | 31 March 2021   |   93 

http://www.hyde-housing.co.uk


Non-executive Board members and membership

Members
See pages 98 and 99

Oversees
Four quarterly meetings, plus extra 
meetings, usually by conference call as 
required; one meeting to consider and 
approve “year-end” related business; 
including audited accounts; two dates 
set aside each year for Board strategic 
discussions; annual governance 
effectiveness review and board 
appraisal; periodic meetings between the 
Group Chair and the Committee chairs.

Recent focus areas
 • Business continuity arrangements in 

response to COVID-19
 • Financial risks, impacts and mitigants 

arising from COVID-19
 • Approval of M&G partnership (p85) 

and establishment of ‘for profit’ 
registered providers

 • Board and committee member skills 
strategy

 • Approval of action plan to embed the 
new NHF Code of Governance 2020.

Members
Paula Hay-Plumb  
(retired 31 December 2020)
James Wardlaw 
(appointed 1 June 2020)
Piers White

Oversees
Internal and external audit, financial 
reporting, risk management, internal 
control and compliance. 

Recent focus areas
 • Reviewed assurance during COVID-19
 • Appointment of new committee Chair 
 • Appointment of new independent 

auditors and internal auditors
 • Ongoing assurance review of Safer 

Homes programme
 • Review of external audit process, to 

ensure continued improvement
 • Monitoring of actions taken to 

strengthen and test regulatory 
reporting arrangements

 • Improved reporting to collate recent 
developments, themes and trends 
relevant to the committee

 • Approval and monitoring of the 
internal audit programme.

Members 
Alan Collett
Katherine Rodgers
Piers White
Guy Slocombe (Executive)
Giles Clarke (Independent committee 
member - retired May 2021)
Antara Sundararajan  
(Independent committee member, 
appointed June 2021)
Rod Holdsworth (Executive)

Oversees
Approval of property investment 
strategies, including acquisitions, 
capital expenditure, development, asset 
management and disposal. Scrutiny 
and approval of our involvement and 
investment in large urban regeneration 
and renewal projects. Consideration of 
investments in strategic partnerships. 

Recent focus areas
 • Continued development of approach 

to portfolio management and 
associated strategies

 • Overview of strategic fixed asset 
disposals generated through the Asset 
Management Assessment Panel

 • Progression of strategic partnerships 
with Homes England and the Greater 
London Authority

 • Progression of multi-partner joint 
venture Evera Homes

 • Review of corporate structure and 
development delivery

 • Expansion of land-led development
 • Review and recommendation of 

institutional partner strategy.

Group Investment 
Committee (GIC)

Chair:  
Lynn Gilbert

Group Audit  
Committee (GAC) 
 
Chair:  
David Banks

Group Board 
 
Chair:  
Alan Collett 
Senior Independent 
Director: 
David Banks

Members
Piers White
Karen McElhatton 
(appointed 1 August 2020)
Neal Ackcral (Executive)
Susan Stockwell (Executive)
Asit Acharya (Independent committee 
member, appointed June 2021)
Ian Joynson (Independent committee 
member, appointed June 2021)
Jan Durbridge (Customer representative)
Stella Young (Customer representative)

Oversees
Operational performance, including 
corporate services, IT strategy, 
operational risk and major change 
programmes.

Recent focus areas
 • Operational response to the challenges 

presented by COVID-19
 • Income management during COVID-19
 • Complaints handling approach in 

response to the Housing Ombudsman 
Complaint Handling Code

 • Progress on the Digital Programme
 • Customer Involvement strategy
 • Energy and Sustainability strategy
 • Asset Management strategy
 • Building safety.

Members
Duncan Ingram
Alan Collett
Mike Kirk  
(appointed 7 April 2021)
Karen McElhatton  
(appointed 1 August 2020)
Paula Hay-Plumb  
(retired 31 December 2020) 

Oversees
Non-executive and executive 
remuneration; recruitment, appointment 
and member appraisal; senior leaders’ 
bonus scheme; CEO appointment and 
performance; and Board and executive 
succession planning.

Recent focus areas
 • Appraisal process for  

Non-Executive Directors
 • Recruitment and appointment of Chair 

Designate, committee members and 
Trustees for HCT

 • Succession planning for ELT and  
senior leadership roles

 • Succession planning and skills audits 
for non-executives

 • Appointment of Chief Information and 
Data Officer

 • Executive and non-executive 
remuneration 

 • Gender and ethnicity pay gap 
reporting, and diversity and  
inclusion reporting

 • People and culture strategy
 • Pension arrangements and provision.

Group Housing 
Services Board 
(GHSB)

Chair:  
Duncan Ingram 

Group Remuneration 
& Appointments 
Committee (GRAC)

Chair:  
Elsie Akinsanya

Members
Lynn Gilbert
David Banks
Rod Holdsworth (Executive)
James Wardlaw 

Oversees
The Group’s corporate finance 
and treasury-related activities and 
recommendations or endorsement of 
actions and proposals, to the Group 
Board or subsidiary boards for approval.

Recent focus areas
 • External and intra-group funding 

arrangements
 • Refinancing review
 • Treasury policy
 • Financial plan and stress testing
 • Security for borrowings
 • Treasury reporting and KPI monitoring.

Group Treasury 
Committee (GTC)

Chair:  
Piers White

Business sustainability: Board members and membership
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An active and engaged Board

In 2019/20, the Board:

Agreed interest rate restructuring programme

Monitored risks and operational plans for 
managing the impact of COVID-19

Approved an Investment Policy

Undertook independent appraisal of Board 
members and reviewed governance effectiveness

Approved a new corporate entity  
structure to protect social housing assets.

Recruited a new Board member

Agreed the appointment of a Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Finance and Resources Officer

Supported and endorsed the 2050 Strategic Plan

Agreed Wells Fargo and National Australia  
Bank should join strategic funding group

Achieved G1/V2 ratings from the  
Regulator of Social Housing

In 2020/21, the Board:

Recruited two new Board Members,  
and appointed a Board Chair-Elect

Supported and endorsed the  
Customer Strategy 2020-24

Agreed investment in M&G Shared 
Ownership Fund 

Agreed sale of shared  
ownership portfolio to M&G

Approved environmental, social and 
governance reporting framework

Agreed collaboration to join the  
Greener Futures Partnership

Monitored risks and operational plans  
for managing the impact of COVID-19

Conducted a board and committee skills audit  
to identify gaps for succession planning

Completed a diversity and inclusion  
audit of board members.
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Alan Collett (Chair)

Age: 70 

Board member since: 2012 

Alan is a non-executive director of M&G RPF GP (a residential property 
fund), and of Hearthstone Investment Management, and is an Honorary 
Fellow of the College of Estate Management. A Chartered Surveyor, he 
was President of the RICS for 2012/13, worked in private sector housing 
development investment management and valuation, and was Senior 
Partner of Allsop LLP.

Elsie Akinsanya

Age: 51 

Board member since: 2018

Elsie is a managing director and the Global Head of HR for the Treasury 
and Trade Solutions business at Citibank. Prior to this role, she was the 
Global Talent Manager for Citi’s Transaction Services High Potential 
Talent Programme. She is also an executive coach.

David Banks

Age: 65 

Board member since: 2017

David is a trustee of the Koestler Trust and of the Cheltenham Symphony 
Orchestra, and is a non-executive director and Chair of the Audit 
Committee at the Board of the Disclosure and Barring Service. He is a 
Chartered Accountant and, until 2011, was Group Managing Director 
of the Care and Justice businesses of G4S plc. David is Hyde’s Senior 
Independent Director.

Karen McElhatton

Age: 52

Board member since: 2020

Originally from New Zealand and educated at the University of Otago, 
where she studied Finance and Accounting, Karen is Chief Information 
Officer at Natura & Co, a non-executive director at CFL and a governor at 
Reed’s School. Previously, Karen held various global technology, digital 
and shared services leadership positions in consumer goods and retail.

Lynn Gilbert

Age: 57

Board member since: 2015

Lynn is a non-executive director of Rezide Registered Provider, a senior 
advisor of Rezide Group and a senior advisor of Qsix. Previously, Lynn 
was also a director and member of M&G Investment’s Investment 
Committee. Lynn has more than 30 years’ experience in banking and 
property, having led commercial mortgage activity at Barclays Capital 
and Morgan Stanley, and having worked on real estate debt funds at 
Renshaw Bay.

Duncan Ingram

Age: 65

Board member since: 2012

Duncan is Chair of the Children’s Trust, Vice Chair of the YMCA St 
Paul’s Group, a trustee and board member of the Personnel Committee 
and Chair of the Governance Committee at World Alliance of YMCA, 
and a governor and Estates Committee member of Kings College 
School in Wimbledon. Previously, Duncan was Managing Director of 
the Broadband and Customer Service divisions, and Group Director 
responsible for London at BT.

Board members’ experience

Mike Kirk (Chair Elect)

Age: 60

Board member since: 2021

Mike will become Chair of Hyde in Autumn 2021, when Alan Collett steps 
down. He joins Hyde from housing association Vivid, where he was 
Chair from 2017, following the merger of First Wessex (where he was 
Chair) and Sentinel. Mike has a background in engineering, investment 
banking, PR and communications, and is currently Executive Chairman at 
Quadrise Fuels International plc. Previously Chair of Portsmouth Water 
and Senior Independent Director at KBC Advanced Technologies, he was 
also Managing Director of PR agency Weber Shandwick/Square Mile and 
a Partner at investment bank Cazenove & Co.

Katherine Rodgers

Age: 37

Board member since: 2019

Katherine is a property development professional who has worked for 
real estate investment and development specialists. At Grosvenor, 
she was Head of Strategy and Business Planning and Major Projects 
Development Director. She also served on the Board of the Bermondsey 
Business Improvement District and the Bermondsey Community 
Kitchen. Katherine is now Director of Property Development at the 
University of Cambridge.

James Wardlaw

Age: 57

Board member since: 2020

James has more than 30 years’ experience in corporate finance and the 
infrastructure sector. James is member of the External Advisory Board of 
Blackrock’s Infrastructure solutions business, member of Advisory Board 
of Campbell Lutyens, Partner of Federated Hermes and director of JCW 
Additions. He was previously a Managing Director in the Investment Banking 
Division of Goldman Sachs, and before this worked as an HM Treasury 
official. James was previously on the board of Notting Hill Genesis, serving 
as Chair of the Treasury Committee, SID and Interim Chair, and a member on 
the panel of expert advisers to the UK Regulators Network.

Piers White MBE

Age: 59

Board member since: 2012

Piers is Chair of BRE Group, Chair of Courier Facilities Ltd and a non-
executive director at NHS Blood and Transplant, where he chairs the 
Governance and Assurance Committee. He was UK Chief Executive 
of Bank Insinger de Beaufort, Chairman of Flemings Offshore Private 
Banking, a director of the Save and Prosper Group and Service Director at 
Barclays. Previous Chair, Non-Executive and Trustee roles have included 
Ploughshare Innovations, Ordnance Survey, CIPFA and Croydon College of 
Further Education.

Neal Ackcral

Age: 54

Interim Chief Executive 
Officer and Board member 
since: 2021

Neal is an experienced property and asset management professional 
who has worked in the housing sector for more than 30 years. He was an 
Executive Director at both Viridian Housing and Optivo and Chief Property 
Officer at Hyde, before being appointed interim CEO in June 2021.

Rod Holdsworth

Age: 55

Chief Financial and 
Resources Officer and 
Board member since: 2019

Rod joined Hyde in December 2019 as Chief Financial and Resources 
Officer. Rod has extensive experience as a CFO within the service and 
construction industries, most recently at Crest Nicholson plc, Wates 
Group and OCS Group. He is also a member of the Council of British 
Carriage Driving.

Full biographies of Board members are available on the Hyde website.
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Board member Board GAC GHSB GIC GTC GRAC

Alan Collett 9 - - 8 - 3

Elsie Akinsanya 6 - - - - 3

David Banks 9 8 - - 7 -

Lynn Gilbert 8 - - 8 7 -

Paula Hay-Plumb (Apr-Dec 2020) 6 7 - - - 3

Duncan Ingram 9 - 5 - - 3

Katherine Rodgers 8 - - 6 - -

James Wardlaw (from July 2020) 7 3 - - 7 -

Piers White 8 8 5 8 8 -

Karen McElhatton (from Aug 2020) 4 - 2 - - -

Number of meetings attended by Non-Executive Board members Statement of the Group Board’s responsibilities

The Group Board is responsible for preparing the 
financial statements and annual report in accordance 
with applicable law and regulations.
The Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 
2014 and registered social housing legislation require 
the Board to prepare financial statements for each 
financial year which give a true and fair view of the state 
of affairs of the Private Registered Provider (PRP) and 
of the surplus or deficit for that period. In preparing 
these financial statements, the Board is required to:

• Select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently

• Make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent

• State whether applicable accounting standards 
have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements

• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern 
basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
PRP will continue in business.

The Group Board is responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show 
and explain the transactions and which disclose, 
with reasonable accuracy at any time, the financial 
position of the PRP and to enable it to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Co-operative and 

Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, the Housing and 
Regeneration Act 2008 and The Accounting Direction 
for Private Registered Providers of Social Housing 2019.

It has general responsibility for taking reasonable steps 
to safeguard the assets of the PRP and to prevent and 
detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Group Board is responsible for ensuring that 
the Strategic Report includes a fair review of the 
development and performance of the business and the 
position of the Group and its subsidiaries included in 
the consolidation, together with the disclosure of the 
principal risks and uncertainties they face. Legislation 
in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

The Group Board is responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the Group’s website.

In the case of each director in office at the date the 
Directors’ Report is approved:

• So far as the director is aware, there is no relevant 
audit information of which the Group’s auditors are 
unaware; and

• They have taken all the steps that they ought to have 
taken as a director to make themselves aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the 
Group’s auditors are aware of that information.

Business sustainability: Board members’ experience
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Internal controls assurance 

The Group Board’s responsibility for establishing and 
maintaining the whole system of internal control and 
for reviewing its effectiveness is set out in the internal 
controls assurance statement below.
The Group Board is ultimately responsible for ensuring 
the Group establishes and maintains a system of 
internal control appropriate to the various business 
environments in which it operates. Such a system is 
designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of 
failure to achieve business objectives and can only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.

The key elements in exercising control include:

• Group Board-approved terms of reference and 
delegated authorities for audit, housing services, 
treasury and investment committees

• Clearly defined management responsibilities 
for the identification, evaluation and control of 
significant risks

• Robust strategies and business planning 
processes, with detailed financial budgets and 
forecasts

• Formal recruitment, retention, training and 
development policies for all staff

• Established authorisation and appraisal 
procedures for significant new initiatives and 
commitments

• Robust treasury management, which is subject to 
external review each year

• Regular reporting to the appropriate committee on 
key business objectives, targets and outcomes

• Group Board-approved whistle-blowing and anti-
theft and corruption procedures

• Group Board-approved fraud procedures, covering 
prevention, detection and reporting together with 
recoverability of assets

• Regular monitoring of loan covenants and 
requirements for new loan facilities

• Annual review of Regulator of Social Housing 
‘Economic and Consumer Standards’.

The Board confirms that it has a strategy and procedure 
for anti-fraud and corruption.

The system of internal controls is ongoing, and has 
been in place for the year to 31 March 2021 and up to 
the date of approval of the annual report and financial 
statements.

The Board recognises its responsibility for the system of 
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. The 
Group produces an annual review of internal controls. 
This provides assurances around actions from external 
audit, internal control, internal audit, whistleblowing, risk 
management and performance monitoring.

The Board reviews annually the effectiveness of the 
system of internal controls in existence in the Group. 
This review includes a review of the fraud register. The 
Board confirms that all necessary actions are taken to 
remedy any significant failings or weaknesses which 
may have been identified during the review.

The Board cannot delegate ultimate responsibility for the 
system of internal control but has delegated authority 
to the Group Audit Committee to regularly review the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control. The 
Board receives Group Audit Committee quarterly reports 
and has access to all meeting minutes. The Group 
Audit Committee has received the  annual report of the 
internal and external auditor, and has provided its Annual 
Report to the Board.

The Board confirms no weaknesses were found in the 
internal controls for the year ended 31 March 2021, 
which might otherwise have resulted in material losses, 
contingencies or uncertainties which require disclosure 
in the financial statements.

102   |   Consolidated report and financial statements | 31 March 2021 Consolidated report and financial statements | 31 March 2021   |   103 



Risk management
Managing risk in everything we do is essential. The Group 
Board owns and sets our level of risk appetite, which 
guides our decision-making and strategy development.
Sound risk management, based on strategic, economic, 
social and environmental principles, underpins our 
approach to governance. We regularly review our control 
framework and how we manage emerging risks, to ensure 
we capture and address issues that could affect our ability 
to meet our statutory obligations and strategic objectives.

Our internal control framework is designed to limit and 
manage the risk of these risks materialising. However, we 
realise this framework only provides reasonable, and not 
absolute, assurance, which means non-compliance issues 
can still happen.

Risk appetite
We have risk appetite statements across 12 key risk areas 
that establish our capacity for taking and absorbing risk, 
and provide guiding principles for decision-making. The 
Group Board reviews risk appetite twice a year, with the 
next review in September 2021.

In 2020/21, we introduced Key Risk Indicators (KRIs) for 
each risk appetite category: a blend of KPI metrics, risk 
escalation indicators and reactive indicators. Performance 
against KRIs is reported quarterly to the Group Board.

 1
 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

Optimum risk appetite

12 SERVICE DELIVERY: OPEN

 • We consider all delivery options, selecting 
those with the highest probability of 
successful outcomes, even when there are 
elevated levels of associated risks

 • We consider both transformational and 
incremental change

 • We support innovation to improve service 
delivery. Innovation is equally as important 
as security and resilience

 • We’re equally open to using products from 
market-leading or start-ups/less well-
established providers.

 7 OUTSOURCING: OPEN

 • We take a risk-based approach to 
outsourcing. We won’t outsource business-
critical functions or outsource where there’s 
a high degree of inherent risk

 • We have an outsourcing strategy and 
framework. We invest in ongoing contract 
management to ensure our contractors are 
properly managed and are delivering

 • We prefer to purchase off-the-shelf products, 
rather than developing bespoke solutions.

10 REPUTATION: OPEN

 • While we’re not careless with our reputation, 
we’re prepared to say and do things that 
have the potential to expose us to additional 
scrutiny from central and local Government, 
the Regulator, media, general public and/or 
other stakeholders. However, we only do this 
once appropriate steps have been taken to 
minimise any exposure.

 5 LEGAL: CAUTIOUS

 • We have a limited tolerance for actions 
which could be challenged. We prefer to 
play safe and only consider actions with a 
low degree of inherent risk, and where we’re 
reasonably confident we can defend our 
position successfully

 • Settlement and further action are equally 
favoured. In deciding which course of action 
to take, we consider the cost/benefit of both.

 8 PEOPLE: OPEN

 • We recruit people without sector experience 
into key roles, provided they’re robustly 
assessed

 • We use contractors, especially when it 
increases the chances of success

 • We invest in employees’ learning and 
development. We encourage staff to identify 
their own learning and development needs

 • We encourage flexible working conditions 
and new ways of working

 • We’re open to re-assessing the structure and 
location of our workforce. We’re prepared 
to take some risk when restructuring the 
business, provided the benefits outweigh 
the risks.

11 INVESTMENT AND ASSET 
         MANAGEMENT: OPEN

 • We’re open to expanding beyond our 
traditional products and geography, provided 
we’re confident we can manage the risks

 • We consider partnership working 
arrangements as appropriate, provided we 
have confidence in our partners

 • We have an active development programme, 
which will deliver 1,500 new homes a year.

 • We maintain at least a V2 rating

 • We’re open to taking market sales risk as 
part of a balanced development portfolio

 • We’re open to options to realise latent 
potential value though active asset 
management, as long as the business case 
makes sense.

 6 BUSINESS CONTINUITY AND 
         RESILIENCE: CAUTIOUS

 • We have some appetite for business 
disruption, but this is largely confined to 
areas outside of our control

 • While we apply all best practice controls, 
we won’t apply controls that go above and 
beyond best practice, if they are too cost 
prohibitive and won’t result in significant 
improvements or reductions in business 
disruption losses

 • We have business continuity and IT disaster 
recovery plans, which are tested annually.

 3 DATA, PRIVACY AND INFORMATION 
         SECURITY: MINIMALIST

 • We have a very limited appetite for data loss 
or information security breaches

 • We apply all best practice controls to prevent 
data loss events

 • We have a very limited appetite for breaches 
of any data, privacy and information security 
legislation, especially the Data Protection 
Act 2018.

 2 FRAUD, BRIBERY, THEFT AND 
         CORRUPTION: AVERSE

 • We have no appetite for breaching (and 
haven’t breached) anti-money laundering 
regulations. We have procedures for 
verifying and recording the identity of 
counterparties and reporting suspicions. We 
ensure staff are aware of the subject and 
our procedures

 • We have no appetite for internal or external 
fraud losses. We apply all possible controls 
to prevent fraud events from occurring, even 
if these controls are expensive and outweigh 
the losses that could arise.

 1 REGULATORY AND 
         HEALTH AND SAFETY: AVERSE

 • Regulatory and health and safety compliance 
is one of our fundamental objectives

 • We apply all possible controls to ensure 
compliance – even if those controls are 
highly costly and impede wider business 
objectives

 • 100% of our properties comply with all 
property-related health and safety legislation 
at all times.

 4 FUNDING AND  
         LIQUIDITY: CAUTIOUS

 • We maintain a minimum liquidity of 
£300m, or enough funds to cover planned 
contractual commitments, as well as the 
‘extreme’ stress level scenario under Bank of 
England standards

 • Group fixed debt (including swaps) must be 
between 70% and 95% of the drawn debt at 
any time

 • We apply controls to protect our credit rating 
and only take actions that we’re confident 
won’t result in a downgrade

 • We seek appropriate financing arrangements 
for the business and prefer to keep things 
simple.

 9 CHANGE AND  
         TRANSFORMATION: OPEN

 • We’re open to change

 • We support innovation to improve  
service delivery

 • We want to deliver change at pace, provided 
we can manage the risks.

Business sustainability: Risk management
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Business assurance framework
We use a combined assurance reporting tool, supported by a suite of business assurance KPIs, to further strengthen 
our control environment. This focuses on key business areas, providing integrated assurance mapping that identifies 
and assesses the type, performance and relationship of the sources of assurance across all lines of defence.

Risks, uncertainties and governance 
The Group Audit Committee reviews the arrangements for risk identification and management twice a year, in 
terms of strategic and operational risks.

Strategic risks, that might impact the delivery of the strategic plan, are monitored by the Group Board. In September 
2020, the Board reviewed the existing strategic risks and updated them to align with the 2050 strategy.

Operational risks, that might impact day-to-day service delivery, are owned and monitored by ELT and reported to 
the Group Housing Services Board, Group Audit Committee and Group Investment Committee (Development Risk).

We produce risk registers based on key risks and make an initial assessment of cause and the likelihood and 
potential impact of events occurring to determine the level of risk. This is evaluated against the mitigation 
measures we have in place, to provide a residual risk score. Our ultimate aim is to produce a target risk score for 
both strategic and operational risks, guided by the risk appetite statements.

To ensure risk management is part of everyday activities, ELT reviews emerging issues monthly and reports impact, 
mitigation and a wider Political, Economic, Social, Technological, Legal and Environmental (PESTLE) analysis to 
each business meeting of the committees and Group Board.

COVID-19 and Brexit risk - In September 2020, we combined our COVID-19 and Brexit risk registers because of the 
potential business impacts caused by both. We considered our principle risks to be: 

• Contractor shortages and supply chain issues 
• Financial uncertainty (for our customers and the wider economy)
• Changes in Government guidelines.

Following the end of the Brexit transition period and the introduction of the Government’s COVID-19 roadmap, we’ve 
reverted to tracking residual impacts via our existing risk registers. 

Group Housing 
Services Board

Group Audit 
Committee

Group Investment 
Committee

Group Treasury 
Committee

Risk areas 
covered

Operational risks: 
Regulatory, statutory 
(legal, health and 
safety), service and 
property standards, 
organisational change 
programme

Effectiveness of risk 
management systems

Development and 
growth risk for new 
build schemes, 
regeneration 
programme, land bank 
and joint ventures

Financial risks: 
Financial plan, treasury 
strategy and policy. 
Loan portfolio 
restructuring, hedging, 
financing and 
headroom

How Formal review of 
operational risk each 
quarter, six month 
project review and 
horizon scan, monitor 
risk management each 
quarter

Review adequacy of 
the risk management 
methodology and the 
structures, processes 
and responsibility 
for identifying and 
managing key risks

Review risk profile and 
mitigation for every 
proposal, monitor 
whole portfolio risk, 
review delegation 
limits annually, review 
JV Board reporting 
quarterly

Review of financial 
plan including 
assumptions, stress 
testing, review 
treasury/hedging 
strategy, assess 
viability, structure 
and terms for raising 
finance and use of 
financial instruments

Group Board
Strategic risks: Strategic plan milestones, treasury strategy, oversight of resource allocation. 

Formal review of strategic risk quarterly, six monthly strategic plan review and horizon, review of Political, 
Economic, Social, Technological, Legal and Environmental (PESTLE) and emerging risk issues quarterly.

Executive Leadership Team
Monitor emerging issues and risk management monthly, review key risks from each Directorate risk 

register monthly, strategic plan review of milestones and six monthly review, change programme and 
horizon scan, deliver effective risk identification, monitoring, mitigation and management, KPI risk 

triggers effective, performance management embedded, review risk assessments for new business 
opportunities including mergers and acquisitions.

Emerging 
Risks & Issues

• Monthly 
review

• Full annual 
PESTLE 
review

PESTLE
Directorate 

Operational Risk 
Registers

• Audit
• Health and 

safety
• Governance
• Operational

Key risks 
from each 
Directorate 

reported 
to ELT on a 

monthly basis
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The top four risks from our Group Strategic Risk register

KEY RISK MITIGATION/ACTION

1. External economic factors 
(economic cycle/shocks) negatively 
impact Hyde’s financial position 
(sales and income), leading 
to financial loss and loss of 
opportunities for growth.

 • We have stress-tested our financial plan to determine our ability to deal with 
extreme stresses, including Bank of England stress guidance, the impacts 
of COVID-19, and Hyde-specific stresses

 • Where appropriate, we work with external partners through joint ventures to 
share development risk

 • Our development programme is phased and our financial plan is conditional 
upon certain thresholds being met

 • We have worked with key contractors to ensure they have appropriate 
continuity arrangements to minimise the impact of COVID-19 and Brexit 

 • We have structured the Group to ringfence commercial activity to prevent 
contagion risk to social housing assets 

 • We continue to monitor the impact of welfare reform and COVID-19 on core 
income streams.

2. Failure to have the correct data, 
systems, policies and procedures to 
ensure buildings are safe and protect 
the health, safety and wellbeing of 
Hyde’s customers and employees, 
leading to potential or actual harm, 
failure in statutory duties, financial 
loss, reputational damage, regulatory 
intervention and/or legal action.

 • We have established baseline schedules for our key property compliance 
programme. Enhancing our property compliance data remains a key priority

 • We have a rolling programme of stock condition surveys to understand the 
condition of our homes (Decent Homes Standard)

 • Our Energy and Environment strategy sets out how we’ll ensure our homes will 
meet future energy requirements

 • We have robust health and safety processes for our employees and report key 
health and safety metrics to Group Housing Services Board

 • Staff wellbeing is a key priority and we have a comprehensive wellbeing offer 
available to all staff.

3. Failure to embed a robust 
information governance and data 
management framework leading 
to poor decision making, inability 
to satisfy regulatory reporting 
requirements, financial loss, 
failure in statutory duties and/or 
reputational damage.

 • Our comprehensive Information Governance programme aims to provide 
greater focus on, and an overarching understanding of, data/information 
within Hyde

 • Our Information Governance team and Data Analytics team continue to 
improve information processes

 • Our InfoGov Board, with representatives from across the business, provides 
oversight of information governance activities.

4. Failure to anticipate and adapt to 
a changing political and legislative 
landscape leads to increased costs, 
service decline, reputational damage 
and loss of opportunities for growth.

 • We monitor the impact of Government policy interventions, and changes 
in legislation and regulation; most recently considering the Social Housing 
White Paper and, the Fire Safety Act 2021 and the forthcoming Building 
Safety Bill 

 • We take part in Government briefings, lobbying and working parties, to 
inform the debate and influence decisions 

 • Our Financial Plan considers the financial impact of future legislation 
(building safety costs/costs related to energy efficiency)

 • We maintain an open and transparent dialogue with key stakeholders, 
including the Regulator of Social Housing.

Hyde Group strategic risk map – top four risks

Almost 
certain

Likely

Possible

Unlikely

Rare

Insignificant Minor Moderate Significant Major

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact

1

3 42

Business sustainability: Risk managementBusiness sustainability: Risk management

108   |   Consolidated report and financial statements | 31 March 2021 Consolidated report and financial statements | 31 March 2021   |   109 



110   |   Consolidated report and financial statements | 31 March 2020

Health and safety

We’re committed to providing a safe and healthy 
workplace for our employees and contractors, and a 
safe environment in which our customers can live. 
We regard the successful management of health and 
safety as essential to the delivery of our business.
We’re also committed to continual improvement in health 
and safety management within our housing stock and 
we achieve this through delivery of a comprehensive 
property health and safety compliance programme.

We track a number of key health and safety performance 
indicators relating to our core housing operations, 
those undertaken by our direct labour organisation and 
construction site activity undertaken by our development 
partners. We continue to perform well in respect of 
accident frequency, lost day and reportable injury rates.

Our health and safety arrangements are independently 
reviewed and certified annually.

Like many other businesses, the coronavirus pandemic 
impacted the way we delivered services to our 
customers. We swiftly and successfully relocated staff 
from offices to their homes and supported them through 
risk assessment of workstations in homes, using our 
online tools.

Staff were provided with chairs, screens and keyboards, 
and any other equipment to ensure that they were able 
to work safely and comfortably. Community operations 
were subject to COVID-19 risk assessments and safe 
working procedures were developed accordingly, to 
ensure the safety of staff, customers and others. Our 
offices were reviewed and, for those remaining open, 
measures were introduced to ensure that access was 
limited to authorised staff and that social distancing and 
fresh air supply was maintained.

Our health and safety training programme is targeted 
by role and includes mandatory elements for all staff. 
We maintain full compliance in regard to completion 
of our four core health and safety e-learning modules. 
Our face-to-face staff training programme was heavily 
impacted by pandemic restrictions last year. Despite 
this, we delivered about 400 hours of training via online 
video conferencing.
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The Group Board confirms that the annual report has 
been prepared in accordance with the principles set 
out in paragraphs 4.6 and 4.7 of the 2018 Statement Of 
Recommended Practice (SORP) for registered social 
landlords.

The Group has undertaken an assessment of compliance 
with the Regulator of Social Housing’s Consumer and 
Economic Standards for the period April 2020 to March 
2021, as required by The Accounting Direction for Private 
Registered Providers of Social Housing 2019. The Group 
Board can confirm that, during the year in question, 
the Group has complied with the Governance and 
Financial Viability Standard , including demonstrating full 
compliance with the NHF Code of Governance.

Events after the end of the reporting period 
There have been no events after the balance sheet date 
requiring further disclosure in the report and financial 
statements.

Principal activities of the Group
The Hyde Group is one of the largest property 
management and development groups in London and 
the south east. We build, rent, sell and manage homes, 
to 105,000 customers.

Going concern
The Group undertakes a robust going concern assessment 
by reference to its most recent five-year Financial Plan. 
The Financial Plan considers the current economic 
environment, including the impact of the pandemic, the 
UK’s exit from the European Union (Brexit), and the Group’s 
future strategic plans. This includes considering the 
expected case in the Financial Plan and adverse stress 
tested scenarios. Different stress tests are based on: 

• Bank of England Annual Cyclical Scenario which 
uses its published indices over a five-year scenario 
(including consumer prices, house prices and 
interest rates) and the Bank of England’s Disorderly 
Brexit Scenario, as these are considered the most 
relevant to the Group’s Financial Plan

• Other risks specific to the Financial Plan, including no 
outright or shared ownership sales, no other void or 
right to buy disposals, no profits from joint ventures, 
increases in rent arrears, caps on rental income and 
additional costs relating to building safety. 

The impact of the different stress tests are assessed 
against the operating surplus (interest cover) and liquidity 
(gearing) banking covenants of the Group. 

Across the different scenarios and stress tests, the 
Group remains compliant with all banking covenants 
and has sufficient liquidity throughout the going concern 
assessment period of at least 12 months after the date 
on which the financial statements are signed, without 
any management mitigation. In addition, the Group can 
manage its operations in such a way as to control and 
defer significant parts of its cash outflows with specific 
mitigations. These mitigations include; deferral of repairs 
expenditure, reduction in overheads on specific projects, 
reducing staffing costs, access to additional financing, 
and amendments to the development programme 
(comprising any combination of pausing, slowing or 
cancelling projects). 

Based on the robust going concern assessment, the 
Directors consider that the Group has adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future, being a period of at least 12 months after the 
date on which the financial statements are signed. For 
this reason, the Group continues to adopt the going 
concern basis in the financial statements. No material 
uncertainties exist.

Independent auditors
During the year, BDO LLP was appointed as auditors, after 
a re-tendering exercise for the 2020/21 financial year.

Alan Collett 
Chair 
30 July 2021

Statements of compliance, Regulator of Social 
Housing Governance and Financial Viability 
Standard 2020-21
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Independent auditors’ report 
to the members of Hyde 
Housing Association Limited

Opinion on the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements:

 • give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s 
and of the Association’s affairs as at 31 March 2021 
and of the Group’s and the Association’s deficit for the 
year then ended;

 •  have been properly prepared in accordance with 
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice; and

 • have been properly prepared in accordance with 
the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies 
Act 2014, the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies (Group Accounts) Regulations 1969, 
the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the 
Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers 
of Social Housing 2019.

We have audited the financial statements of Hyde 
Housing Association Limited (“the Association”) and its 
subsidiaries (“the Group”) for the year ended 31 March 
2021 which comprise the consolidated and Association 
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated 
and Association statement of financial position, the 
consolidated and Association statement of changes 
in reserves, the consolidated statement of cash flows 
and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. The 
financial reporting framework that has been applied in 
their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting 
Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements section of our report. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. Our audit opinion is consistent with the 
additional report to the Group Audit Committee.

Independence
Following the recommendation of the Group Audit 
Committee, we were appointed by the board in 
November 2020 to audit the financial statements for the 
year ending 31 March 2021 and subsequent financial 
periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement 
including retenders and reappointments is 1 year, 
covering the year ending 31 March 2021. 

We remain independent of the Group and the 
Parent Association in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s 
Ethical Standard as applied to public interest entities, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. The non-audit 
services prohibited by that standard were not provided 
to the Group or the Association.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded 
that the Board’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is 
appropriate. Our evaluation of the Board’s assessment of 
the Group and the Parent Association’s ability to continue to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:

 • We obtained management’s assessment that 
supports the Board’s conclusions with respect to the 
disclosures provided around going concern;

 • We considered the appropriateness of management’s 
forecasts by reviewing and assessing assumptions 
applied by management, assessing historical 
forecasting accuracy and understanding 
management’s consideration of downside sensitivity 
analysis;

 • We obtained an understanding of the financing 
facilities from the finance agreements, including 
the nature of the facilities, covenants and attached 
conditions;

 • We assessed the facility and covenant headroom 
calculations, and re-performed sensitivities and stress 
testing; and

 • We reviewed the wording of the going concern 
disclosures, and assessed its consistency with 
management’s forecasts.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not 
identified any material uncertainties relating to events 
or conditions that, individually or collectively, may 
cast significant doubt on the Association’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for a period of at least 
twelve months from when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Board 
with respect to going concern are described in the 
relevant sections of this report
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Overview 
 

Coverage

Key audit 
matters

Materiality

We audit the following within the group:

100% (2020: 100%) of Group profit before tax

100% (2020: 100%) of Group revenue

100% (2020: 100%) of Group total assets

2021

The recoverable amount of property  
developed for sale is materially misstated

Yes

Fire provisions Yes

The form and substance of the ongoing complex  
stock transfer and agreements may not be  
accurately accounted for in the financial statements

Yes

Group financial statements as a whole

£8.7m based on 5% of adjusted operating surplus 

An overview of the scope of our audit
Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an 
understanding of the Group and its environment, including 
the Group’s system of internal control, and assessing 
the risks of material misstatement in the financial 
statements.  We also addressed the risk of management 
override of internal controls, including assessing whether 
there was evidence of bias by the Board that may have 
represented a risk of material misstatement.

Audit work on all significant components was 
performed by BDO UK both for the purposes of  
reporting on the individual financial statements and  
for Group/consolidation purposes. 

We identified four components which, in our view 
required an audit of their complete financial information 
for group purposes due to their size and were therefore 
considered to be significant components. Hyde Housing 
Association Limited, Martlet Homes Limited, Hyde 
Vale Limited and Hyde New Build Limited have been 
identified as significant components due to their size.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgement, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial statements of the current 
period and include the most significant assessed 
risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to 
fraud) that we identified, including those which had 
the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the 
allocation of resources in the audit, and directing the 
efforts of the engagement team. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters.

Key audit matter How the scope of our audit addressed the key audit matter

The recoverable amount of  
property developed for sale is 
materially misstated 
As explained in the accounting 
policies as per Note 1, properties 
developed for sale, including shared 
ownership first tranches and 
properties developed for outright 
sale, are measured at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value 
resulting in an amount recognised 
in the balance sheet of £207.7m. 
For properties in development at 
the balance sheet date, see Note 
23, an assessment is needed of 
an anticipated selling price and a 
determination of the expected costs 
to complete.

Due to the volume of properties 
developed for sale and the level 
of judgement, there is inherent 
estimation uncertainty for both 
sales proceeds and costs to 
complete. We consider there is a 
significant risk that the carrying 
amount of properties developed for 
sale is misstated and was therefore 
a key audit matter.

Having obtained management’s assessment of the net realisable value 
of properties developed for sale, we tested all significant schemes under 
construction at the year-end. 

For a sample of developments under construction, we obtained details of the 
expected costs to complete and agreed a proportion of costs to the latest third-
party contract documentation.

We assessed the accuracy of cost forecasting by looking at outturn costs 
compared to budget on schemes that completed in the year. 

We performed procedures to validate the operation of controls associated with 
the approval of development proposals as well as the creation, updating and 
monitoring of development appraisals. 

We held detailed discussions to gain assurance over the development appraisal 
assumptions. 

We obtained details of the expected proceeds from the sale of properties and 
agreed the amounts involved to supporting documentation or compared the 
expected proceeds to similar developments in the same locality.

For schemes not yet under construction, we reviewed documentation 
associated with planning permission, with specific consideration of key factors 
or conditions that may indicate that either planning may not be granted or where 
terms and conditions may prevent the construction of a viable development. 

For a sample of completed properties, we agreed the amounts involved 
to supporting documentation where the property was sold post year-end. 
Where the property was not yet sold we obtained third-party housing market 
information to confirm that properties were held at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. 

No material exceptions were noted from our testing.
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Key audit matter Key audit matterHow the scope of our audit addressed the key audit matter How the scope of our audit addressed the key audit matter

Fire provisions 
The process of identifying and then 
replacing cladding is complex. 
For the majority of schemes 
remediation work is well advanced, 
although for others the process of 
planning works and funding for that 
work has not yet been finalised. 
Government guidance continues 
to evolve, as does the Group’s 
obligations in relation to making 
these buildings safe. 

Accounting for each unique scheme 
requires significant judgement in 
relation to whether, and at what 
point, a legal or constructive 
obligation arises and thereafter 
determining the estimated costs of 
these obligations. 

Given the ongoing fire risk 
assessments, the changing 
landscape and the high degree 
of judgement, we consider fire 
provisions to be a significant audit 
risk and a key audit matter.

Accounting for complex  
stock transactions 
During the year, the Association 
completed a major stock 
transaction, selling 426 shared 
ownership properties to a For  
Profit Registered Provider  
managed by M&G. 

At the same time, the Association 
entered into separate legal 
agreements to provide management 
services to these properties and 
directly invested in the associated 
M&G fund. 

Projects of this nature are one off, 
unusual and complex transactions. 
As such, a risk exists that these are 
not appropriately recognised in line 
with FRS102. We consider this to be 
a significant audit risk.

In light of the complexity of this 
transaction, its impact on the 
financial performance and our audit 
effort we regard this to be a Key 
Audit Matter.

Having obtained management’s assessment of schemes, we reviewed their 
assessment as to whether a legal or constructive obligation existed in the 
current and prior year. 

For schemes where remedial works had not yet commenced but where 
management had concluded a legal or constructive obligation exists, we 
considered the basis of this judgement, internal and external supporting 
information and whether no reasonable alternatives exists other than to 
undertake the work.

We considered the basis of calculations used to determine the future cost 
of removing and replacing cladding, including agreement to third party 
estimates and internal assumptions. 

For a sample of cladding replacement costs incurred in the year we agreed 
amounts to invoice.

Where existing cladding is written off, we considered assumptions  
applied in the determination of historical structure costs deemed to relate 
solely to cladding. 

We have reviewed minutes, press releases and fire safety costs incurred in 
the year to verify the completeness of schemes considered for provisioning. 

Sources of external fund sort to partially offset the cost of remedial work 
were considered independently, agreed to third party agreements, with 
the basis of recognition audited with reference to the criteria set out in 
Financial Reporting Standard 102.

We considered the suitability and completeness of disclosures relating to 
this critical accounting judgement.  

No material exceptions were noted from our testing.

We reviewed all legal documentation, internal papers and results of due 
diligence performed by Hyde. We considered the legal form of these 
complex events as well as the substance of each transaction.  

Stock transfer

We checked the terms within the legal agreements with specific focus on 
conditions that may result in certain risks and rewards remaining with Hyde 
beyond the date of legal completion. 

We obtained copies of completion statements and validated the receipt of 
funds prior to the end of the financial year. 

Property management

In addition to verification that Hyde was not entitled to any management 
income in 2021 we reviewed all relevant information to determine if an 
onerous commitment exists. 

M&G investment

We reviewed the terms of Hyde’s investment into the M&G fund that 
controls the FPRP, with the terms when combined with the proportion of 
shares held confirming an investment without significant influence 

No material exceptions were noted from our testing.
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Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality both in planning 
and performing our audit, and in evaluating the effect 
of misstatements. We consider materiality to be 
the magnitude by which misstatements, including 
omissions, could influence the economic decisions 
of reasonable users that are taken on the basis of 
the financial statements. Importantly, misstatements 
below these levels will not necessarily be evaluated 
as immaterial as we also take into account of the 
nature of identified misstatements, and the particular 
circumstances of their occurrence, when evaluating their 
effect on the financial statements as a whole.

In order to reduce to an appropriately low level the 
probability that any misstatements exceed materiality, 
we use a lower materiality level, performance materiality, 
to determine the extent of testing needed. Importantly, 
misstatements below these levels will not necessarily 
be evaluated as immaterial as we also take account of 
the nature of identified misstatements, and the particular 
circumstances of their occurrence, when evaluating their 
effect on the financial statements as a whole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined 
materiality for the financial statements as a whole and 
performance materiality as follows:

Rationale for the materiality benchmark applied
The benchmark used for the current year materiality is 
adjusted operating surplus. Adjusted operating surplus 
is of particular interest to the users of the financial 
statements as it is a term defined for the purposes of 
the entity’s lending covenants. This involves adjusting 
operating profit for depreciation, amortisation, 
capitalised major works and the net profit/loss on non-
outright sale properties.

Component materiality
A full scope statutory audit was carried out for each 
subsidiary. We set materiality for each component 
dependent on the size and our assessment of the risk of 
material misstatement of that component. Component 
materiality ranged from £230,000 to £2,700,000. In the 
audit of each component, we further applied performance 
materiality levels of 60% of the component materiality 
to our testing to ensure that the risk of errors exceeding 
component materiality was appropriately mitigated.

Reporting threshold  
We agreed with the audit committee that we would 
report to them all individual audit differences in excess 
of £173,000.  We also agreed to report differences 
below this threshold that, in our view, warranted 
reporting on qualitative grounds.

Group financial statements Association financial statements

Materiality £8.7m (2020 - £4.3m) £6.0m (2020 – 2.1m)

Basis for determining 
materiality

5% of adjusted operating surplus  
(2020 – 5% of surplus before tax)

5% of adjusted operating surplus  
(2020 – 1% of turnover)

Performance materiality £5.2m £3.6m

Basis for determining 
performance materiality

60% of materiality 60% of materiality
Matters on which we are required to report  
by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where we are required by the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 or the Housing and 
Regeneration Act 2008 to report to you if, in our opinion:

 • the information given in the Report of the Board for 
the financial year for which the financial statements 
are prepared is not consistent with the financial 
statements;

 • adequate accounting records have not been kept by 
the Association; or

 • a satisfactory system of control has not been 
maintained over transactions; or

 • the Association’s financial statements are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

 • we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit

Other information
The board are responsible for the other information.  
The other information comprises the information 
included in the Annual Report and Financial Statements, 
other than the financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the other information we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information in the 
Strategic Report and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent 
material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial 
statements or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the board
As explained more fully in the Statement of the Group 
Board’s responsibilities, set out on page 101, the board 
is responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view, and for such internal control as the 
board members determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the board 
is responsible for assessing the Group and the 
Association’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the board either intend to liquidate 
the Group or the Association or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Philip Cliftlands, Senior Statutory Auditor
For and on behalf of BDO LLP
London
United Kingdom

Date:

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in 
England and Wales (with registered number OC305127).

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the members of the 
Association, as a body, in accordance with the Housing 
and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies Act 2014.  Our audit work 
has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Association’s members those matters we are required 
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the Association and the members as a body, for 
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

Extent to which the audit was capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined 
above, to detect material misstatements in respect 
of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which 
our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, 
including fraud is detailed below:

Based on our understanding of the Group and the 
sector in which it operates, we identified that the 
principal risks of non-compliance with laws and 
regulations related to their registration with the 
Regulator of Social Housing, and we considered 
the extent to which non-compliance might have a 
material effect on the Group Financial Statements or 
their continued operation. We also considered those 
laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the 
financial statements such as compliance with the 
Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers 
of Social Housing and tax legislation.

We evaluated management’s incentives and 
opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the 
financial statements (including the risk of override 
of controls), and determined that the principal risks 
were related to posting inappropriate journal entries to 
manipulate financial results and management bias in 
accounting estimates.

The audit procedures to address the risks identified 
included:
 • We understood how the Group and Association  

are complying with the legal and regulatory 
frameworks most significant to the Group and 
Association by making enquiries to management 
and those responsible for legal and compliance 
procedures. We corroborated our enquiries through 
our review of minutes;

 • We assessed the susceptibility of the Group and 
Association’s financial statements to material 
misstatement, including how fraud might occur by 
discussing with management where it is considered 
there was a susceptibility of fraud relating to 
management override of controls and improper 
income recognition. In addressing the risk of fraud, 
including the management override of controls 
and improper income recognition, we tested the 
appropriateness of certain manual journals and tested 
the application of cut-off and revenue recognition;

 • Reviewed and challenged the application of 
significant accounting estimates and judgements 
made in the preparation of the financial statements, 
notably fire provisions, housing property and 
inventory allocations, the recoverable amount 
of properties developed for sale, accounting for 
complex stock transaction, impairment of housing 
properties and pensions;

 • Discussed with management and those charged 
with governance, including consideration of known 
or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws 
and regulations and fraud; and

 • Read minutes of meetings of those charged with 
governance, reviewed internal audit reports and 
reviewed correspondence with HMRC and the 
Regulator of Social Housing.

Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks 
of material misstatement in the financial statements, 
recognising that the risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of 
not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery, 
misrepresentations or through collusion. There are 
inherent limitations in the audit procedures performed 
and the further removed non-compliance with laws 
and regulations is from the events and transactions 
reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we 
are to become aware of it.

A further description of our responsibilities for the  
audit of the financial statements is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at:  
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report.

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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GROUP

Pre-derivatives Impact of 
derivatives Total Pre-derivatives Impact of 

derivatives Total

2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020

Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Turnover 3, 4 365,417 - 365,417 364,385 - 364,385

Operating expenditure 3, 4 (269,440) - (269,440) (316,976) - (316,976)

Surplus on disposal of housing fixed assets 7 41,740 - 41,740 111,264 - 111,264

Deficit/surplus on sale of investment properties 8 (6) - (6) 3,306 - 3,306

Share of operating surplus in Joint Ventures 9 1,634 - 1,634 13,480 - 13,480

Operating surplus 139,345 - 139,345 175,459 - 175,459

Interest receivable 10 1,812 43,980 45,792 2,377 4,916 7,293

Interest and financing costs 11 (53,580) (1,168) (54,748) (62,293) (35,252) (97,545)

Other financing costs – refinancing costs/break costs 11 (154,942) - (154,942) - - -

Other financing costs – pension costs 11 162 - 162 (429) - (429)

Gift aid income 13 - - - - - -

Movement in fair value of investment property 20 525 - 525 1,246 - 1,246

Movement in fair value of other investments 1,438 - 1,438 (637) - (637)

(Deficit)/surplus before tax (65,240) 42,812 (22,428) 115,723 (30,336) 85,387

Taxation 12 (127) - (127) (125) - (125)

(Deficit)/surplus for the year (65,367) 42,812 (22,555) 115,598 (30,336) 85,262

Other comprehensive income

Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of pension schemes 37 (8,553) - (8,553) 20,210 - 20,210

Other movements (103) - (103) 142 - 142

Total other comprehensive (expense)/income (8,656) - (8,656) 20,352 - 20,352

Total comprehensive income for the year (74,023) 42,812 (31,211) 135,950 (30,336) 105,614

Revenue reserve brought forward 631,505 525,891

Revenue reserve carried forward 600,294 631,505

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

- owners of the parent (74,011) 42,812 (31,199) 135,976 (30,336) 105,640

- non-controlling interests (12) - (12) (26) - (26)

ASSOCIATION

Pre-derivatives Impact of 
derivatives Total Pre-derivatives Impact of 

derivatives Total

2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020

Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Turnover 3, 4 233,299 - 233,299 212,235 - 212,235

Operating expenditure 3, 4 (179,355) - (179,355) (185,726) - (185,726)

Surplus on disposal of housing fixed assets 7 41,712 - 41,712 109,478 - 109,478

Deficit/surplus on sale of investment properties 8 (6) - (6) 915 - 915

Share of operating surplus in Joint Ventures 9 - - - - - -

Operating surplus 95,650 - 95,650 136,902 - 136,902

Interest receivable 10 3,729 25,148 28,877 5,288 3,949 9,237

Interest and financing costs 11 (37,415) (1,148) (38,563) (51,297) (24,516) (75,813)

Other financing costs – refinancing costs/break costs 11 (154,942) - (154,942) - - -

Other financing costs – pension costs 11 48 - 48 (364) - (364)

Gift aid income 13 8,442 - 8,442 16,036 - 16,036

Movement in fair value of investment property 20 490 - 490 1,246 - 1,246

Movement in fair value of other investments (460) - (460) (53) - (53)

(Deficit)/surplus before tax (84,458) 24,000 (60,458) 107,758 (20,567) 87,191

Taxation 12 - - - - - -

(Deficit)/surplus for the year (84,458) 24,000 (60,458) 107,758 (20,567) 87,191

Other comprehensive income

Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of pension schemes 37 (8,316) - (8,316) 12,083 - 12,083

Other movements (106) - (106) 87 - 87

Total other comprehensive (expense)/income (8,422) - (8,422) 12,170 - 12,170

Total comprehensive income for the year (92,880) 24,000 (68,880) 119,928 (20,567) 99,361

Revenue reserve brought forward 419,211 319,850

Revenue reserve carried forward 350,331 419,211

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

- owners of the parent (92,880) 24,000 (68,880) 119,928 (20,567) 99,361

- non-controlling interests - - - - - -

Statement of comprehensive income

The turnover, surpluses and deficits for the current year and previous year relate to continuing activities. 

The Group reports the (deficit)/surplus ‘pre-derivatives’ to show the position resulting from its core, continuing activities; and ‘post-derivatives’ 
to show the position after including the impact of fair value changes in derivative financial instruments.

For the Year Ended 31 March 2021

Statement of comprehensive income

For the Year Ended 31 March 2021
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GROUP ASSOCIATION
2021 2020 2021 2020 

Restated*

Notes  £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000
Fixed assets

Housing properties at cost 16 3,382,994 3,391,467 2,797,407 2,812,973

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 16 (374,950) (348,563) (309,152) (289,183)

Net book value of housing properties 16 3,008,044 3,042,904 2,488,255 2,523,790

Intangible fixed assets 17 1,666 59 1,666 59

Other fixed assets 18 18,763 21,301 14,162 16,633

Derivative financial instruments: assets 19 6,186 399 6,186 399

Investments in joint ventures 9 45,528 50,960 - -

Investment properties 20 22,703 22,132 22,628 22,092

Investments – other 21 15,440 11,160 26,533 15,681

Pension assets 37 - 5,159 - 94

Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year 22 26,299 23,446 49,295 46,967

3,144,629 3,177,520 2,608,725 2,625,715

Current assets

Inventories 23 207,581 211,823 53,170 38,960

Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 24 42,836 45,393 45,579 65,184

Cash and cash equivalents 25 162,386 150,054 77,541 92,796

Less: creditors: amounts falling due within one year 26 (81,095) (140,707) (62,326) (112,732)

Net current assets 331,708 266,563 113,964 84,208

Total assets less current liabilities 3,476,337 3,444,083 2,722,689 2,709,923

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 27 (2,742,019) (2,631,217) (2,272,639) (2,167,666)

Derivative financial instruments: liabilities 28 (101,629) (138,657) (66,237) (84,453)

Recycled capital grant fund 29 (34,685) (42,299) (34,241) (41,932)

Disposal proceeds fund 30 - (450) - (168)

Provisions for liabilities and charges 31 (17,663) (22,400) (17,658) (21,866)

Provisions for pensions obligations 37 (639) - (5,406) -

(2,896,635) (2,835,023) (2,396,181) (2,316,085)

Total net assets 579,702 609,060 326,508 393,838

Reserves

Called up share capital - - - -

Revenue reserve - net 600,294 631,505 350,332 419,211

Cash flow hedge reserve (25,209) (26,869) (24,152) (25,659)

Restricted reserve 2,289 2,270 328 286

Total before minority interests 577,374 606,906 326,508 393,838

Minority interests 2,328 2,154 - -

Total reserves 579,702 609,060 326,508 393,838

Statement of financial position

As at 31 March 2021

These financial statements on pages 126 to 181 were authorised to be issued by the Board on 30 July 2021 and 
were signed on its behalf. The notes on pages 134 to 181 form part of the financial statements.

Alan Collett
Chair

Rod Holdsworth 
Chief Financial and Resources Officer

Zoe Ollerearnshaw
Company Secretary
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Notes

Revenue 
reserve

£’000

Pension 
reserve

£’000

Revenue 
reserves - net

£’000

Cash flow 
hedge reserve

£’000

Restricted 
reserve

£’000

Sub  
total

£’000

Minority 
interests

£’000

Total 
reserves 

£’000

Group

Balance as at 1 April 2019 544,281 (18,390) 525,891 (25,782) 2,276 502,385 1,996 504,381

Surplus from Statement of 
Comprehensive Income 85,262 - 85,262 - - 85,262 - 85,262

Actuarial gain 37 - 20,210 20,210 - - 20,210 - 20,210

Pension cost for the year (3,339) 3,339 - - - - - -

Restricted reserve addition 6 - 6 - (6) - - -

Change in value of effective 
hedged instruments 38 - - - (2,327) - (2,327) - (2,327)

Amortisation 38 - - - 1,240 - 1,240 - 1,240

Other movements 136 - 136 - - 136 158 294

Balance at 31 March 2020 626,346 5,159 631,505 (26,869) 2,270 606,906 2,154 609,060

Association 

Balance as at 1 April 2019 335,740 (15,890) 319,850 (24,420) 252 295,682 - 295,682

Surplus from Statement of 
Comprehensive Income 87,191 - 87,191 - - 87,191 - 87,191

Actuarial gain 37 - 12,083 12,083 - - 12,083 - 12,083

Pension cost for the year (3,901) 3,901 - - - - - -

Change in value of effective 
hedged instruments 38 - - - (2,326) - (2,326) - (2,326)

Amortisation 38 - - - 1,087 - 1,087 - 1,087

Other movements 87 - 87 - 34 121 - 121

Balance at 31 March 2019 419,117 94 419,211 (25,659) 286 393,838 - 393,838

 
 

Notes

Revenue 
reserve

£’000

Pension 
reserve

£’000

Revenue 
reserves - net

£’000

Cash flow 
hedge reserve

£’000

Restricted 
reserve

£’000

Sub  
total

£’000

Minority 
interests

£’000

Total 
reserves 

£’000

Group

Balance as at 1 April 2020 626,346 5,159 631,505 (26,869) 2,270 606,906 2,154 609,060

Deficit/surplus from Statement 
of Comprehensive Income (22,555) - (22,555) - - (22,555) - (22,555)

Actuarial (loss) 37 - (8,553) (8,553) - - (8,553) - (8,553)

Pension cost for the year (1,589) 1,589 - - - - - -

Pension cessation (1,166) 1,166

Change in value of effective 
hedged instruments 38 - - - 1,148 - 1,148 - 1,148

Amortisation 38 - - - 512 - 512 - 512

Minority interest - - - - - - 174 174

Other movements (103) - (103) - 19 (84) - (84)

Balance at 31 March 2021 600,933 (639) 600,294 (25,209) 2,289 577,374 2,328 579,702

Association 

Balance as at 1 April 2020 419,117 94 419,211 (25,659) 286 393,838 - 393,838

Deficit/surplus from Statement 
of Comprehensive Income (60,458) - (60,458) - - (60,458) - (60,458)

Actuarial loss 37 - (8,316) (8,316) - - (8,316) - (8,316)

Pension cost for the year (1,650) 1,650 - - - - - -

Pension cessation (1,166) 1,166 - - - - - -

Change in value of effective 
hedged instruments 38 - - - 1,148 - 1,148 - 1,148

Amortisation 38 - - - 359 - 359 - 359

Other movements (105) - (105) - 42 (63) - (63)

Balance at 31 March 2021 355,738 (5,406) 350,332 (24,152) 328 326,508 - 326,508

2021 2020 

Balance as at 1 April 11 12

Additions 2 1

Disposals (1) (2)

Balance at 31 March 12 11

For the Year Ended 31 March 2020For the Year Ended 31 March 2021

Statement of changes in reservesStatement of changes in reserves

Amortisation relates to the release of balances in the cash 
flow hedge reserve into the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income within interest payable. These balances are a result of 
recognising the value of derivatives at the inception of effective 
hedge relationships in the cash flow hedge reserve. These hedge 
relationships are however no longer effective, and the balances 
are amortised over the life of the hedged items. Gilt lock costs are 
also amortised. They result from the movement in gilt rates at the 
time of entering a gilt lock (the strike price) to the time that the 
related transaction took place. They are amortised over the life of 
the transaction/bond.

Included in the Association’s revenue reserves is -£229.4m (2019: 
-£232.8m) which is the cumulative fair value loss that is recorded 
on our derivative financial instruments.

Minority interests reflect the 13% of One Preston Park LLP which 
is not owned by the Group. 

The shares carry no dividend rights and are cancelled on 
cessation of membership of the Association. Each member has 
the right to vote at member’s meetings. All shares are fully paid up 
and are worth £1 each.

Amortisation relates to the release of balances in the cash flow 
hedge reserve into the Statement of Comprehensive Income within 
interest payable. These balances are a result of recognising the 
value of derivatives at the inception of effective hedge relationships 
in the cash flow hedge reserve. These hedge relationships are 
however no longer effective, and the balances are amortised over 
the life of the hedged items. Gilt lock costs are also amortised. They 
result from the movement in gilt rates at the time of entering a gilt 
lock (the strike price) to the time that the related transaction took 
place. They are amortised over the life of the transaction/bond.

Included in the Association’s revenue reserves is -£254.5m (2020: 
-£253.4m) which is the cumulative fair value loss that is recorded on 
our derivative financial instruments.

Minority interests reflect the 13% of One Preston Park LLP which is 
not owned by the Group. 

The shares carry no dividend rights and are cancelled on cessation 
of membership of the Association. Each member has the right to 
vote at member’s meetings. All shares are fully paid up and are 
worth £1 each.

Called up share capital for the Group and the Association is £12 
(2020: £11). Each share is £1 and carries one voting right.



132   |   Consolidated report and financial statements | 31 March 2021 Consolidated report and financial statements | 31 March 2021   |   133 

GROUP

 
Notes

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Net cash generated from operating activities 237,806 350,051

Cash flow from investing activities

Housing properties acquisitions   (79,733) (204,926)

Grants received  24,247 61,679

Purchase of other fixed assets  (4,527) (6,878)

Minority interest 175 -

Purchase of investment (2,981) -

Return on investment 489 -

Interest received 1,918 2,802

Tax paid - (113)

Net cash flow from investing activities (60,412) (147,436)

Cash flow from financing activities

Interest paid (61,960) (74,990)

Other finance costs – refinancing costs (198,985) -

Drawdown of borrowings 797,399 211,829

Repayments of borrowings (701,516) (300,572)

Net cash flow from financing activities (165,062) (163,733)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 12,332 38,882

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 150,054 111,172

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 25 162,386 150,054

Cash flow from operating activities

Operating Surplus for the year (excluding housing asset sales) 3,4 95,977 47,409

Surplus on disposal of housing fixed assets 7 41,740 111,264

(Loss)/Surplus on investment property sales 8 (6) 3,306

Share of operating surplus from joint ventures 9 1,634 13,480

Adjustments for non-cash items:

Net depreciation and amortisation 30,550 28,755

Impairment - 12,524

Decrease in inventory 5,049 37,102

Non cash disposal of housing fixed assets 78,442 50,449

Non cash disposal of investment properties - 11,843

Decrease in trade and other debtors (1,096) 13,189

(Decrease)/decrease creditors (18,150) 21,210

Cash flow to/from JV 5,995 662

Post-employment benefits less payments (2,599) (3,780)

Other provisions 270 2,638

Net cash generated from operating activities 237,806 350,051

For the Year Ended 31 March 2021

Statement of cash flows

31 March 2020 
£’000

Cash flow 
£’000

Non-cash changes 
£’000

31 March 2021 
£’000

Group reconciliation of net debt

Cash balances 150,054 12,600 - 162,654

Debt falling due within one year (16,828) 16,828 (3,151) (3,151)

Debt falling due after one year (1,506,930) (107,341) 3,151 (1,611,121)

Net debt (1,373,704) 77,913 - (1,451,618)

For the Year Ended 31 March 2021

Statement of cash flows
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Notes to the financial statements

General information
The Hyde Group (the Group) is headed by parent entity, 
Hyde Housing Association (the Association), and 
subsidiaries as disclosed in the related parties (note 35). 
The Association is a public benefit entity and a private 
registered provider of social housing incorporated in the 
United Kingdom. The registered office is 30 Park Street, 
London, SE1 9EQ.

Statement of compliance
The Group and individual financial statements of the Group’s 
entities have been prepared on a going concern basis, in 
compliance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 
including Financial Reporting Standard 102, The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and 
the Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), the Housing SORP 2018 
update: Statement of Recommended Practice for Registered 
Social Housing Providers (the SORP 2018), the Accounting 
Direction for Private Registered Provider of Social Housing 
2019 (the Direction 2019) and the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies Act 2014. 

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, as modified by the fair value of 
certain investments and derivative financial instruments. 
The following accounting policies have been applied 
consistently in dealing with items which are considered to 
be material in relation to the financial statements of the 
Group and all constituent subsidiaries. The Association 
has taken advantage of the exemption contained in FRS 
102 and has not disclosed transactions or balances with 
entities which form part of the Group who are wholly owned 
subsidiaries, except as required by the Accounting Direction 
for Private Providers of Registered Social Housing from 
January 2019. Disclosure requirements for transactions 
between regulated, and non-regulated, related party entities 
are provided in note 35.

Going concern
The Group undertakes a robust going concern assessment 
by reference to its most recent five-year Financial Plan. The 
Financial Plan considers the current economic environment, 
including the impact of the pandemic, the UK’s exit from the 
European Union (Brexit), and the Group’s future strategic 
plans. This includes considering the expected case in 
the Financial Plan and adverse stress tested scenarios. 
Different stress tests are based on: 

 • Bank of England Annual Cyclical Scenario which uses 
its published indices over a five-year scenario (including 
consumer prices, house prices and interest rates) and the 
Bank of England’s Disorderly Brexit Scenario, as these are 
considered the most relevant to the Group’s Financial Plan;

 • Other risks specific to the Financial Plan, including no 
outright or shared ownership sales, no other void or right 
to buy disposals, no profits from joint ventures, increases 
in rent arrears, caps on rental income and additional 
costs relating to building safety. 

The impact of the different stress tests are assessed 
against the operating surplus (interest cover) and liquidity 
(gearing) banking covenants of the Group. 

Across the different scenarios and stress tests, the 
Group remains compliant with all banking covenants 
and has sufficient liquidity throughout the going concern 
assessment period of at least 12 months after the date 
on which the financial statements are signed, without 
any management mitigation. In addition, the Group can 
manage its operations in such a way as to control and 
defer significant parts of its cash outflows with specific 
mitigations. These mitigations include; deferral of repairs 
expenditure, reduction in overheads on specific projects, 
reducing staffing costs, access to additional financing, and 
amendments to the development programme (comprising 
any combination of pausing, slowing or cancelling projects). 

Based on the robust going concern assessment, the 
Directors consider that the Group has adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future, being a period of at least 12 months after the date on 
which the financial statements are signed. For this reason, 
the Group continues to adopt the going concern basis in the 
financial statements. No material uncertainties exist.

Basis of consolidation
The Group is required by the Co-operative and Community 
Benefit Societies Act 2014 to prepare consolidated financial 
statements. Subsidiaries are all entities over which the 
Group has control. Subsidiaries are fully-consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. 
They are deconsolidated from the date the control ceases. 
Group entities are detailed within note 35 to the financial 
statements. Intra-group income and expenditure is included 
in turnover and operating costs on an arm’s length basis in 
the financial statements of the Association but is eliminated 
in producing the Groups’ consolidated financial statements.

Segmental reporting
Due to the Group having listed debt on the London Stock 
Exchange, it must apply International Reporting Standard 
8 – Operating Segments (IFRS 8). Segmental reporting is 
reported in the Group and Association’s financial statements 
in respect of the Group’s business segments, which are 
the primary basis of segmental reporting. The business 
segmental reporting reflects the Group’s management 
and internal reporting structure. Segmental results include 
items directly attributable to the segment, as well as those 
that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Segmental 

1. Group accounting policies

reporting is presented in note 2 to the Financial Statements. 
As the Group has no activities outside of the UK, segmental 
reporting is not required by geographical region.

The chief operating decision maker (CODM) has been 
identified as the Executive Leadership Team (ELT). The 
CODM reviews the Group’s internal reporting to assess 
performance and allocate resources. Management has 
determined the operating segments as the operating 
business, fire safety project, first tranche and outright sales, 
joint ventures, fixed asset sales and disposals and financing. 
Surplus on disposal of housing fixed asset sales, surplus on 
sale of investments and share of surplus of joint ventures 
are reported separately within operating surplus. These are 
also identified in note 3, and further disclosed information for 
these activities are in notes 7,8 and 9 respectively. Prior year 
figures have been represented to maintain consistency with 
the information reviewed by the CODM in the current year. 

Joint ventures
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the 
Group undertakes an economic activity that is subject to 
joint control with third parties and the parties have rights 
to the net assets of the arrangement. The Group’s interest 
in joint ventures is accounted for using the equity method 
of accounting. Under the equity method of accounting, the 
investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted 
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition profits or losses of the investee in surplus/
(deficit) for the year, and the Group’s share of movements 
in other comprehensive income of the investee in other 
comprehensive income. Within individual entities, 
these joint ventures are recognised as investments and 
accounted for at cost. Dividends received or receivable 
from joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the 
carrying amount of the investment. Unrealised gains on 
transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are 
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in these 
entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated, unless the 
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the 
asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted 
investees have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Joint operations
A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties 
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 
the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to 
the arrangement. All attributable assets, liabilities, income 
and expenditure are included, on a proportionate basis, in 
the Group’s Consolidated Statement of Income and the 
Statement of Financial Position.

Turnover 
Turnover is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable and represents the amount 
receivable for goods supplied or services rendered net 
of recoverable value added taxes (VAT). The Group/
Association recognises income when: the significant risks 
and rewards have been transferred to the buyer; the Group/
Association retains no continuing involvement of or control 
over the goods; the amount of income can be measured 
reliably; it is probable that future economic benefits will 
flow to the entity; and when the specific criteria relating to 
the income have been met, as described below:

a. Rental and service charge income: is recognised on a 
receivable basis for the period the amounts are due in 
accordance with tenancy and/or lease agreements 

b. Management fees: are recognised on a receivable 
basis as management services are provided; income 
is recognised through unitary charges from local 
authorities, based on performance against the agreed 
contractual framework

c. First tranche shared ownership sales: are recognised  
on completion based on the proportion of equity sold  
of the property

d. Outright property sales: are recognised on completion

e. Revenue grants: are grants receivable from local 
authorities and other organisations. Grants in respect 
of revenue expenditure are credited to the income 
statement using the performance model in the same 
period as the expenditure to which they relate

f. Grant amortisation: grant associated with housing 
properties is amortised to turnover over the useful 
economic life of the structure and components of  
those properties

g. Construction contracts: where one entity within the 
Association is building properties for another, income in 
relation to these properties is recognised once the total 
development is completed, only if the decision-making is 
with the entity building the properties.

Distribution of reserves
Distribution of reserves is recognised on a receivable basis 
in the period the distribution relates and was declared.

Interest
Interest payable and interest receivable is recognised on a 
payable or receivable basis in the period the interest relates 
to respectively.
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Housing properties
Housing properties are measured using the cost model 
and comprise their purchase price, together with directly 
attributable costs in bringing them into working condition 
for their intended use. The directly attributable costs 
include the labour costs of Hyde employees arising directly 
from the construction or acquisition of the property and 
the incremental costs that would have been avoided, only if 
individual properties had not been constructed or acquired. 
Interest is capitalised on specific and general borrowings 
of the Group/Association as a whole, calculated on the 
net costs incurred during the period of development. 
Improvements are capitalised only when they result in an 
increase in the net rental income, such as a direct increase 
in rental income or a reduction in future maintenance 
costs, and when there is a significant extension of the 
useful economic life of the property. All other improvement 
expenditure is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income account when incurred. 

The Group/Association operates a component accounting 
policy in relation to the capitalisation and depreciation of its 
completed housing property portfolio. Housing properties 
where the Group/Association has the responsibility 
for maintaining and replacing a component are split 
between their land and structure costs and seven major 
components, each having their own periodic replacement. 
Where the Group/Association does not have responsibility 
for maintaining and replacing components, properties are 
split between land and build only. Depreciation on shared 
ownership housing properties is charged on a straight 
line basis over their expected useful economic lives. 
Depreciation of freehold housing properties is charged 
so as to write down their cost to their residual value on a 
straight line basis over their expected useful economic 
lives on the following basis:

 
 Component Useful economic life (years)

Land Not depreciated

Structure 100

Roof 60

Heating (excluding boiler) 30

Boiler 15

Windows and doors 30

Electrical wiring 40

Bathroom 30

Kitchen 20

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Where opportunities for the swapping of housing 
properties with other housing associations arise, 
the outgoing items are treated as a disposal with the 
recognition of a surplus/deficit.

Housing property component allocation
Components are recognised for housing properties, 
detailed in the accounting policies above. Where specific 
information on component splits is not available, the NHF 
National Matrix of Property Components is applied. 

Stock transfers
Stock transfers represent the net costs of developing 
properties owned by local authorities but currently 
managed by the Group/Association. The net cost of 
developing the properties is shown as a long term debtor. 
The long term debtor is amortised over the life of the 
management contract with the local authority.

Social Housing Grant and other government 
grants or financial assistance
Social Housing Grant (SHG) and other capital grants are 
held in creditors using the accruals model under FRS 
102. Grants are recognised over the useful economic life 
of the related housing properties and amortised to the 
statement of comprehensive income up to a period of 100 
years. The amount due to be amortised to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income in the next year is held within 
creditors due within one year. The remaining balance is 
held within creditors due greater than one year. Certain 
developments are funded by other capital grants. These 
grants are dealt with in a similar manner to SHG. Where 
grants are receivable for the development programme 
in arrears, the amounts not yet received are held within 
debtors. Where grants are repayable and the associated 
asset is sold, the entire grant, including the portion of the 
grant previously amortised to income, is held within the 
recycled capital grant fund or the disposal proceeds fund 
within creditors, until it is recycled or repaid to the issuer 
where applicable. Where grants are not repayable and the 
associated asset is sold, the unamortised portion of the 
grant is recognised in income.

Operating leases
The Group/Association treats operating leases as follows:

a. As a lessee: operating lease expenditure is charged 
on a straight line basis over the lease term to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income

b. As a lessor: operating lease income is recognised in 
turnover on a receivable basis over the lease term. This 
includes rental income from the Group/Association’s 
portfolio of social and non-social housing properties 
and income from the sublet of office properties, 
including investment properties (note 16).

Shared ownership
First tranche sales are included within turnover and the 
related proportion of the cost of the asset recognised as 
operating costs. The costs relating to expected future first 
tranche sales in respect of shared ownership properties 
are transferred from housing properties under construction 
in fixed assets to inventories. The remaining element 
of shared ownership schemes are included in housing 
properties within fixed assets. Lessees have the right to 
acquire further tranches and any surplus or deficit on such 
subsequent tranches is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income as a part disposal of a fixed asset.

Other fixed assets
Other fixed assets are measured using the cost model and 
comprise their purchase price, together with any directly 
attributable costs in bringing them into working condition 
for their intended use. Fixed assets are depreciated each 
month from the purchase date. Other fixed assets are held 
at cost and depreciated on the following basis.

Category Useful economic life (years)

Freehold premises 100 

Leasehold premises Life of the lease

Furniture and equipment:

Solar panel components 25

Solar panel power inverters 12

Furniture 6

Computer hardware 3-5

Motor vehicles 4

Intangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets are computer and network 
software, and associated implementation and incremental 
costs, depreciated over five to 10 years, representing 
management’s judgement of the estimated useful 
economic life of the assets.

Investment properties
Investment properties represent properties of the Group/
Association which are held for long-term investment 
rather than social benefit. This includes properties held for 
commercial rental income, such as offices and shops that 
are not community facilities, and market rental income. 
Investment properties are initially recognised at cost which 
includes purchase cost and any attributable expenditure. 
Investment properties are subsequently measured at fair 
value at each yearend with any surplus/(deficit) recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Investment 
properties are valued by an independent valuer with relevant 
qualifications. The surplus on disposal of investment 
properties is recognised within operating surplus.

Other investments
Other investments held are measured at fair value at each 
yearend, see note 21 for further details. Investment in 
subsidiaries and related undertakings in Association are 
measured at cost less provision for diminution in value.

Easybuy loans
Easybuy loans are included within investments as these 
are held for capital appreciation. Easybuy loans are loans 
the Group/Association has entered into on outright sale 
properties, which are repayable at market value. They are 
valued by calculating the future likely amount to be received 
based on discounted cash flow of predicted redemption 
value. Any disposals are recognised within operating 
surplus under surplus on sale of other investments.

Inventories 
Inventories includes properties developed for resale and 
first tranche shared ownership properties. Inventories 
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value 
(estimated selling price less costs to sell). Costs related 
to sold inventories are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which the related revenue is recognised. For repair 
materials, cost is determined on a ‘first in, first out’ basis. 
Cost includes the purchase price plus expenditure directly 
attributable to bring the item to its present condition. 

The first tranche element of the shared ownership property 
is calculated based on the average experience of first 
tranche sales proportions. Once the shared ownership 
property is available for sale, the proportion in inventories is 
based on the market value expectations for that property.
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Impairment
Housing properties: 

Housing properties are reviewed for impairment if there is 
an indication that impairment may have occurred. Where 
there is evidence of impairment, housing properties are 
written down to their recoverable amount (value in use). 
Any such write down is charged to operating surplus.

Impairment is performed by cash generating unit. The 
Group/Association defines a cash generating unit as a 
scheme within housing properties. A scheme is defined 
as all units within one area or estate and tenure. 

Impairment is assessed by establishing the value in 
use of the housing properties. Where a cash generating 
asset is held for its service potential, and that service 
potential continues to be met, no impairment is charged.  
Where there is an indication that the service potential 
cannot be met, impairment is charged to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. Further details are provided 
in the accounting policy note Significant accounting 
judgements and estimation uncertainty (p142).

Other fixed assets

Other fixed assets are reviewed for impairment if there is 
an indication that impairment may have occurred. Where 
there is evidence of impairment, they are written down 
to their recoverable amount. Any such write down is 
charged to operating surplus. 

Inventories

At the end of reporting period, an impairment review is 
undertaken, where an assessment of the recoverable 
amount is made, comparing carrying costs to net 
realisable value less selling costs. If an item of 
inventory is impaired, the carrying value of the item 
is reduced and an impairment charge is recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Where a 
reversal of the impairment is required, the impairment 
charge is reversed up to the original impairment loss 
and is recognised as a credit to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. Impairment of inventories is 
assessed at the scheme level.

Concessionary arrangements
The Group has a number of arrangements in place 
whereby it has performed works to properties or 
manages properties on behalf of others and receives 
fees for doing so. These arrangements include:

 • Islington PFI: The Association provides 
management services for the London Borough of 
Islington and receives management fees

 • Hillside PFI: Hillside Housing Trust Limited, a 
Group subsidiary, provides management services 
for the London Borough of Brent and receives 
management fees

 • Brent PFI: Brent Co-efficient Limited, a Group 
subsidiary, has built units for the use of the London 
Borough of Brent over 30 years. The Association 
manages these properties and ownership will transfer 
to the Association at the end of the agreement.

The associated turnover and costs from these 
arrangements are recognised within turnover and 
operating costs allocated to the specific tenure type of 
the properties managed.

Taxation
The Group/Association has charitable status and 
therefore is not subject to Corporation Tax on the surplus 
arising from charitable activities. Provision is made 
for the tax liabilities which may arise when property is 
developed for commercial outright sale or private rent. 
Tax is chargeable on the activities of certain subsidiaries 
and a provision is made for any tax payable. This is only 
when the profits cannot be distributed via Gift Aid to the 
parent, Hyde Housing Association Limited. Deferred tax 
is recognised without discounting in respect of all timing 
differences between the treatment of certain items for 
taxation and accounting purposes which have arisen but 
not reversed by the Statement of Financial Position date 
except as otherwise required by FRS 102. 

Deferred tax asset or liability on unrealised fair value 
gains/(losses) on derivative financial instruments is not 
recognised by applying the disregard regulations.

Service charges
The Group operates both fixed and variable service 
charges on a scheme-by-scheme basis in full 
consultation with customers. The service charges on all 
schemes are charged based on budgets. Where variable 
service charges are used, the budget will include an 
allowance for the surplus or deficit from prior years, with 
this surplus being returned to customers in the form of a 
reduced charge for the year and a deficit being recovered 
via a higher service charge (or by alternative methods if 
the contract allows). Until these surpluses/deficits are 
applied, they are identified separately for each property 
and reported in the Statement of Financial Position as a 
creditors or debtors due within one year, as appropriate.

Restricted reserve
The restricted reserve relates to restricted funds held in 
relation to Hyde Housing Association Limited, Hillside 
Housing Trust Limited and Hyde Charitable Trust 
Limited. These funds can only be spent on building 
social properties within the London Borough of Brent or 
on charitable activities within related schemes.

Cash flow hedge reserve
The cash flow hedge reserve includes the value of hedged 
financial instruments on historical transition to FRS 102 
and any subsequent movement in hedged derivatives.

Cash flow statement
The Association has taken advantage of the exemptions 
under FRS 102 and has not prepared a cash flow statement. 

Cash 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, 
deposits held at call with banks and other short term 
liquid investments with maturity of three months or 
lower. Bank overdrafts, where applicable, are shown 
within borrowings in current liabilities and within the 
statement of cash flows.

Pension schemes
The Group/Association operates/participates in five 
defined benefit schemes: the Hyde Housing Association 
Limited Defined Benefit Scheme, the Pension Trust 
Social Housing Pension Defined Benefit Scheme, the 
London Borough of Lambeth Pension Fund Scheme, 
the West Sussex Pension Scheme and the Kent County 
Council Pension Fund. These schemes are not open to 
new entrants.

In addition, the Group/Association also operates 
a defined contribution scheme, the Hyde Housing 
Association Limited Defined Contribution Scheme. 

Hyde Housing Association Limited Defined Benefit 
Scheme, the London Borough of Lambeth Pension 
Fund Scheme, Kent County Council Pension Fund and 
the West Sussex Pension Scheme

 • In accordance with the requirements of FRS 102, 
the costs are accounted for when committed, 
regardless of when the benefits are deliverable. The 
financial statements reflect, at fair value, the assets 
and liabilities arising from the Group/Association’s 
retirement obligations

 • The operating costs of providing retirement benefits to 
employees are recognised in the accounting period(s) 
in which the benefits are earned by the employees. 
The related finance costs and any other charges in 
value of the assets and liabilities are recognised in the 
accounting periods in which they arise

 • The financial statements disclose the cost of 
providing retirement benefits and related gains, 
losses, assets and liabilities. The attributable assets 
of the schemes are measured, at their fair value, at the 
Statement of Financial Position date, and are shown 
net of attributable scheme liabilities.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from any new valuation, 
and from updating the latest actuarial valuation to reflect 
conditions at the Statement of Financial Position date, 
are recognised in Other Comprehensive Income for the 
year. For all pension schemes, current service costs are 
included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income within 
operating costs.

Losses arising on a settlement or curtailment not allowed 
for in the actuarial assumptions are measured at the date 
on which the Group/Association becomes demonstrably 
committed to the transaction and are recognised in the 
operating costs at that date. Gains arising on a settlement 
or curtailment not allowed for in the actuarial assumptions 
are measured at the date on which all parties whose 
consent is required are irrevocably committed to the 
transaction and are recognised in the operating costs at 
that date. During the year, the Group exited the London 
Borough of Lambeth Pension Fund Scheme, Kent County 
Council Pension Fund. See note 37 for further details.

Any surplus is recognised where permitted in accordance 
with the terms of the respective pension scheme.

Pension Trust Social Housing Pensions Scheme (SHPS)

The SHPS scheme is a multi-employer defined benefit 
pension scheme. However, historically, sufficient 
information has not been available from the scheme 
administrator to use defined benefit accounting. This 
has meant the Group/Association had entered into an 
agreement with the administrators that determined 
how the entity will fund a deficit and had recognised a 
liability based on discounted future cash flows using 
an actuarial valuation tool. This liability was included 
within creditors. In the last financial year sufficient 
information was made available by the Pensions Trust 
Retirement Solutions (TPT). The difference between 
the deficit funding agreement recognised previously for 
SHPS and the net defined benefit deficit was recognised 
within Other Comprehensive Income and defined benefit 
accounting was applied in the prior year.

Hyde Housing Association Limited Defined 
Contribution Scheme

Employees have the option to join the Hyde defined 
contribution scheme, to which the Association makes 
a contribution of up to 10%. The contributions are 
recognised as they fall due.
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Financial instruments
The Group/Association has made an accounting policy 
choice to continue to measure and recognise financial 
instruments in accordance with IAS 39 - Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, as is 
permitted by FRS 102 and to follow the disclosure 
requirements of FRS 102.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
on the Group/Association’s Statement of Financial 
Position, when the Group/Association becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Treasury management/derivatives

To manage interest rate risk, the Group/Association 
manages its proportion of fixed to variable rate 
borrowings within approved limits and, where 
appropriate, uses interest rate swap agreements. 
Amounts payable or receivable in respect of these 
agreements are recognised as adjustments to interest 
expense over the period of the agreement.

Financial assets

The Group/Association measures financial assets 
on initial recognition at fair value and determines the 
classification of such assets at initial recognition and on 
any subsequent reclassification event. Financial assets 
are classified into one of four primary categories:

 • Financial assets at fair value through the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income: these are derivative 
assets, other than those that are designated as 
hedging instruments and assets acquired principally 
for the purpose of selling in the near term. They 
are initially measured at fair value, excluding 
transaction costs. At each Statement of Financial 
Position date, they are re-measured at fair value. 
Any change in value is recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income within interest payable 
or receivable, unless hedge accounting is effective, 
in which case movements are treated as described 
in the hedge accounting section below. If the hedge 
relationship is deemed to not be effective, or if 
there is partial ineffectiveness, changes in fair value 
ineffectiveness is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. Investments owned by Hyde 
Charitable Trust, one of the Group subsidiaries, are 
stated at fair value.

 • Loans and receivables: this includes non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market and have 
not been designated as either fair value through the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income or available 
for sale. Such assets are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. They are 
measured on this basis whether they are intended 
to be held-to-maturity or not. Gains and losses are 

recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income when loans and receivables are derecognised 
or impaired as well as through amortisation.

 • Held to maturity investments: non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
and fixed maturity are classified here when the 
Group/Association has the positive intention and 
ability to hold to maturity. These are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Gains and losses are recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income when held to maturity 
investments are derecognised or impaired as well as 
through amortisation.

 • Available for sale financial assets: available for 
sale financial assets are non-derivative financial 
assets that are designated as such, or that are not 
classified in any of the other categories. These 
are held at fair value, with gains or losses being 
recognised as a separate component of equity 
until the asset is derecognised or is determined to 
be impaired, at which time the previously reported 
cumulative gain or loss is included in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. If there is no active 
market for a financial asset and it is not appropriate 
to determine fair value using valuation techniques, 
financial assets are carried at amortised cost.

Impairment of financial assets

All financial assets are reviewed for indicators of 
impairment at each reporting date. Such indicators 
include default in contractual payments, significant 
financial difficulties of the issuer or debtor, probability of 
bankruptcy, or prolonged or significant decline in quoted 
market price. An impairment loss is recognised in the 
income statement when there is objective evidence that 
an asset is impaired.

The impairment loss on loans and receivables, which are 
measured at amortised cost, is the difference between 
the carrying amount of the asset and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial 
asset’s original effective interest rate. Impairment 
provisions for rental arrears are calculated based 
on average collection rates and the aging of arrears. 
Further details are provided in the accounting policy 
note Significant accounting judgements and estimation 
uncertainty (p142). 

When an impairment loss is identified on an available-
for-sale financial asset, the cumulative losses previously 
recognised directly in equity are recorded in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. The loss recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income is the 
difference between the acquisition cost (net of principal 
repayment and amortisation) and the fair value at the 
time of impairment, less any impairment loss previously 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The impairment loss on investments in companies that 
are not quoted in an active market and are measured at 
cost is the difference between the carrying amount of the 
investment and the present value of its estimated future 
cash flows, discounted at the current market interest rate 
for similar financial assets. Impairment losses in respect 
of loans are recognised under operating costs in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Impairment losses 
in respect of trade receivables are recognised under 
operating expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.

Impairment losses on investments in companies that 
are not quoted in an active market and are measured at 
cost, and on equity instruments classified as available-
for-sale financial assets, cannot be reversed through the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Financial liabilities

The Group/Association determines the classification 
of financial liabilities at initial recognition and on any 
subsequent reclassification event. Financial liabilities 
are classified into one of two primary categories:

 • Financial liabilities at fair value through Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. These are derivative 
liabilities, other than those that are designated within 
cash flow hedge relationships. These are initially 
measured at fair value, not including transaction 
costs. At each Statement of Financial Position date, 
they are re-measured at fair value. Any change in value 
is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income within interest payable or receivable. Where 
hedge relationships are effective, movements are 
treated as described in the hedge accounting section. 
If the hedge relationship is deemed to not be effective, 
or if there is partial ineffectiveness, changes in fair 
value/ineffectiveness would be recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Discounted 
bonds are shown at their redemption value plus or 
minus the issue premium or discount, which is written 
off through the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
on an annuity basis over the life of the bond

 • Other financial liabilities are held at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate. This includes loans and 
borrowings, overdrafts and trade payables. Borrowings 
will include accrued un-amortised issue costs.

Embedded derivatives

Embedded derivatives are identified at inception of a 
new loans by reference to the host contract. Derivatives 
embedded in host contracts are held at amortised cost, 
provided their economic characteristics and risks are 
closely related to those of the host contract and the 
host contract itself is not carried at fair value through 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Derivatives 
embedded in host contracts are treated as separate 
derivatives when their economic characteristics are 
not closely related to those of the host contract and 
the host contract is not carried at fair value through the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. These remaining 
embedded derivatives are measured at fair value, with 
changes in fair value recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

Hedge accounting

During the current financial year, there were no derivative 
financial instruments subject to hedge accounting. 

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, any 
cumulative gains or loss existing in reserves at that 
time remain in reserve and are amortised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
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Significant accounting judgements  
and estimation uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements requires 
management to make judgements and estimates  
that affect the application of accounting policies and 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income  
and expenses.

Judgements

Judgements are those management has made in 
applying the Group’s accounting policies that have the 
most significant effect on the amounts recognised. 
The most significant judgements are:

 • Gift aid payments: Where gift aid distributions are 
expected to be made within the relevant period 
of the next financial year end for tax purposes, 
management consider that such payments are 
probable. As a result, the income tax effects of any 
such gift aid distributions are accounted for during 
the year and no deferred tax liabilities with respect to 
gift aid payments are recognised

 • Impairment of housing properties: For the 
purposes of measuring recoverable amount, the 
Group determines that a cash generating unit 
is each housing property scheme, as this is the 
level for which housing properties are managed 
and has identifiable cash flows that are largely 
independent of other assets. If an impairment 
indicator is identified, management’s judgement 
is that Depreciated Replacement Cost is the 
most appropriate basis to measure value in use 
– service potential. During the year there have 
been no indicators of impairment with respect 
to housing properties. As a result, there is no 
estimation uncertainty with respect to measuring the 
recoverable amount of any housing property cash 
generating units (see note 16)

 • Housing property and inventory allocation: Where 
schemes under construction are mixed tenure, 
management’s judgement is to apply a suitable 
method such as tenure mix, area (square footage) or 
rental yield, depending on the stage of development, 
to allocate costs between tenures. The allocation 
of the cost of shared ownership schemes under 
construction between inventories and housing 
properties is determined by management’s most 
recent scheme appraisals and past experience of 
first tranche sales (see note 16 and 23)

 • Fire provisions: The fire provision requires 
judgement to be made as to whether a constructive 
or legal obligation exists in recognising a provision. 
Management makes judgements on a scheme by 
scheme basis taking into consideration the specific 
facts and circumstances of each scheme (see note 
31). The key judgements applied are:

 • Construction obligation: Where the Group has 
made specific communications to customers 
that raises a valid expectation that certain 
works will be undertaken, a provision will be 
recognised. 

 • Legal obligation: A provision will be recognised 
where it is judged not to be reasonably practical 
or possible to avoid undertaking certain works.

During the year, provisions are based on 
constructive obligations as a result of resident 
forums and/or direct correspondence to  
residents, where the Group communicated specific 
remedial works required and the timelines that 
such works would be undertaken. Aside from those 
schemes and properties where a constructive 
obligation exists and the Group is responsible to 
undertake any works, no legal obligations were 
triggered for any additional schemes or properties. 
Provisions are calculated based on the cost of 
remedial works to be undertaken. During the year, 
the provisions were calculated using contracts in 
place, survey reports from employers’ agents, and 
active tender documents. There are no significant 
estimation techniques used in calculating the value 
of provisions. 
In accordance with FRS 102 paragraph 21.9, any 
pending claims from contractors or government 
grants are excluded from the calculation of 
provisions. These are only recognised when 
reimbursement is virtually certain. There are no such 
assets recognised at the year end
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Estimation uncertainty

Estimates are those which contain key assumptions 
concerning the future, and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the year end, that have a risk 
of causing adjustments to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year. The 
key estimation techniques are as follows

 • Rent arrears provisions: Provisions for rent arrears are 
calculated based on the forecast economic situation 
and the potential impact on the Group’s customers 
and their ability/likelihood to repay existing debt using 
historical information such as age of arrears and 
collection rates achieved. Management categorises 
tenants as current or former tenants, applying a risk 
based criteria to determine the appropriate provision 
rate (see note 24 for further details)

 • Pensions The Group has obligations to pay pension 
benefits to current and certain former employees. 
The cost of these benefits and the present value 
of the obligation depend on a number of factors 
including life expectancy, salary increases, asset 
valuations and the discount rate on corporate 
bonds. Management estimates these factors, using 
qualified actuaries, in determining the net pension 
obligation in the balance sheet (see note 37)

 • Derivative financial instruments held at fair value: 
The fair values are determined based on counterparty 
estimates or as determined by third party valuers 
based on available market data and inputs. 
Management considers variations to the estimates of 
the short term financial assets and liabilities valuation 
do not have the risk of causing material adjustments 
to their carrying amounts (see note 38).
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2. Group segmental reporting

Segmental reporting is presented via six segments following the format presented to the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM). 

These are: operating business (rental business and central overheads); costs and income associated with fire-related safety works; first tranche 
and outright sales; joint ventures; fixed asset and investment properties sales and disposals; and financing operations. Asset and liabilities per 
segment are not disclosed, as they are not presented to the CODM.

Operating 
business

2021
£’000

Fixed asset 
sales and 
disposals 

2021
£’000

First tranche 
and outright 

sales
2021

£’000

Joint  
ventures 

2021
£’000

Fire 
safety 
works 
2021

£’000

Net financing
 & other income/

(expenditure) 
2021

£’000

Total
 
 

2021
£’000

Turnover 272,648 139,711 79,825 21,856 12,944 - 526,984

Operating costs (187,275) - (2,993) (18,349) (12,650) - (221,267)

Cost of sales - (97,976) (66,523) (1,873) - - (166,372)

Gross operating surplus 85,373 41,735 10,309 1,634 294 - 139,345

Net Financing costs - - - - - (51,768) (51,768)

Break costs - - - - - (154,942) (154,942)

Pension interest cost - - - - - (127) (127)

Taxation - - - - - 162 162

Total surplus/(deficit) – before fair value adjustments 85,373 41,735 10,309 1,634 294 (206,675) (67,330)

Fair value movement in investment properties - - - - - 525 525

Fair value movement in investments - - - - - 1,438 1,438

Fair value movement in derivatives - - - - - 42,812 42,812

Total surplus/(deficit) 85,373 41,735 10,309 1,634 294 (161,900) (22,555)

Operating 
business

2020
£’000

Fixed asset 
sales and 
disposals 

2020
£’000

First tranche 
and outright 

sales
2020

£’000

Joint  
ventures 

2020
£’000

Fire 
safety 
works 
2020

£’000

Net financing
 & other income/

(expenditure) 
2020

£’000

Total
 
 

2020
£’000

Turnover 265,645 237,148 98,740 44,027 - - 645,560

Operating costs (181,080) - (3,119) (1,763) (20,244) - (206,206)

Cost of sales - (122,578) (87,012) (28,784) - - (238,374)

Adjusted gross operating surplus 84,565 114,570 8,609 13,480 (20,244) - 200,980

Adjustments (16,008) - (9,513) - - - (25,521)

Gross operating surplus 68,557 114,570 (904) 13,480 (20,244) - 175,459

Net Financing costs - - - - - (59,916) (59,916)

Break costs - - - - - - -

Pension interest cost - - - - - (429) (429)

Taxation - - - - - (125) (125)

Total surplus/(deficit) – before fair value adjustments 68,557 114,570 (904) 13,480 (20,244) (60,470) 114,989

Fair value movement in investment properties - - - - - 1,246 1,246

Fair value movement in investments - - - - - (637) (637)

Total surplus/(deficit) – before the effects of derivatives 68,557 114,570 (904) 13,480 (20,244) (59,861) 115,598

Fair value movement in derivatives - - - - - (30,336) (30,336)

Total surplus/(deficit) 68,557 114,570 (904) 13,480 (20,244) (90,197) 85,262

2. Group segmental reporting (continued)
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3. Group particulars of turnover, operating expenditure  
and operating surplus/(deficit)

Notes

Turnover 
 

2021
£’000

Cost of 
sales 

2021
£’000

Operating 
expenditure 

2021
£’000

Operating 
surplus/
(deficit) 

2021
£’000

Turnover 
 

2020
£’000

Cost of 
sales 

2020
£’000

Operating 
expenditure 

2020
£’000

Operating 
surplus/
(deficit) 

2020
£’000

Social housing lettings 4 253,108 - (160,628) 92,480 248,157 - (165,005) 83,152

Other social housing activities:

Shared ownership first tranche sales 20,634 (16,969) (1,876) 1,789 16,353 (13,322) (548) 2,483

Impairment of housing properties - - - - - - (3,009) (3,009)

Impairment on shared  
ownership inventory - - - - - (347) - (347)

Fire safety 12,944 - (12,650) 294 - - (20,244) (20,244)

Hyde Foundation 172 - (3,148) (2,976) 564 - (2,327) (1,763)

Other, including management activities 5,311 - (9,106) (3,795) 4,963 - (13,145) (8,182)

Non-social housing activities:

Outright property sales 59,191 (49,554) (1,118) 8,519 82,387 (73,689) (2,571) 6,127

Leaseholders and freeholders 11,672 - (13,341) (1,669) 9,723 - (12,636) (2,913)

Commercial 624 - (373) 251 1,628 - (478) 1,150

Management agent activity 99 - (62) 37 - - - -

Market rent 1,662 - (615) 1,047 610 - (489) 121

Impairment of inventory - - - - - (9,166) - (9,166)

365,417 (66,523) (202,917) 95,977 364,385 (96,524) (220,452) 47,409

Surplus on disposal of  
housing fixed assets 7 - - - 41,740 - - - 111,264

(Loss)/Surplus investment  
properties sales 8 - - - (6) - - - 3,306

Share of operating surplus  
in joint ventures 9 - - - 1,634 - - - 13,480

Operating surplus - - - 139,345 - - - 175,459

Notes

Turnover 
 

2021
£’000

Cost of 
sales 

2021
£’000

Operating 
expenditure 

2021
£’000

Operating 
surplus/
(deficit) 

2021
£’000

Turnover 
 

2020
£’000

Cost of 
sales 

2020
£’000

Operating 
expenditure 

2020
£’000

Operating 
surplus/
(deficit) 

2020
£’000

Social housing lettings 4 182,856 - (121,228) 61,628 179,910 - (125,346) 54,564

Other social housing activities:

Shared ownership first tranche sales 20,634 (17,361) (1,876) 1,397 16,062 (13,432) (440) 2,190

Impairment on housing properties - - - - - - (3,010) (3,010)

Impairment on shared  
ownership inventory - - - - - - (347) (347)

Fire safety 12,944 - (11,507) 1,437 2,739 - (17,585) (14,846)

Management contracts 5,025 - (13,336) (8,311) - - - -

Hyde foundation 140 - (1,667) (1,527) 331 - (2,041) (1,710)

Other management activities - - - - 4,613 - (12,869) (8,256)

Non-social housing activities:

Leaseholders and freeholders 9,094 - (10,536) (1,442) 7,298 - (9,849) (2,551)

Intercompany sale 1,242 (1,080) - 162 - - - -

Commercial 739 - (390) 349 672 - (318) 354

Market rent 624 - (373) 251 610 - (489) 121

233,298 (18,441) (160,913) 53,944 212,235 (13,432) (172,294) 26,509

Surplus on disposal of housing assets 7 - - - 41,712 - - - 109,478

Surplus on sale of investment properties 8 - - - (6) - - - 915

Operating surplus - - - 95,650 - - - 136,902

Other management activities include ancillary income, and mainly include central support costs, development overheads, customer 
overheads and mortgage rescue activities.

3. Association particulars of turnover, operating expenditure 
and operating surplus/(deficit)

Other management activities include ancillary income, and mainly include central support costs, development overheads, customer 
overheads and mortgage rescue activities. 
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4. Group particulars of comprehensive  
income from social housing lettings

As at 31 March 2021
General 

needs 
Affordable 

rental tenure
Supported 

housing 
Older people 

schemes 
Shared 

ownership 
Intermediate 

market rent 
Other Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Rent receivable net  
of service charges 145,759 22,376 5,830 6,768 16,327 6,159 31 203,250

Service charges receivable 13,170 1,218 1,024 2,920 4,673 541 - 23,546

Net rental income 158,929 23,594 6,854 9,688 21,000 6,700 31 226,796

Management fee income 13,636 - 233 - 323 11 5 14,208

Revenue grants 101 - - 4 - - - 105

Amortisation of grant funding 8,053 706 828 211 2,045 153 3 11,999

Turnover from  
social housing lettings 180,719 24,300 7,915 9,903 23,368 6,864 39 253,108

Service charge costs (13,131) (1,218) (1,762) (2,753) (5,462) (542) (15) (24,883)

Management (39,955) (4,165) (2,623) (3,289) (1,962) (538) 190 (52,342)

Routine maintenance (20,185) (2,412) (1,152) (1,241) (33) (871) (3) (25,897)

Planned maintenance (11,927) (1,786) (1,078) (834) (317) (584) (1) (16,527)

Major repairs expenditure (1,424) (54) (74) (88) (701) (28) (4) (2,373)

Property lease charges - - (84) - - - (10) (94)

Bad debts (3,072) 1,425 279 123 179 254 28 (784)

Depreciation of housing properties (29,785) (4,392) (1,693) (798) (72) (973) (15) (37,728)

Operating costs on  
social housing lettings (119,479) (12,602) (8,187) (8,880) (8,368) (3,282) 170 (160,628)

Operating surplus/(deficit)  
on social housing lettings 61,240 11,698 (272) 1,022 15,000 3,582 210 92,480

Void losses (being rented  
income lost as a result of the 
property not being let although  
it is available for letting)

(578) (114) (36) (169) (11) (168) - (1,076)

As at 31 March 2020
General 

needs 
Affordable 

rental tenure
Supported 

housing 
Older people 

schemes 
Shared 

ownership 
Intermediate 

market rent 
Other Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Rent receivable net  
of service charges 146,969 20,636 7,052 5,832 15,736 6,256 25 202,506

Service charges receivable 11,143 1,300 1,597 1,916 4,313 585 - 20,854

Net rental income 158,112 21,936 8,649 7,748 20,049 6,841 25 223,360

Management fee income 8,917 - 182 - (1) 2,020 1,163 12,281

Revenue grants 104 15 - 12 - - - 131

Amortisation of grant funding 8,294 700 910 211 2,108 160 2 12,385

Turnover from  
social housing lettings 175,427 22,651 9,741 7,971 22,156 9,021 1,190 248,157

Service charge costs (13,306) (1,324) (2,342) (2,424) (4,660) (585) (9) (24,650)

Management (36,526) (3,677) (3,595) (2,871) (1,731) (1,653) (560) (50,613)

Routine maintenance (20,346) (1,963) (1,447) (1,113) (33) (832) (19) (25,753)

Planned maintenance (13,627) (1,732) (1,377) (637) (171) (443) (3) (17,990)

Major repairs expenditure (1,127) (54) 219 (48) (347) (47) - (1,404)

Property lease charges (5) - (75) - - - (8) (88)

Bad debts (5,945) (1,012) (122) (153) (382) (88) 4 (7,698)

Depreciation of housing properties (29,286) (4,139) (1,714) (824) (74) (756) (16) (36,809)

Operating costs on  
social housing lettings (120,168) (13,901) (10,453) (8,070) (7,398) (4,404) (611) (165,005)

Operating surplus/(deficit)  
on social housing lettings 55,259 8,750 (712) (99) 14,758 4,617 579 83,152

Void losses (being rented  
income lost as a result of the 
property not being let although  
it is available for letting)

(538) (2) (64) (90) - (126) - (820)

4. Group particulars of comprehensive  
income from social housing lettings (continued)

Depreciation of housing properties includes the amortisation of stock transfer debtor of £619k. Depreciation of housing properties includes the amortisation of stock transfer debtor of £633k.
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4. Association particulars of comprehensive  
income from social housing lettings

4. Association particulars of comprehensive  
income from social housing lettings (continued)

As at 31 March 2021
General 

needs 
Affordable 

rental tenure
Supported 

housing 
Older people 

schemes 
Shared 

ownership 
Intermediate 

market rent 
Other Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Rent receivable net  
of service charges 94,110 19,984 5,684 4,642 15,283 5,818 32 145,553

Service charges receivable 9,551 1,101 945 2,172 4,386 523 - 18,678

Net rental income 103,661 21,085 6,629 6,814 19,669 6,341 32 164,231

Management fee income 5,752 - 234 - 322 775 358 7,441

Revenue grants 20 - - - - - - 20

Amortisation of grant funding 7,482 565 825 164 1,979 148 1 11,165

Turnover from  
social housing lettings 116,915 21,650 7,688 6,978 21,970 7,264 391 182,856

Service charge costs (9,117) (1,101) (1,704) (1,870) (5,239) (523) (15) (19,569)

Management (28,170) (3,910) (2,598) (2,559) (1,669) (1,270) (163) (40,339)

Routine maintenance (12,605) (2,195) (1,128) (896) (31) (833) (3) (17,691)

Planned maintenance (7,436) (1,584) (1,036) (451) (309) (554) (1) (11,371)

Major repairs expenditure (907) (44) (74) (49) (660) (27) (3) (1,764)

Property lease charges - - (84) - - - (10) (94)

Bad debts (2,769) 1,294 279 95 190 248 28 (634)

Depreciation of housing properties (22,796) (3,779) (1,669) (493) (90) (925) (13) (29,765)

Operating costs on  
social housing lettings (83,800) (11,319) (8,014) (6,223) (7,808) (3,884) (180) (121,228)

Operating surplus/(deficit)  
on social housing lettings 33,115 10,331 (326) 755 14,162 3,380 211 61,628

Void losses (being rented  
income lost as a result of the 
property not being let although  
it is available for letting)

(320) (103) (34) (118) (11) (157) - (743)

As at 31 March 2020
General 

needs 
Affordable 

rental tenure
Supported 

housing 
Older people 

schemes 
Shared 

ownership 
Intermediate 

market rent 
Other Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Rent receivable net  
of service charges 96,211 18,182 7,002 3,745 14,678 6,489 25 146,332

Service charges receivable 7,595 1,186 1,556 1,366 4,098 - - 15,801

Net rental income 103,806 19,368 8,558 5,111 18,776 6,489 25 162,133

Management fee income 4,944 - 182 - (1) 702 404 6,231

Revenue grants - 4 - - - - - 4

Amortisation of grant funding 7,723 567 907 164 2,026 154 1 11,542

Turnover from  
social housing lettings 116,473 19,939 9,647 5,275 20,801 7,345 430 179,910

Service charge costs (9,028) (1,210) (2,290) (1,537) (4,414) (564) (9) (19,052)

Management (27,257) (3,409) (3,556) (2,157) (1,651) (962) (181) (39,173)

Routine maintenance (13,265) (1,838) (1,436) (810) (33) (793) (20) (18,195)

Planned maintenance (8,959) (1,558) (1,359) (325) (163) (412) (3) (12,779)

Major repairs expenditure (1,046) (49) 220 (52) (337) (45) - (1,309)

Property lease charges (5) - (75) - - - (8) (88)

Bad debts (4,014) (885) (122) (117) (373) (86) 4 (5,593)

Depreciation of housing properties (22,575) (3,559) (1,689) (510) (82) (709) (33) (29,157)

Operating costs on  
social housing lettings (86,149) (12,508) (10,307) (5,508) (7,053) (3,571) (250) (125,346)

Operating surplus/(deficit)  
on social housing lettings 30,324 7,431 (660) (233) 13,748 3,774 180 54,564

Void losses (being rented  
income lost as a result of the 
property not being let although  
it is available for letting)

(338) (74) (64) (56) (1) (117) - (652)
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5. Group housing units 

As 
at 31 

March 
2020 

Units 
developed 

or newly 
built units 

acquired

Units 
sold/

demol-
ished

Transfers 
and acqui-

sitions (to)/
from other 

RPs

Other 
move-
ments

As 
at 31 

March 
2021

As 
at 31 

March 
2019 

Units 
developed 

or newly 
built units 

acquired

Units 
sold/

demol-
ished

Transfers 
and acqui-

sitions (to)/
from other 

RPs

Other 
move-
ments

As 
at 31 

March 
2020

Social housing  
units owned  
and/or managed

        

General needs 28,905  129 (176) (10) 14 28,862 29,909 38 (80) (819) (143) 28,905

Affordable  
rental tenure 2,676 84 (12) - 2 2,750 2,657 55 (1) (35) - 2,676

Supported housing 2,754 3 (86) - 3 2,674 2,674 - (29) (129) 238 2,754

Shared ownership 3,962 199 (112) - (7) 4,042 4,050 77 - (32) (133) 3,962

Care homes 190 - (43) - - 147 205 - - - (15) 190

Other social  
housing units 1,033 - - - (4) 1,029 1,074 - - - (41) 1,033

Total social housing 
units owned  
and/or managed 

39,520 415 (429) (10) 8 39,504 40,569 170 (110) (1,015) (94) 39,520

Total social housing 
units managed  
but not owned

4,779 372 - 44 (2) 5,193 4,773 2 - - (23) 4,779

Total social housing 
units owned 34,741 43 (429) (54) 10 34,311 33,246 168 (110) (1,015) (71) 34,741

Total social housing 
units owned  
but not managed

1,082 3 (120) - (13) 952 945 - (9) (32) 170 1,082

Total social housing 
units managed 38,438 412 (309) (10) 21 38,552 39,616 170 (101) (983) (264) 38,438

Total social units owned 
and/or managed 39,504 39,520

Leasehold and  
freehold units 9,144 8,694

Non-social rental  
housing units 73 73

Total units owned  
and/or managed  
as at 31 March

48,721 48,287

As 
at 31 

March 
2020 

Units 
developed 

or newly 
built units 

acquired

Units 
sold/

demol-
ished

Transfers 
and acqui-

sitions (to)/
from other 

RPs

Other 
move-
ments

As 
at 31 

March 
2021

As 
at 31 

March 
2019 

Units 
developed 

or newly 
built units 

acquired

Units 
sold/

demol-
ished

Transfers 
and acqui-

sitions (to)/
from other 

RPs

Other 
move-
ments

As 
at 31 

March 
2020

Social housing  
units owned  
and/or managed

    

General needs 20,448 129 (169) (10) 2 20,400 21,435 35 (79) (819) (124) 20,448

Affordable  
rental tenure 2,344 84 (12) - 1 2,417 2,336 55 (1) (35) (11) 2,344

Supported housing 2,275 3 (86) - (2) 2,190 2,225 - (29) (129) 208 2,275

Shared ownership 3,690 199 (112) - 1 3,778 3,760 77 - (32) (115) 3,690

Care homes 190 - (43) - - 147 203 - - - (13) 190

Other social  
housing units 996 (8) 988 992 - - - 4 996

Total social housing 
units owned  
and/or managed 

29,943 415 (422) (10) (6) 29,920 30,951 167 (109) (1,015) (51) 29,943

Total social housing 
units managed  
but not owned

4,448 372 - 44 (2) 4,862 4,477 2 - - (31) 4,448

Total social housing 
units owned 25,495 43 (422) (54) (4) 25,058 26,474 165 (109) (1,015) (20) 25,495

Total social housing 
units owned  
but not managed

1,046 3 (120) - (5) 924 953 - (9) (32) 134 1,046

Total social housing 
units managed 28,897 412 (302) (10) (1) 28,996 29,998 167 (100) (983) (185) 28,897

Total social units owned 
and/or managed 29,920         29,943

Leasehold and  
freehold units 7,341          6,792

Non-social rental  
housing units 73               73

Total units owned  
and/or managed  
as at 31 March

37,334        36,808

5. Association housing units



154   |   Consolidated report and financial statements | 31 March 2021 Consolidated report and financial statements | 31 March 2021   |   155 

6. Operating surplus

7. Surplus on disposal of housing fixed assets

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Operating surplus (all relating to continuing activities – included within 
operating costs) is stated after charging/(crediting):

Housing property depreciation 37,310 36,414 29,957 29,379

Other fixed assets depreciation 5,405 4,741 5,477 4,671

Amortisation of stock transfer debtor 619 633 - -

Impairment of housing properties (15) 3,009 - 3,009

Impairment of inventory - 9,414 347

Impairment of rental debtors (821) 7,896 (518) 5,727

Amortisation of grant funding (12,041) (12,429) (11,206) (11,587)

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 55 95 55 95

Operating lease charges 3,684 3,193 2,972 3,181

Auditors’ remuneration (excluding VAT and including expenses):

   As auditors of the financial statements 297 409 175 224

   Other services provided - 51 - -

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Right to buy and acquire

Proceeds 1,574 2,668 565 1,898

Cost of sales (820) (1,579) (216) (1,123)

Total surplus 754 1,089 349 775

Staircasing

Proceeds 19,568 18,854 18,832 18,560

Cost of sales (11,209) (10,188)  (10,776) (10,049)

Total surplus 8,359 8,666 8,056 8,511

Other disposals

Proceeds 118,561 200,207 119,030 199,944

Cost of sales (85,934) (98,698) (85,723) (99,752)

Total surplus 32,711 101,509 33,307 100,192
 

41,740 111,264 41,712 109,478

Other disposals include property disposals, which are a part of the stock rationalisation programme (see further details in note 8).

During 2019/20, the Group incurred additional audit fees of £40k as a result of audit work relating to 2018/19. Other services provided 
includes £nil (2019/20:£46k) for service charges reporting and £nil, (2019/20: £5k) for Nationwide covenant reporting.

8. Surplus on sale of investment properties

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Proceeds - 15,420 - 4,945

Cost of sales (6) (12,114) (6) (4,030)

Total surplus on sale of investment properties (6) 3,306                      (6) 915

During 2020/21, our fixed asset and investment property sales of £139.7m (2019/20: £237.0m), included a further 475 properties (2019/20: 
900) as part of our stock rationalisation programme that generated turnover of £66.8m (2019/20: £126.1m) and a surplus of £8.6m (2019/20: 
£57.0m). £0.6m cost of sales relating to investment properties in 2020/21 relate to disposing of residual costs.

Also included were £50.2m of void property disposals (2019/20: £73.9m). There were no disposals of non-core commercial properties from 
the investment property portfolio in 2020/21 (2019/20: £3.3m surplus).

The proceeds from fixed assets and investment property sales support our strategy of investing in delivering more new homes that are safe, 
decent and energy efficient.

Investments in joint ventures: Joint ventures are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements, in accordance with Financial Reporting 
Standard 102, Chapter 15 – Investments in joint ventures, using the equity accounting method. Within the subsidiary undertaking’s individual 
financial statements in which the joint venture investment is held, the joint venture is accounted for as a fixed asset investment and shown at 
cost, less any impairment. The joint ventures that traded or were trading during the year are as follows:

Joint venture entities

Packington Square LLP

Harrow View LLP

51 College Road LLP

Homes for the city of Brighton & Hove LLP 

Evera Homes LLP 
 

Mount Anvil LLP

Group interest

50% through Hyde Vale Limited

50% through Hyde Vale Limited 

50% through Hyde Vale Limited 

50% through Hyde Housing 
Association Limited

25% through Hyde Vale Limited 
 

50% through Hyde Vale Limited

Group voting rights

50% through Hyde Vale Limited

50% through Hyde Vale Limited 

50% through Hyde Vale Limited

50% through Hyde Vale Limited 

25% through Hyde Vale Limited 
 

50% through Hyde Vale Limited

Partner

Rydon

Barratt London

Barratt London

Brighton & Hove City Council 

Flagship Housing Development Limited 
Keystone Developments Limited 
CKH Development Limited

Willmott Dixon

Packington 
Square LLP 

2021
£’000

Harrow  
View LLP 

 
2021

£’000

51 College  
Road LLP 

 
2021

£’000

Brighton & 
Hove LLP

 
2021

£’000

Evera  
Homes LLP 

 
2021

£’000

Total share  
of surplus 

2021
£’000

Removal of  
consolidated  

profits  
2021

£’000

Total  
consolidated  

share of surplus 
2021

£’000

Total  
consolidated  

share of surplus 
2020

£’000

Share of turnover - 22,224 12 - 2,714 24,950 (3,094) 21,856 44,027

Share of costs of sales - (18,354) - - (2,359) (20,713) 2,364 (18,349) (28,784)

Share of operating cost - (2,032) - (110) 103 (2,039) 166 (1,873) (1,763)

Share of operating surplus/
deficit for the year - 1,838 12 (110) 458 2,198 (564) 1,634 13,480

9. Share of operating surplus and net assets in joint ventures

Packington  
Square LLP 

2021
£’000

Harrow  
View LLP 

 
2021

£’000

51 College  
Road LLP 

 
2021

£’000

Brighton &  
Hove LLP

 
2021

£’000

Evera  
Homes LLP 

 
2021

£’000

Total 
 
 

2021
£’000

Total 
 
 

2020
£’000

Share of net assets/ 
liabilities as at 1 April - 49,471 387 1,373 (271) 50,960 51,465

Share of net assets as  
31 March - 39,800 400 5,141 187 45,528 50,960



156   |   Consolidated report and financial statements | 31 March 2021 Consolidated report and financial statements | 31 March 2021   |   157 

10. Interest receivable

Interest receivable from other sources includes that received from joint ventures, the Hyde Charitable Trust Charities Official Investment 
Fund, and other dividend income. Two loans to joint ventures were repaid during the financial year, resulting in an overall reduction in interest 
receivable from other sources.

Interest is capitalised at a weighted average rate of 3.18% (2019/20: 4.27%). Other finance costs relate to commitment fees.

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

From cash deposits 62 443 44 236

From other sources 1,750 1,934 1,296 1,392

From Group undertakings - - 2,389 3,660

Total interest receivable on financial assets not measured  
at fair value through the Statement of Comprehensive Income

1,812 2,377 3,729 5,288

On financial derivative liabilities/assets at fair value  
through the Statement of Comprehensive Income:

Fair value gains in respect of derivative financial instruments 43,980 4,916 25,148 3,949

Total interest receivable and similar income 45,792 7,293 28,877 9,237

Loan break costs – refinancing costs result from the debt restructure and one-off payments of finance/derivative breakage costs.

Following the publication of Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW) Technical Alert 16/14 BL, gift-aid payments are 
treated as distributions of reserves. Distributions of reserves are shown in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

11. Interest and financing costs

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

On bank loans and overdrafts 58,372 73,203 36,040 50,800

Other finance costs 3,252 2,673 3,235 2,652

Due to Group undertakings - - 1,670 2,565

61,624 75,876 40,945 56,017

Less interest capitalised (8,044) (13,583) (3,530) (4,720)

Total interest payable on financial liabilities not measured at fair value 
through the Statement of Comprehensive Income 53,580 62,293 37,415 51,297

On financial liabilities/assets at fair value through the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income:

Fair value losses in respect of derivative financial instruments 1,168 35,252 1,148 24,516

Total interest payable and similar charges 54,748 97,545 38,563 75,813

GROUP ASSOCIATION

Additional financing costs
2021

£’000
2020

£’000
2021

£’000
2020

£’000

Loan break costs – refinancing costs 154,942 - 154,942 -

Pension costs (162) 429 (48) 364

12. Taxation

Hyde Housing Association Limited and its subsidiaries (except for 
Hyde Vale Limited, Hyde New Build Limited and Brent Co-Efficient 
Limited), are exempt from Corporation Tax on the charitable 
activities they perform. Hyde Vale Limited’s principal activity is the 
development of property for outright sale on a commercial basis 
in support of the mixed tenure activities of the Group. Provisions 
for corporation tax liabilities have been made, to the extent that 
these liabilities are not mitigated by the distribution of profits 
back to Hyde Housing Association Limited to fund additional 
social housing units. Hyde New Build Limited’s principal activity 
is the design and build of property on behalf of the Group and its 
subsidiaries. Provisions for corporation tax liabilities have been 
made, to the extent that these liabilities are not mitigated by the 
distribution of profits back to Hyde Housing Association Limited to 
fund additional social housing units. Brent Co-Efficient Limited’s 
principal activity is the delivery of a PFI project. 

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet liability method 
on temporary differences arising between the tax base of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amount in the financial statements. 
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected 
to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised, or the 
deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which 
the unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be used. The 
Group did not recognise a deferred tax asset of £225k (2019/20: 
1,375k) in respect of losses amounting to £1,342k (2019/20: 
7,234k) in Hyde New Build Limited that can be carried forward 
against future taxable income. The Group does not recognise 
deferred tax assets/liabilities, as majority of profits are transferred 
to the Association via gift aid, and does not expect future taxable 
profit to offset any deferred tax assets/liabilities.

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Current tax 252 125 - -

Deferred tax - - - -

Adjustment for the prior period (125) - - -

Profit chargeable to tax 127 125 - -

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Reconciliation of total tax charge

(Deficit)/surplus before tax (22,428) 85,387 (60,458) 87,191

Tax at 19% thereon: (2019: 19%) (4,261) 16,224 (11,487) 16,566

Effects of:

Charitable income not chargeable to tax (1,476) (23,236) - (20,747)

Charitable loss not deductible for tax 11,488 - 11,500 -

Expenses disallowable for tax purposes (3,574) 5,762 - 3,908

Trading losses carried forward (296) 1,375 - -

Disregard regulations adjustment on swaps 80 - - -

Qualifying charitable donations (1,696) - - -

Prior year adjustment (125) - - -

Group relief (13) - (13) -

Total tax charge 127 125 - -

13. Distribution of reserves

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Distribution of reserves - - 8,442 16,036
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GROUP ASSOCIATION

2021
No.

2020
No.

2021
No.

2020
No.

FTEs 1,083 1,055 905         878

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Staff costs:

Wages and salaries 47,041 43,746 41,024 38,054

Social security costs 4,743 4,366 4,158 3,822

Pension costs (note 37) 6,531 4,133 5,788 3,648

58,315 52,245 50,970 45,524

14. Employee information and costs

GROUP

2021
FTE Nos.

2020
FTE Nos.

The number of full time employees paid a basic salary (and any redundancy, bonus and performance 
related pay) in excess of £60,000 during the year, including pension costs:

£60,000 - £69,999 53 62

£70,000 - £79,999 42 33

£80,000 - £89,999 14 16

£90,000 - £99,999 18 16

£100,000 - £109,999 7 7

£110,000 - £119,999 12 7

£120,000 - £129,999 4 3

£130,000 - £139,999 8 5

£140,000 - £149,999 6 4

£150,000 - £159,999 1 1

£160,000 - £169,999 2 1

£170,000 - £179,999 - -

£180,000 - £189,999 - -

£190,000 - £199,999 - -

£200,000 - £209,999 - 1

£210,000 - £219,999 - 1

£220,000 - £229,999 2 -

£230,000 - £239,999 - -

£250,000 - £259,999 1 -

£260,000 - £269,999 1 -

£270,000 - £279,999                        - -

£280,000 - £289,999 - 1

£330,000 - £339,999 1 -

172 158

15. Directors’ emoluments

GROUP

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Gross salary excluding national insurance contributions for:

Members of the Board and the Non-Executive Leadership Team

Alan Collett (Chair) 33 29

Elsie Akinsanya (appointed 1 October 2018) 20 15

David Banks 20 20

Paul Cook (retired 31 December 2019) - 10

Lynn Gilbert 20 20

Paula Hay-Plumb (retired 31 December 2020) 15 20

Alastair Imrie (retired 31 December 2019) - 15

Duncan Ingram 20 20

Karen McElhatton (appointed 1 August 2020) 10 -

Katherine Rodgers (appointed 18 April 2019) 14 13

James Wardlaw (appointed 20 May 2020) 13 -

Piers White 20 20

185 182

Members of the Board and the Executive Leadership Team

Elaine Bailey (retired 30 September 2019) - 166

Peter Denton (resigned 30 June 2021) 331 287

Rod Holdsworth (appointed 4 December 2019) 263 85

594 538

Members of the Executive Leadership Team

Neal Ackcral (appointed 17 October 2019) 206 146

Guy Slocombe (appointed 12 September 2019) 240 194

Susan Stockwell 202 187

Tracy Allison (resigned 3 November 2019) - 113

Linda Colburn (resigned 31 July 2019) - 71

David Gannicott (resigned 31 March 2019) - 21

648 732

1,427 1,452

Pension contributions:

Neal Ackcral 36 28

Guy Slocombe 41 37

Susan Stockwell 36 33

Tracy Allison (resigned 3 November 2019) - 19

113 117

Total remuneration of the key management personnel, which includes the Executive Leadership Team and the Board, was £2,445k (2019/20: 
£2,120k). The highest paid Director, Peter Denton, acts on behalf of the entities within the Group. No pension contributions are paid for the 
Chief Executive Officer. Compensation for loss of office payments in the year were £nil (2019/20: £nil) 

The average number of people employed (including Executive Directors but excluding non-executive Board members) expressed as Full 
Time Equivalent (FTEs), based on a 35 hour working week, during the year was:
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16. Housing properties 16. Housing properties (continued)

Additions to the Group’s housing properties during the year include 
capitalised interest of £5,853k (2019/20: £8,234k) (note 11) and 
capitalised administration costs of £4,209k (2019/20: £5,547k). 
Interest is capitalised at a rate of 3.18% (2019/20: 4.27%).

No assets were held under finance leases at 31 March 2021 and 2020. 
Group borrowings of £1,599m (2019/20: £2,081m) are secured with 
fixed charges on housing properties. Additions to the Association’s 

housing properties during the year include capitalised interest of 
£3,530k (2019/20: £4,720k) (note 11) and capitalised administration 
costs of £4,192k (2019/20: £2,624k). Total expenditure on works to 
existing properties during the year amounted to £26,857k, (2019/20: 
£25,497k) of which £22,478k (2019/20: £17,991k) was capitalised. 
Association borrowings of £1,014m (2019/20: £1,487.2m) are secured 
with fixed charges on housing properties.

GROUP ASSOCIATION
Housing  

properties  
held for  

letting

Housing  
properties  

under  
construction

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
properties

Shared  
ownership

under  
construction Total

Housing 
properties 

held for 
letting

Housing 
properties 

under  
construction

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
properties

Shared  
ownership 

under  
construction Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost 

As at 1 April 2020 2,787,779 182,889 366,433 54,366 3,391,467 2,259,207 166,911 345,416 41,439 2,812,973

Other movements (869) 943 2 - 76 - - - - -

Additions 24,157 48,090 - 41,309 113,556 17,043 45,065 - 43,539 105,647

Tenure conversions (596) - 596 - - (703) - 703 - -

Transfers to/from 
inventory - (5,332) 143 (25,113) (30,302) - (13,303) (256) (17,662) (31,221)

Disposals (27,575) - (62,881) - (90,456) (25,831) - (62,816) - (88,647)

Completions 67,641 (67,641) 38,832 (38,832) - 67,641 (67,641) 38,832 (38,832) -

Other adjustments – 
retentions (537) -            (810) - (1,347) (537) - (810) - (1,347)

As at 31 March 2021 2,850,000 158,949 342,315 31,730 3,382,994 2,316,820 131,032 321,069 28,484 2,797,405

Accumulated  
depreciation  
and impairment 

As at 1 April 2020 (332,531) - (16,443) 411 (348,563) (273,729) - (15,865) 411 (289,183)

Tenure conversions 26 - (12) - 14 45 - (31) - 14

Charge for the year (37,197) - (113) - (37,310) (29,834) - (123) - (29,957)

Disposals 9,240 - 1,669 - 10,909 8,308 - 1,668 - 9,976

As at 31 March 2021 (360,462) - (14,899) 411 (374,950) (295,210) - (14,351) 411 (309,150)

Net book value

As at 31 March 2021 2,489,538 158,949 327,416 32,141 3,008,044 2,021,610 131,032 306,718 28,895 2,488,255

As at 31 March 2020 2,455,248 182,889 349,990 54,777 3,042,904 1,985,478 166,911 329,551 41,850 2,523,790

17. Intangible fixed assets

GROUP ASSOCIATION
Perpetual software license 

£’000
Perpetual software license 

£’000

Cost

As at 1 April 2020 574 574

Additions 1,662 1,662

As at 31 March 2021 2,236 2,236

Accumulated amortisation

As at 1 April 2020 (515) (515)

Charges for the year (55) (55)

As at 31 March 2021 (570) (570)

Net book value as at 31 March 2021 1,666 1,666

Net book value as at 31 March 2020 59 59

Impairment
Impairment is assessed at the cash generating unit level. The Group 
and Association define a cash generating unit as a scheme within 
housing properties. A scheme is defined as all units of the same tenure 
within one area or estate. Impairment is assessed scheme by scheme.

An assessment of the recoverable amount of cash generating units is 
performed if there is an indication that impairment may have occurred. 
Where there is evidence of impairment, housing properties are written 
down to their recoverable amount. Any such write down is charged 
to operating profit. Recoverable amount is assessed by comparing 
the carrying value of the cash generating unit to its depreciated 
replacement cost, as the assets are held for the purpose of providing 
social housing. Depreciated replacement cost is assessed based on 
data available, such as the costs to build similar schemes, insurance 
rebuild costs and other relevant information.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, an impairment charge of £nil 
(2019/20: £3.0m) was incurred for the Association’s housing 
properties. During the year, properties that were previously impaired 
were sold, with the relevant amounts recognised within Note 7. 
Accumulated impairment for the Group and Association at the year end 
is £1.9m (2019/20: £3.0m), relating to 19 units (2019/20: 61 units). 

Shared ownership
Housing properties include completed shared ownership properties 
where the first tranche has been sold or where the first tranche element 
is due to be sold. Where the first tranche element is due to be sold, the 
housing property element is calculated on the basis of the historical 
percentage unsold. Rental income is collected on the unsold element 
of shared ownership properties. When shared ownership properties 
within housing properties are sold, either in entirety or a proportion, this 
is called staircasing. Staircasing sales are recognised within surplus 
on disposal of housing fixed assets. During 2020/21 the Group had 
156 staircasing transactions (2019/20: 170) with a surplus of £8.4m 
(2019/20: £8.7m) and the Association had 149 staircasing transactions 
(2019/20: 166) with a surplus of £8.1m (2019/20: £8.5m). Also included 
in housing properties are incomplete shared ownership properties 
which are under construction. The element included in housing 
properties is the portion that is not expected to be sold. 

The first tranche element of shared ownership properties is held 
within inventories. This is calculated on the basis of the historical 
average percentage expected to be sold. Sales of first tranche shared 
ownership properties are recognised in operating surplus. During 
2020/21, the Group had 107 first tranche shared ownership sales 
(2019/20: 145) with a surplus of £1.8m (2019/20: £2.5m) and the 
Association had 107 first tranche shared ownership sales (2019/20: 
144) with a surplus of £1.4m, (2019/20 £2.2m).

With our aspiration to launch institutional partnerships in the future, a 
small number of the housing assets above may be identified to further 
this aim.
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18. Other fixed assets

GROUP ASSOCIATION

Freehold 
office

Furniture 
equipment 

and vehicles
Leasehold 

property
Project 

costs
Total other 

fixed assets
Freehold 

office

Furniture 
equipment 

and vehicles
Leasehold 

property
Project 

costs
Total other 

fixed assets

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost 

As at 1 April 2020 6,342 23,070 2,124 1,318 32,854 2,173 22,037 1,999 1,318 27,527

Additions - 2,800 - 65 2,865 - 2,942 - 64 3,006

Transfers - - - - - - - - - -

Disposals/written off - - - - - - - - - -

As at 31 March 2021 6,342 25,870 2,124 1,383 35,719 2,173 24,979 1,999 1,382 30,533

Accumulated depreciation      

As at 1 April 2020 (615) (9,957) (981) - (11,553) (359) (9,555) (980) - (10,894)

Charge for the year (47) (5,251) (107) - (5,405) (21) (5,348) (108) - (5,477)

Disposals/written off - - - - - - - - - -

As at 31 March 2021 (662) (15,208) (1,087) - (16,958) (380) (14,903) (1,088) - (16,371)

Net book value      

As at 31 March 2021 4,716 11,755 910 1,383 18,763 1,793 10,076 911 1,382 14,162

As at 31 March 2020 5,727 13,113 1,143 1,318 21,301 1,814 12,482 1,019 1,318 16,633

Project costs relate to ongoing specific IT programmes. These are depreciated upon completion over their useful economic life. Disposals in year 
are mainly due to a clear down of fully depreciated assets and the disposal of equipment due to a hardware refresh.

Investment properties are initially recognised at cost, which 
includes purchase cost and any attributable expenditure. Investment 
properties are valued and subsequently measured at fair value with 
any surplus/(deficit) recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. Investment properties are those which are not held for 
social benefit and where a reliable fair value is available. This 
includes properties held for commercial rental income, such as 
offices and shops that are not community facilities, and market 
rental income. Investment properties are valued by Jones Lang 
LaSalle, an independent valuer with relevant qualifications and 
experience of the location and tenure of the investment property 
portfolio. The valuation has been prepared in accordance with 

the RICS Valuation – Global Standards, incorporating the IVS, and 
the RICS Valuation – Global Standards – UK National Supplement 
published by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (commonly 
known as the “Red Book”).

These valuations are based on input factors such as rent charged 
and market observations. Management considers commercial rental 
income should remain constant over the upcoming period, and that 
a variation in market rental income should not cause a material 
impact on our valuations.

The valuation methods and key assumptions applied are 
summarised as follows:

19. Derivative financial instruments: assets due after more than one year

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Derivative financial instruments expiring greater than one year (note 38) 6,186 399 6,186 399

Tenure Fair value  
(£’000)

Methodology Key assumptions and ranges 

Commercial 9,694 Rent capitalisation Yield: 5.00% to 15.00%, depending on each property’s lease terms 

Market residential 13,016 Market Value subject to Tenancies Discount to market value – vacant position: Average 87.5% 

20. Investment properties

GROUP ASSOCIATION
2021

£’000
2020

£’000
2021

£’000
2020

£’000

As at 1 April 22,132 32,110 22,092 24,210

Additions 46 470 46 470

Revaluation 525 1,246 490 1,206

Disposals - (11,694) - (3,794)

As at 31 March 22,703 22,132 22,628 22,092

Investment properties include accumulated fair value gains of £13,192k (2019/20: £12,702k).
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Stock transfers represent stock improvement undertaken for leaseholders under the Large Scale Voluntary Stock Transfers. This is amortised 
over 30 years, in line with the benefits received from the stock improvements. This stock transfer represents the works performed on the 
properties at Stonebridge, for which there are 18 years remaining.

Included within loans to Group undertakings is the amount due from BCE for the PFI scheme. This represents the residual value of the 
properties constructed under the agreement with the London Borough of Brent. Loans to Group undertakings include unsecured loans at rates 
of interest varying from LIBOR + 5.5% to 10%, and are due for repayment between in instalments with final repayment due in November 2029.

Inventories consists of first tranche shared ownership and outright sale assets under construction or completed, which are intended for 
sale. The Group amount includes schemes which have been transferred from the Association into Hyde Vale Limited, a member of the 
Group, which is developing these assets for outright sale. Provisions for impairment have been made in the Group of £nil on land (2019/20: 
£8m) on shared ownership and outright sale assets of £nil (2019/20: £1.4m). Provisions for impairment have been made in the Association 
of £nil on shared ownership assets (2019/20: £0.3m). Impairment on shared ownership and outright sale assets in 2019/20 was calculated 
assuming a 10% reduction in sales value. 

22. Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year

GROUP ASSOCIATION
2021

£’000
2020

£’000
2021

£’000
2020

£’000

Service charge debtors 6,518 3,846 6,200 3,569

Stock transfers 15,409 16,028 5,414 5,414

Loans to Group undertakings - - 37,681 37,984

Loans to Joint ventures 4,250 3,450 - -

Other 121 122 - -

26,299 23,446 49,295 46,967

23. Inventories

GROUP ASSOCIATION
2021

£’000
2020

£’000
2021

£’000
2020

£’000

Repairs material 97 - - -

Shared ownership first tranche under construction 57,586 21,330 29,381 34,136

Shared ownership first tranche held for resale 8,927 3,403 - 3,403

Outright sale under construction 133,214 178,796 15,281 1,421

Outright sale held for resale 7,757 8,294 - -

207,581 211,823 53,170 38,960

24. Debtors: amounts falling due within one year

25. Cash and cash equivalents

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Rental and service charge debtors 19,540 18,537 12,684 14,157

Provision for doubtful debts (11,246) (12,067) (8,532) (9,050)

8,294 6,470 4,152 5,107

Social housing grant receivable - 3,439 - 3,439

Prepayments and accrued income 10,401 11,109 10,246 10,959

Amounts due from Group undertakings - - 12,799 28,163

Other debtors 24,141 24,375 18,382 17,516

42,836 45,393 45,579 65,184

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Unrestricted cash 132,792 128,756 63,865 79,012

Restricted cash 29,594 21,298 13,676 13,784

162,386 150,054 77,541 92,796

Amounts due from Group undertakings represent intercompany balances which are unsecured, interest free and are settled throughout the 
year. Other debtors include receivables associated with other operational activities of the Group/Association. The provision for doubtful 
debts has been calculated using historical data including collection rates and arrears aging for current and former tenants. 

Restricted cash of £13.7m (2019/20: £13.8m) is held within the Association for leaseholder sinking funds. 

Restricted cash of £10.8m (2019/20: £7.2m) relates to Brent Co-Efficient Limited, where the restricted funds are ringfenced for expenditure on 
the Brent PFI contract. The restricted funds are used to settle the Group/Association’s liabilities. All payments and transfers from these bank 
accounts have to be approved by the syndicate agent, Barclays. 

Restricted cash of £0.3m (2019/20: £0.3m) is held in Martlet Homes Limited, as leaseholder sinking funds. Restricted funds of £4.8m (2019/20: 
£0.6m) is held in Hyde Charitable Trust Limited for specific charitable purposes. 

21. Investments

GROUP ASSOCIATION

Charitable 
investments Easybuy

Other  
investments Total

Charitable 
investments Easybuy

Other  
investments

Investments 
in subsidiaries Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As at 1 April 2020 8,951 712 1,497 11,160 139 712 2,780 12,050 15,681

Additions - - 2,924 2,924 - - 3,869 7,500 11,369

Other 33 (70) (25) (53) - (70) - - (61)

Revaluation 1,898 17 1,898 33 17 - - 33

Disposals (8) (8)

 Return of capital - - (489) (489) - - (489) - (489)

As at 31 March 2021 10,882 651 3,907 15,440 172 651 6,160 19,550 26,533

As at 1 April 2019 9,522 759 1,415 11,696 125 759 2,600 12,050 15,534

Additions - - 82 82 - - 286 - 286

Revaluations (571) (3) - (574) 14 (3) - - 11

Disposals - (44) - (44) - (44) (106) - (150)

As at 31 March 2020 8,951 712 1,497 11,160 139 712 2,780 12,050 15,681

At 31 March 2021, the charity investments were held with the Charities 
Official Investment Fund (COIF) and JM Finn investment fund. 
Investments in COIF are measured at fair value and return rate is 0.4%. 
Investments in JM Finn investment fund are measured at fair value 
and the return rate is 4.2%. 

The Easybuy financial asset receivables largely have repayment dates 
that vary and variable repayment amounts, provided as part of the sales 
transactions and are secured by a second legal charge on the related 
property. The assets are recorded at fair value, being the estimated 
future receivable by the Group, discounted back to present values. 
The fair value of the future anticipated receipts takes into account 
management’s view of future house price movements, the expected 
timing of receipts and credit risk. These assumptions are reviewed at 
the end of each financial reporting period. The difference between the 
anticipated future receipt and the initial fair value is credited to income 
with the financial asset increasing to its full expected cash settlement 

value on the anticipated receipt date. Credit risk is accounted for in 
determining fair values and appropriate discount rates are applied.

Other investments in Group are mostly held with the Islington Private 
Finance Initiative (PFI). The Islington PFI is the Group’s investment 
in the provision of social housing in conjunction with the London 
Borough of Islington. Within the Association, this figure also includes 
the joint venture investment in Homes for the city of Brighton & Hove 
LLP. Investments in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity 
method, on consolidation in Group only (see note 35). The investment 
in Homes for the city of Brighton & Hove LLP is recognised at cost. 
The addition during the year relates to the Group’s investment in the 
new entity, Halesworth Limited.

Investment in subsidiaries and related undertakings in Association 
are measured at cost, less provision for diminution in value, see note 
35 for further details.
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26. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

27. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 

GROUP ASSOCIATION

Notes
2021

£’000
2020

£’000
2021

£’000
2020

£’000

Loans 27 3,151 16,828 1,816 15,544

Loan interest accrual 9,302 10,275 3,547 5,161

Restructuring costs accrual - 38,768 - 38,768

Rent in advance 11,701 11,906 8,178 8,381

Development accruals 8,419 7,603 1,764 297

Trade creditors 16,598 20,058 11,679 12,791

Amounts due to Group undertakings - - 11,457 9,526

Taxation and social security costs 1,794 3,655 3,205 3,827

Pension contributions due 528 538 528 538

Other creditors and accruals 29,602 31,076 20,152 17,899

81,095 140,707 62,326 112,732

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Social housing and other grants 1,117,969 1,110,244 1,060,017 1,052,256

Bonds* 936,772 684,650 543,428 291,460

Loans** 658,791 807,172 468,371 615,527

Intercompany loans - - 46,175 53,320

Amounts due to Group undertakings - - 126,027 125,816

Other long-term creditors 28,487 29,151 28,621 29,287

2,742,019 2,631,217 2,272,639 2,167,666

Amounts due to Group undertakings represent intercompany balances which are unsecured interest free and settled throughout the year. 
Restructuring costs accrual in 2019/20 represents accruals for certain interest rate swaps restructured by the Group/Association close to 
the year end, including termination of one interest rate swap. This balance was settled in the 2020/21 financial year. The Group/Association 
considers the restructuring as a modification of the existing instruments.  

*The debt reserve set off against the Haven bond is classified as an asset available for sale within one year and held at fair value. See note below.

** Includes directly attributable transaction costs adjusted against the loans and amortised over the tenure of the loans.

Amounts due to Group undertakings within the Association represent an intercompany finance debtor the Association holds with Brent 
Coefficient Limited. Brent Coefficient Limited receives payments from the London Borough of Brent in return for the construction of 364 
general needs units and 20 care properties and for the management of these properties. The 20 care properties are owned by the London 
Borough of Brent. The ownership of the 364 properties is with the parent, the Association. However, the ownership of the 364 properties is 
conditional upon payment of the Intercompany Finance debtor balance by the Association to Brent Coefficient Limited at the end of the project, 
as defined in residual value agreement. Therefore the balance is an intercompany balance and shown as a creditor for the Association.

27. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (continued)

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Loans and bonds

Between one and two years 41,249 48,020 39,861 46,685

Between two and five years 116,907 213,847 112,409 209,519

More than five years 508,046 554,154 322,746 367,297

Bonds

More than five years 944,919 690,909 549,318 295,389

1,611,121 1,506,930 1,024,334 918,890

Loan costs (15,558) (15,108) (12,535) (11,903)

1,595,563 1,491,822 1,011,799 906,987

Less than one year 3,151 16,828 1,816 15,544

1,598,714 1,508,650 1,013,615 922,531

GROUP ASSOCIATION

 Social housing and other grants £’000 £’000

Cost 

As at 1 April 2020 1,271,954 1,202,733

Received 23,576 38,083

Transfer from RCGF drawdown 15,361 15,361

Transfer to RCGF recycle (16,626) (16,550)

Disposed (5,621) (5,662)

As at 31 March 2021 1,288,644 1,218,632

Amortisation (contingent grant)

At 1 April 2020 (161,710) (150,477)

Amortisation in year (12,041) (11,206)

Disposed 3,076 3,068

As at 31 March 2021 (170,675) (158,615)

 Balance as at 31 March 2021 1,117,969 1,060,017

 Balance as at 31 March 2020 1,110,244 1,052,256

Contingent grants relate to social housing grant balances that were transferred to the Group as a part of stock swaps. A liability will be 
realised in Recycled Capital Grant Fund, if units from these stock swaps are sold in the future. Contingent grant is disclosed in note 34.

The maturity of the loan balances presented in creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year, and less than one year, are  
presented below:

Group loans and bonds totalling £1,598.7m (2019/20: £1,508.7m) 
at the Statement of Financial Position date are generally secured 
by fixed charges on housing properties.

Loans are at rates of interest varying from 0.30% to 7.20%. The 
average interest rate on borrowings held at year end was 3.18% 
(2019/20: 4.27%). The Group’s interest rate risk management 
policy is designed to reduce volatility in cash flows and earnings. 
The size and maturity of debt is matched and hedged using a 

combination of various interest rate hedge instruments, primarily 
vanilla interest rate swaps, cancellable swaps, RPI swaps and 
interest rate caps. Group policy is to maintain minimum and 
maximum thresholds of fixed to floating rate debt (after allowing 
for the impact of its interest rate swaps) of 70%-95%. The loans 
and bonds due greater than five years relate to non instalment 
debt £1,227m (2019/20: £942m), instalment debt £210m 
(2019/20: £287m) and £15.6m loan costs (2019/20: £12.5m).
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The debt reserve is held against the Haven bond which was repaid during the year. As such, this will be sold within one year.
An accumulated fair value loss of £1,098k (2019/20: £622k) was recorded on the debt reserve.

Further information is provided in note 38. 

27. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (continued)

28. Derivative financial instruments: liabilities

GROUP ASSOCIATION
2021

£’000
2020

£’000
2021

£’000
2020

£’000

Debt reserve

Balance at 1 April 9,523 8,624 9,523 8,624

Cash movement/deposit (1,000) 939 (1,000) 939

Unrealised gain during the year (478) (40) (478) (40)

8,045 9,523 8,045 9,523

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Liabilities on derivative financial  
instruments expiring in more than one year 101,629 138,657 66,237 84,453

29. Recycled capital grant fund

GROUP ASSOCIATION
Greater London 

Authority
2021

£’000

Homes  
England

2021
£’000

Total 

2021
£’000

Greater London 
Authority

2021
£’000

Homes  
England

2021
£’000

Total 

2021
£’000

At start of the year 25,591 16,708 42,299 25,502 16,430 41,932

Inputs to fund:

Funds recycled 5,355 1,902 18,248 16,338 1,833 18,171

Inter group transfer 282 - 282 282 - 282

Transfer from DPF 168 - 168 168 - 168

Other  9,556 -  9,556  9,556 -  9,556

Interest accrued 24 16 40 24 16 40

Recycling of grant:

New build (14,452) (909) (15,361) (14,452) (909) (15,361)

Other – allocation of grant (9,556) - (9,556)                   (9,556)) - (9,556)

16,968 17,717 34,685 16,871 17,370 34,241

29. Recycled capital grant fund (continued)

30. Disposal proceeds fund

GROUP ASSOCIATION
Greater London 

Authority
2021

£’000

Homes  
England

2021
£’000

Total 

2021
£’000

Greater London 
Authority

2021
£’000

Homes  
England

2021
£’000

Total 

2021
£’000

At start of the year 450 - 450 168 - 168

Interest accrued

Recycling of grant:

New build (450) - (450) (168) - (168)

                        - -                         - - - -

GROUP ASSOCIATION
Greater London 

Authority
2020

£’000

Homes  
England

2020
£’000

Total 

2020
£’000

Greater London 
Authority

2020
£’000

Homes  
England

2020
£’000

Total 

2020
£’000

At start of the year 445 - 445 165 - 165

Inputs to fund:

Interest accrued 5 - 5 3 - 3

450 - 450 168 - 168

GROUP ASSOCIATION
Greater London 

Authority
2020

£’000

Homes  
England

2020
£’000

Total 

2020
£’000

Greater London 
Authority

2020
£’000

Homes  
England

2020
£’000

Total 

2020
£’000

At start of the year 16,220 14,145 30,365 16,181 13,930 30,111

Inputs to fund:

Funds recycled 9,220 2,474 11,694 9,170 2,412 11,582

Other 13 (13) - 13 (13) -

Interest accrued 138 102 240 138 101 239

25,591 16,708 42,299 25,502 16,430 41,932

Amounts due for repayment were £nil (2019/20: £nil). The Recycled Capital Grant Fund (RCGF) arises from grant recovery on all other sales 
of properties originally funded by Social Housing Grant. Excluding this, RCGF is identical to the Disposal Proceeds Fund (DPF) (note 30). In 
accordance with the funding authorities’ requirements, such proceeds are credited to the fund and together with accrued interest must be 
used to provide replacement properties. There is a time limit of three years, within which the Group/Association must use the proceeds. No 
amounts are due greater than three years.

Amounts due for repayment were £nil (2019/20: £nil). The Disposal Proceeds Fund arises from the net proceeds of sales funded by 
Voluntary Purchase Grant.
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31. Provisions for liabilities and charges

GROUP ASSOCIATION

Dilapidations
Legal 

claims
Onerous 

Lease Fire Overage Total Dilapidations
Legal 

claims
Onerous 

Lease Fire Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance as at 1 April 2020 1,213 1,417 204 19,566 - 22,400 1,213 1,417 204 19,032 21,866

Additions 57 362 - 1,396 - 1,815 58 365 - 1,394 1,817

Utilisation - - - (6,146) - (6,146) - - - (5,612) (5,612)

Release of provision (149) (257) - - - (406) (156) (257) - - (413)

Balance as at 31 March 2021 1,121 1,522 204 14,816 - 17,663 1,115 1,525 204 14,814 17,658

Balance as at 1 April 2019 1,090 367 36 17,963 305 19,761 1,090 370 36 15,684 17,180

Additions 183 1,150 108 14,067 - 15,508 183 1,150 108 13,873 15,314

Utilisation - (10) - (10,020) (305) (10,335) - (10) - (8,416) (8,426)

Release of provision - (90) - (2,444) - (2,534) - (93) - (2,109) (2,202)

Other adjustments (60) - 60 - - - (60) - 60 - -

Balance as at 31 March 2020 1,213 1,417 204 19,566 - 22,400 1,213 1,417 204 19,032 21,866

Dilapidations provisions are included for all leased properties 
where the contract requires the Group to return the property to its 
original condition at the end of the lease and are charged to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income within operating costs. An 
increase in provision £0.155m has been made in the year for three 
properties Chaucer House, Southampton and Kings Hill.

Legal claim provisions are included for claims brought against the 
Group and are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
within operating costs. An increase in provision of £0.368m has 
been made in the year to increase the liability to £1.5m.

The onerous lease relates to the subletting of an office building 
where the rental income received is less than that payable under 
the lease. The Group holds an onerous lease on the Park Street 
office. The onerous lease will be used over the life of the lease, 

which is from 2016 to 2028. Additions made in year are due to 
additional provisions required as a new tenant moving into the 
Park Street office at a lower rental.

The Group/Association closely monitors Government guidance 
in respect of combustible materials, fire risk and protection and 
regulatory compliance to determine the nature and extent of any 
remedial work required to its housing properties. At the year end, 
remediation work was ongoing for certain housing properties. 
There are a number of complexities involved in determining the 
remedial work required and the associated costs. As such, this 
provision represents the Group/Association’s best estimate of 
these costs at the year-end. Management will continue to assess 
the magnitude and utilisation of this provision in future financial 
reporting periods in line with the evolving guidelines. 

32. Capital commitments

The commitments relate to the build of housing properties from the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2025. There are no performance-related 
conditions attached to the commitments. For the Group, the commitments are expected to be funded by property sales of £268m, an 
agreed loan of £4m and grants of £19m. For the Association, these commitments are expected to be funded by property sales (including via 
distributions from subsidiaries and joint ventures) of £79m, an agreed loan of £97m and grants of £18m. The Group/Association regularly 
monitors its funding sources and considering its liquidity position, expects to be able to satisfy these commitments.

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided for in the financial statements 202,032 167,101 157,100 106,021

Capital expenditure contracted for by joint venture entities 35,804 26,228 - -

Total capital expenditure contracted for 237,836 193,329 157,100 106,021

Capital expenditure authorised by the Board but not contracted for 71,280 98,088 66,182 89,111

Total capital expenditure either contracted or authorised by the Board but not contracted for 309,116 291,417 223,282 195,132

33. Operating leases

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Not later than one year 3,786 3,757 3,265 3,240

Later than one year but not later than five years 13,789 14,564 12,543 12,797

Later than five years 6,568 9,571 6,568 9,571

24,143 27,892 22,376 25,608

Total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases for the Group/Association as a lessee:

The operating leases above relate to office properties, company vehicles, electronic equipment and white goods. 

Certain social housing properties of the Group are held under operating leases and are tenanted under cancellable operating lease 
conditions. Typical tenant break clauses exist requiring a notice period of a month. Rents fluctuate in accordance with the Rent Standard 
and are affected by the Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016. Shared ownership properties may be purchased (staircased) by the leaseholder 
at any time at the pro-rata market rate. Ongoing lease payments will be adjusted according to the share of ownership retained by the Group. 
Certain properties are available to purchase via right to buy by the existing tenant. Shared ownership property purchases and those by rent to 
buy may reduce the future lease payments.

34. Contingent liabilities

GROUP ASSOCIATION
2021

£’000
2020

£’000
2021

£’000
2020

£’000

Government funding received 1,288,644 1,271,954 1,218,632 1,202,733

Grants amortised to date (contingent liabilities) (170,675) (161,710) (158,615) (150,477)

Net grant (note 27) 1,117,969 1,110,244 1,060,017 1,052,256

The Group receives financial assistance from 
the HCA and GLA. These government grants are 
accounted for as deferred income in the Statement 
of Financial Position and are amortised annually to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income, based on 
the life of the build structure which is 100 years. The 
amount amortised represents a contingent liability to 

the entity and will be recognised as a liability when 
the associated properties funded by the relevant 
government grant are either disposed of or cease to be 
used for social housing purposes.

Below is the analysis of the assistance from 
government sources in the form of government grants.
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35. Related parties

Related undertaking name Principal Activity Interest Legal status

Martlet Homes Limited Registered provider of social housing based in Chichester Wholly owned subsidiary Community Benefit Society

Hyde Southbank Homes Limited Registered provider of social housing based in South London Wholly owned subsidiary Community Benefit Society

Hillside Housing Trust  
Limited (PRP)

Registered provider of social housing based in South London Wholly owned subsidiary Community Benefit Society

Hyde Vale Limited Development and investment company Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company

Brent Co-Efficient Limited A Special purpose vehicle to deliver a PFI project in the London 
Borough of Brent

Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company 

Hyde New Build Limited Design and build company Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company 

Hyde Charitable Trust A charity that supports Hyde’s residents and communities Wholly owned subsidiary Charity and Limited Company

One Preston Park LLP A partnership building social and outright sale housing in Brighton 87% owned subsidiary Limited Liability Partnership 

The Kent Homebuilding  
Partnership LLP

A partnership building social and outright sale housing in Kent Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Liability Partnership 

London Homebuilding  
Partnership LLP

A partnership building social and outright sale housing in London Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Liability Partnership 

Bilsham Road LLP A partnership building social and outright sale housing in West Sussex Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Liability Partnership 

Mount Anvil Regeneration LLP A partnership building social and outright sale housing in London 50% Joint Venture Limited Liability Partnership 

51 College Road LLP A partnership building social and outright sale housing in Harrow 50% Joint Venture Limited Liability Partnership 

Harrow View LLP A partnership building social and outright sale housing in Harrow 50% Joint Venture Limited Liability Partnership 

Evera Homes LLP A partnership building social and outright sale housing in 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough

25% Joint Venture Limited Liability Partnership 

Greenwich Partnership LLP A partnership building social and outright sale housing in Harrow 50% Joint Venture Limited Liability Partnership 

Packington Square LLP A partnership building social and outright sale housing on the 
Packington Estate

50% Joint Venture Limited Liability Partnership 

Homes for the city of  
Brighton & Hove LLP

A partnership building social and outright sale housing in  
Brighton & Hove

50% Joint Venture Limited Liability Partnership 

Homes for the city of Brighton & 
Hove Design & Build Company Ltd

A partnership building social and outright sale housing in  
Brighton & Hove

50% Joint Venture Limited Company 

Rochester Riverside  
Managing Agent Limited

A company undertaking managing agent activities within Rochester Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company 

New England Square  
Management Ltd

To manage the public square that forms part of a development  
in Brighton

51% owned subsidiary Limited Company 

Hyde Investment Holdco Limited A limited company for holding investments for the Group Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company 

Halesworth Limited A limited company for providing housing activities Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company 

Hyde Investment Leibniz Limited A limited company for holding investments for the Group Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company 

Hyde Devco 1 Ltd A limited company to provide development and construction services Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company 

Hyde Devco 2 Ltd A limited company to provide development and construction services Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company 

Hyde Holdco Ltd A limited company for the management of real estate Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company 

Hyde Manco Ltd A limited company for the management of real estate Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company 

Hyde Devmanco Ltd A limited company to provide development services and the 
management of real estate

Wholly owned subsidiary Limited CompanyAll the above entities are included within the consolidation. Where the entity is a joint venture, this is included in the consolidation using the equity method at 
the Group level. Hyde Vale Limited also has a joint operation arrangement with Countryside PLC for developments in Rochester.

35. Related parties (continued)

Intra-group transactions between Hyde Housing Association Limited and its non-regulated subsidiaries are 
summarised as follows:

Loan
2021

£’000

Interest
2021

£’000

Total
2021

£’000

Loan
2020

£’000

Interest
2020

£’000

Total
2020

£’000

Loans from Hyde Housing Association

Brent Co-efficient Limited 37,318 2,389 39,707 37,594 2,421 40,015

Hyde Vale Limited - - - - 781 781

Hyde New Build Limited - - - - 458 458

Total 37,318 2,389 39,707 37,594 3,660 41,254

Other transactions

Hyde New Build Limited for sales and construction services - - 43,982 - - 36,561

Recharges to subsidiaries and related undertakings - - 6,674 - - 6,464

Total gift aid received from Hyde New Build Limited, Hyde Vale Limited and 
PRS Company Limited

- - 8,442 - - 16,036

Loan
2021

£’000

Interest
2021

£’000

Total
2021

£’000

Loan
2020

£’000

Interest Received

Packington Square LLP - 4 - 4

51 College Road LLP - 272 - 272

Evera LLP 160 125 - -

Purchase of housing properties 

Harrow View LLP 3,094 13,463 3,094 13,463

Dividend Distribution

Harrow View LLP 9,000 - - -

Packington Square LLP - 2,188

51 College Road LLP - 7,750 - -

Loans to JV

Evera LLP 4,250 3,450 - -

Investments

Homes for the city of Brighton and Hove LLP 5,342 1,471 5,342 1,471

Harrow View LLP 35,938 38,438 - -

Intra-group transactions between Hyde Housing Association Limited and its non-regulated joint ventures are 
summarised as follows:

*Includes a balance of £1,138k included in creditors
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35. Related parties (continued)

All the above entities are included within the consolidation. Where the entity is a joint venture, this is included in the consolidation using the equity method at 
the Group level. Hyde Vale Limited also has a joint operation arrangement with Countryside PLC for developments in Rochester.

36. Payments to creditors

The Group/Association has a policy of paying suppliers within agreed payment terms. Subject to resolution of any 
queries or discrepancies on specific invoices, the usual policy is to pay creditors within 30 days.

Certain Board and committee members, acting in their 
capacity as tenant representatives, may be tenants 
of Group entities. Such tenancies are granted on the 
same terms and conditions and managed on the same 
basis as other tenants of the Group. Jan Durbridge is a 
Hyde Housing Association Limited tenant who sits on 
the board of Martlet Homes Limited, Hyde Southbank 
Homes and Hillside Housing Trust as a non-executive 
director. The rent she paid was £5,397 (2019/20: 
£4,601). Michelle Walcott is a Hillside Housing Trust 
tenant and sits on the Hyde Charitable Trust Board. 
The rent she paid was £6,188 (2019/20: £6,820). Stella 
Young is also a tenant of the Hyde Housing Association 
Limited and joined the board of Hyde Southbank Homes 
Limited, Martlet Homes Limited and Hillside Housing 
Trust on 12 September 2019. The rent she paid was 
£7,683 (the period to 31 March 2020 was £4,591).

Homes England is a related party due to key 
management personnel of the Group and Homes 
England who are close family members. During the year, 
social housing grant was received from Homes England 
of (£8.8m). Amounts were received as part of the 
Homes England grant programmes in accordance with 
the prescribed terms and the Capital Funding Guide. 
These transactions were made on an arm’s length basis. 
There are no additional, specific, or special terms and 
conditions attached to these transactions.

The Group has robust declarations of interest 
procedures in place to ensure conflicts, perceived or 
actual, are appropriately managed. These are discussed 
with other parties, including but not limited to those 
disclosed as related parties. No members of staff, 

designated as key management personnel or otherwise, 
have delegated authority with regard to the entering into 
transactions with related parties. Where any actual or 
perceived conflicts are identified, appropriate safeguards 
are put in place. These include any individuals identified 
as actual or potential related parties to be removed from 
key decisions, and/or ensuring additional oversight by 
independence governance arrangements.

In addition to the required related party disclosure, other 
relationships exist, which do not meet the definition and 
disclosure requirements of related parties. 

Peter Denton was the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Group up to 30 June 2021. From 1 July 2021, Peter 
was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of 
Homes England. This relationship has not resulted 
in any related party transactions during the year. 
Additionally, appropriate safeguards were in place once 
this relationship was known, which included Peter not 
partaking in any management decisions which had 
actual or perceived connection with Homes England.

Alan Collett is the Chair of the Group. As disclosed in 
the Consolidated Report, Alan was a non-executive 
director of M&G RFP GP Limited. The Group entered 
into transactions during the year with another entity in 
the M&G plc group, M&G UK Shared Ownership Limited. 
These two entities are separate discretionary funds 
and does not give rise to a related party relationship. 
Additionally, Alan did not partake in any decisions which 
had any actual or perceived connection with M&G pc 
group entities.

37. Pension schemes 

The pensions of employees of the Hyde Group are administered through five schemes which provide defined 
benefits relating to pay and service and a sixth scheme which is a defined contribution scheme.

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Contributions by employer:

Defined benefit schemes:

Hyde Housing Association Limited Defined Benefit Pension Scheme 1,844 1,561 1,844 1,561

London Borough of Lambeth Pension Fund - 350 - 350

West Sussex County Council Pension Fund 361 391 - -

Kent County Council Pension Fund - 118 - 118

The Pensions Trust Social Housing Pension Scheme 484 466 484 466

Defined contribution schemes:

Hyde Housing Association Limited Defined Contribution Scheme 3,369 3,058 3,044 2,758

6,058 5,944 5,372 5,253

Net interest expense:

Defined benefit schemes:

Hyde Housing Association Limited Defined Benefit Pension Scheme 91 227 91 227

London Borough of Lambeth Pension Fund - 11 - 11

Kent County Council Pension Fund - 24 - 24

The Pensions Trust Social Housing Pension Scheme (43) 102 (43) 102

West Sussex County Council Pension Fund 114 65 - -

162 429 48 364

Defined benefit schemes 

Hyde Housing Association Limited Defined Benefit 
Pension Scheme (HHADBPS) - Hyde Housing 
Association Limited operates a funded defined benefit 
scheme that closed to new members on 1 July 2004 
and to future accrual on 31 October 2018. All new 
employees since 1 July 2004 have been given the option 
to join a defined contribution scheme. From 1 April 2007 
until closure to future accrual, member benefits in the 
defined benefit scheme were based on Career Average 
Related Earnings (CARE), rather than Final Pensionable 
Salary. The pension deficit and associated recovery 
plan are determined in accordance with the advice of 
professionally-qualified consulting actuaries with the 
latest actuarial valuation being undertaken as at 31 March 
2019. A new four-year recovery plan was agreed after the 
2019/20 year-end, based on the position as at 31 March 
2019, with the remaining deficit contributions of about 
£1.321m due in 2020/21, £1.704m due in 2021/22 and 
£2.995m due in 2022/23. 

London Borough of Lambeth Pension Fund (LBLPF) - 
Contributions were made to the LBLPF. It is a defined 
benefit pension scheme providing benefits held 
separately from the assets of the Group. Pension 
contributions payable by the Group during 2020/21 
were determined in accordance with the advice of 
professionally-qualified consulting actuaries based on 
an actuarial valuation made as at 31 March 2019. The 
last Hyde employee left this scheme on 24 December 
2020 and the scheme was closed. The cessation 
valuation determined there was an employer surplus 
of £138,000 which was credited to Hyde Housing 
Association Limited upon exit during the year and the 
Group no longer participates in the LBLPF and has no 
further liability in relation to this scheme. As the fund 
was exited during the year, there was no actuarial 
valuation at the balance sheet date.
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Kent County Council Pension Fund (KCCPF) - 
Contributions were made to the KCCPF. It is a defined 
benefit pension scheme providing benefits held 
separately from the assets of the Group. Pension 
contributions payable by the Group during 2020/2021 
were determined in accordance with the advice of 
professionally-qualified consulting actuaries based on 
an actuarial valuation made as at 31 March 2019. There 
were no current employees who were members of the 
scheme and the admission agreement with Kent County 
Council was terminated with effect from 30 March 2021 
and the scheme was closed. The cessation valuation 
determined there was a deficit of £790,000 which 
was paid by Hyde Housing Association Limited upon 
exiting the fund during the year and the Group no longer 
participates in the KCCPF and has no further liability in 
relation to this scheme. As the fund was exited during 
the year, there was no actuarial valuation at the balance 
sheet date. 

West Sussex County Council Pension Fund (WSCCPF) 
- Martlet Homes Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, is 
an admitted member of the WSCCPF. Contributions 
are made to the WSCCPF, which is administered by 
Hampshire County Council. It is a defined benefit 
pension scheme providing benefits held separately from 
the assets of the Group. 

Pension contributions during 2020/21 were determined 
in accordance with the advice of professionally-
qualified consulting actuaries based on the most recent 
full actuarial valuation made as at 31 March 2019. 
Contributions of 23.9% are payable from 1 April 2020 
until 31 March 2023.

The Pensions Trust Social Housing Pension Scheme 
(SHPS) - Hyde participates in SHPS (the Scheme) which 
is a multi-employer defined benefit scheme. Employer 
participation in the Scheme is subject to adherence with 
the employer responsibilities and obligations as set out in 
the ‘SHPS House Policies and Rules Employer Guide’. The 
scheme operated a single benefit structure, final salary 
with a 1/60th accrual rate until 31 March 2007. With effect 
from 1 April 2007 Hyde operated a Career Average Related 
Earnings (CARE) structure, with a 1/60th accrual rate, until 
the scheme was closed to future accrual on 31 March 
2013. With effect from 1 April 2013, the employees who 
were contributing to the SHPS defined benefit scheme 
were admitted to the HHADBPS scheme and a 5% AVC 
contribution was paid to the SHPS defined contribution 
scheme until April 2019 when this increased to 8%, to 
reflect the minimum contribution required to comply with 
the rules of the scheme. The last full actuarial valuation 
of the scheme was performed as at 30 September 
2017 by a professionally-qualified actuary. The market 
value of the Scheme’s assets at the valuation date was 
£4.6bn. The valuation for the whole Scheme revealed a 
shortfall of assets compared with the value of liabilities of 
£1.5bn, equivalent to a past service funding level of 75%. 
Pension contributions during 2020/21 were determined 
in accordance with the advice of professionally-qualified 
consulting actuaries based on the most recent full 
actuarial valuation. The SHPS deficit payments are £494k 
from 1 April 2021, increasing at a rate of 2% per year until 
September 2026. The estimated amount of withdrawal 
liability for Hyde Housing Association Limited is £14.04m. 
The last Hyde employee left the Growth Plan (the plan) 
section on 30 June 2019 and this plan was closed. The 
cessation valuation determined there was an employer 
deficit of £0.10m which was paid to the fund upon exit and 
Hyde no longer participates in the plan.

37. Pension schemes (continued)

HHADBPS LBLPF KCCPF SHPS Association Total WSCCPF Group Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000s £’000 £’000

As at 31 March 2021

Contributions by employer 1,844 - - 484 2,328 361 2,689

Administrative costs (726) - (726) (536) (1,262)

Interest income/(expense) 91 - - (43) 48 114 162

Total credit/(cost) recognised in  
statement of comprehensive income 1,209 - - 441 1,650 (61) 1,589 

As at 31 March 2020

Contributions by employer 1,561 350 119 466 2,496 391 2,887

Administrative costs 1,786 (16) (1) - 1,769 (888) 881

Interest income/(expense)            (227) (11) (24) (102) (364) (65) (429)

Total credit/(cost) recognised in  
statement of comprehensive income 3,120 323 94 364 3,901 (562) 3,339

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income with respect to the defined benefit schemes 
are as follows:

37. Pension schemes (continued)

HHADBPS LBLPF KCCPF SHPS Association Total WSCCPF Group Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000s £’000 £’000

As at 31 March 2020 2,689 (116) (1,050) (1,429) 94 5,065 5,159

Cessation - 116 1,050 - 1,166 - (1,166)

Present value of defined benefit obligations (107,928) - - (18,124) (126,052) (53,843) (179,895)

Fair value of fund assets 105,315 - - 15,331 120,646 58,610 179,256

Net (liability) in the Statement of Financial Position at 31 
March 2021 (2,613) - - (2,793) (5,406) 4,767 (639)

Movements in present value of defined benefit obligation

Opening defined benefit obligation as at 1 April 2020 89,860 5,083 2,565 15,308 112,816 41,939 154,755

Current service cost - - - - - 536 536

Administrative costs 726 - - - 726 - 726

Cessation - (5,083) (2,565) - (7,648) - (7,648)

Interest cost 2,223 - - 376 2,599 958 3,557

Contributions by members - - - - - 108 108

Actuarial losses 17,688 - - 2,887 20,575 11,469 32,044

Benefits paid (2,569) - - (447) (3,016) (1,167) (4,183)

Closing defined benefit obligation as at 31 March 2021 107,928 - - 18,124 126,052 53,843 179,895

Movements in fair value of plan assets

Opening fair value of employer assets as at 1 April 2020 92,549 4,967 1,515 13,879 112,910 47,004 159,914

Cessation - (4,967) (1,515) - (6,482) - (6,482)

Expected return on assets 2,314 - - 333 2,647 - 2,647

Contributions by members - - - - - - -

Contributions by employer 1,844 - - 484 2,328 361 2,689

Actuarial gains (actual return on assets less expected return 
on assets)

11,177 - - 1,082 12,259 11,232 23,491

Benefits paid (2,569) - - (447) (3,016) - (3,016)

Closing fair value of scheme assets as at 31 March 2021 105,315 - - 15,331 120,646 58,597 179,243

A summary of the actuarial (loss)/gain in respect of pension schemes is shown below:

A summary of the movement in pension assets and liabilities for the Group’s defined benefit pension funds is 
shown below:

HHADBPS SHPS Association 
Total

WSCCPF Group Total

£’000 £’000 £’000s £’000 £’000

Movements in present value of defined benefit obligation

Actuarial (loss) (17,688) (2,887) (20,575) (11,469) (32,044)

Movements in fair value of fund assets

Actuarial gains (actual return on assets less expected return on assets) 11,177 1,082 12,259 11,232 23,491

Net actuarial movements at 31 March 2021 (6,511) (1,805) (8,316) (237) (8,553)
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37. Pension schemes (continued)

The fair value of assets and the present value of liabilities in the schemes at each Statement of Financial Position 
date, along with the principal actuarial assumptions used were:

As at 31 March 2021 HHADBPS SHPS Association Total WSCCPF Group Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

The fair value of the assets:

Equities 35,807 2,444 38,251 32,822 71,073

Liability Driven Investment 25,275 3,897 29,172 - 29,172

Corporate Bonds - 906 906 18,169 19,075

Bonds - 1,004 1,004 - 1,004

Property 11,585 1,340 12,925 4,102 17,027

Diversified growth 4,213 3,140 7,353 - 7,353

Insurance policy 24,222 368 24,590 - 24,590

Secured income - 300 300 - 300

Cash - - - 3,517 3,517

Emerging market multi asset 4,213 - 4,213 - 4,213

Credit - 993 993 - 993

Target return - 939 939 - 939

Total market value of assets 105,315 15,331 120,646           58,610 179,256

Actuarial value of liabilities (107,928) (18,124) (126,052) (53,843) (179,895)

Surplus/(Deficit) (2,613) (2,793) (5,406) 4,767 (639)

Asset categories with % of each asset class at 31 March 2021 HHADBPS SHPS WSCCPF

Equity instruments 34% N/A 56%

LDI and cash 24% N/A -

Property 11% N/A 7%

Diversified growth 4% N/A -

Emerging market multi asset 4% N/A -

Insurance policies 23% N/A -

Bonds - N/A 31%

Cash - N/A 6%

Principal actuarial assumptions at 31 March 2021 HHADBPS SHPS WSCCPF

Salary increases N/A 3.8% 3.35%

Pension increases in payment 2.0% N/A 2.85%

Discount rate 2.1% 2.1% 2%

Inflation (RPI) 3.2% 3.1% N/A

Inflation (CPI) 2.7% 2.8% N/A

Return on assets N/A N/A N/A

Mortality assumptions at 31 March 2021 HHADBPS SHPS WSCCPF

Current pensions – males 87 yrs at 65 21.6 yrs at 65 22.1 yrs at 65

Current pensions – females N/A 23.3 yrs at 65 24.1 yrs at 65

Future pensions – males 88 yrs at 65 22.9 yrs at 65 23.1 yrs at 65

Future pensioners – females N/A 25.1 yrs at 65 26.1 yrs at 65

KEY INFORMATION AND ASSUMPTIONS FOR MARCH 2021

*N/A indicates the information was not available. 

Life expectancy is based on the Fund’s Vita Curves with improvements in line with the CMI 2010 model assuming long term improvements 
of 1.25% p.a. with allowance for short term rates of improvement and declining mortality for the over 90s. Based on these assumptions, the 
average future life expectancies at age 65 are summarised below:

37. Pension schemes (continued)

As at 31 March 2020 HHADBPS LBLPF KCCPF SHPS Association Total WSCCPF Group Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

The fair value of the assets:

Equities 26,839 3,129 932 2,030 32,930 22,093 55,023

Liability Driven Investment 21,286 - - 4,606 25,892 - 25,892

Corporate Bonds - 1,043 12 791 1,846 18,331 20,177

Bonds - - 197 807 1,004 - 1,004

Property 10,180 546 206 1,339 12,271 3,760 16,031

Diversified growth 8,329 - - 2,515 10,844 - 10,844

Insurance policy 23,137 - - 426 23,563 - 23,563

Secured income - - - 240 240 - 240

Cash - 249 40 - 289 2,820 3,109

Emerging market multi asset 2,778 - - - 2,778 - 2,778

Credit - - - 342 342 342

Target return - - 128 783 911 - 911

Total market value of assets 92,549 4,967 1,515 13,879 112,910 47,004 159,914

Actuarial value of liabilities (89,860) (5,083) (2,565) (15,308) (112,816) (41,939) (154,755)

Surplus/(Deficit) 2,689 (116) (1,050) (1,429) 94 5,065 5,159

KEY INFORMATION AND ASSUMPTIONS FOR MARCH 2020

Asset categories with % of each asset class at 31 March 2020 HHADBPS LBLPF KCCPF SHPS WSCCPF

Equity instruments 29% 63% 62% N/A 47%

LDI and cash 23% - - N/A -

Property 11% 11% 14% N/A 8%

Diversified growth 9% - - N/A -

Emerging market multi asset 3% - - N/A -

Insurance policies 25% - - N/A -

Absolute return fund - - 8% N/A -

Gilts - - 1% N/A -

Bonds - 21% 13% N/A 39%

Cash - 5% 3% N/A 6%

Principal actuarial assumptions at March 2020 HHADBPS LBLPF KCCPF SHPS WSCCPF

Salary increases N/A 2.5% 3.0% 2.7% 2.3%

Pension increases in payment 1.6% 2.0% 2.0% N/A 1.9%

Discount rate 2.5% 2.3% 2.3% 2.4% 2.3%

Inflation (CPI) 1.8% N/A 2.0% 1.7% N/A

Return on assets N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

*N/A indicates the information was not available. 

Life expectancy is based on the Fund’s Vita Curves with improvements in line with the CMI 2010 model assuming long term improvements 
of 1.25% p.a. with allowance for short term rates of improvement and declining mortality for the over 90s. Based on these assumptions, the 
average future life expectancies at age 65 are summarised below:

Mortality assumptions at 31 March 2020 HHADBPS LBLPF KCCPF SHPS WSCCPF

Current pensions – males 86 yrs at 60 21.3 yrs at 65 21.8 yrs at 65 21.5 yrs at 65 22.2 yrs at 65

Current pensions – females N/A 23.5 yrs at 65 23.7 yrs at 65 23.5 yrs at 65 24.2 yrs at 65

Future pensions – males 88 yrs at 88 22.7 yrs at 65 23.2 yrs at 65 22.9 yrs at 65 23.3 yrs at 65

Future pensioners – females N/A 25.0 yrs at 65 25.2 yrs at 65 24.5 yrs at 65 25.9 yrs at 65
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38. Financial instruments and risk management

GROUP ASSOCIATION

Valuation method 2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Financial assets at fair value through Statement of Comprehensive Income

Derivative financial instruments - (a) Fair value 6,186 399 6,186 399

Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost

Investments and loans to subsidiaries and joint ventures - (b) Amortised cost 17,018 56,560 6,860 8,595

Service charge debtors Amortised cost 6,518 3,846 6,200 3,569

Rental debtors Amortised cost 9,155 6,469 4,302 5,107

Social housing grant receivable Amortised cost - 3,439 - 3,439

Other debtors Amortised cost 20,412 20,817 68,129 80,605

Cash at bank and in hand Amortised cost 162,386 150,054 77,541 92,796

215,489 241,185 164,032 194,111

Financial assets that are equity instruments measured at fair value

Investments - (c) Fair value 10,883 8,952 172 139

Sinking fund investment offset loan Fair value 8,046 9,523 8,045 9,523

18,929 18,475 8,217 9,662

Financial liabilities that are measured at amortised cost

Rent in advance - (d) Amortised cost 10,038 9,863 6,793 6,681

Amounts due to contractors - (d) Amortised cost 3,975 4,201 471 240

Trade creditors - (d) Amortised cost 16,598 20,058 11,475 12,791

Other creditors and accruals - (d) Amortised cost 53,196 85,107 30,924 65,834

Bonds - (d) Amortised cost 936,772 694,173 543,428 300,983

Loans - (d) Amortised cost 669,987 824,000 478,232 631,071

Intercompany loans - (d) Amortised cost - - 172,203 179,137

Other long term creditors - (d) Amortised cost 50,002 5,067 4,946 5,512

1,740,568 1,642,469 1,249,972 1,202,249

Financial liabilities at fair value through Statement of Comprehensive Income

Derivative financial instruments - (a) Fair value 101,629 138,657 66,237 84,453

a. Derivatives are measured at fair value. The fair value of the derivative financial instruments are obtained from third-party valuations and 
external advisors

b. The loans to subsidiaries and joint ventures are financial assets that are debt instruments are measured at amortised cost

c. These investments are the investments held in the Charities Official Investment Fund and JM Finn

d. Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost.

38. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

As at 31 March 2021
Cash Flow  

Hedge Reserve 
Statement of  

Comprehensive Income 
Maturity  

date(s)

£’000 £’000
Derivative financial instruments:

Subject to cash flow hedge accounting - -

Subject to fair value hedge accounting - -

Not subject to hedge accounting - 42,814 2023-2058

Total derivative financial instruments - 42,814

Other movements:

Amortisation of de-designated cash flow hedges 1,148 (1,148)

Amortisation of gilt lock cash flow hedges 512 (512)

Unwinding of de-designated fair value hedges - 1,145

Total amortisation 1,660 (515)

Total Group 1,660                        42,299

As at 31 March 2020
Cash Flow  

Hedge Reserve 
Statement of  

Comprehensive Income 
Maturity  

date(s)

£’000 £’000
Derivative financial instruments

Subject to cash flow hedge accounting (2,327) - 2020

Subject to fair value hedge accounting - -

Not subject to hedge accounting - (30,817) 2021-2058

Total derivative financial instruments (2,327) (30,817)

Other movements

Amortisation of de-designated cash flow hedges 726 (726)

Amortisation of gilt lock cash flow hedges 514 -

Unwinding of de-designated fair value hedges - 1,208

Total amortisation 1,240 482

Total Group (1,087) (30,336)

The derivatives subject to fair value hedge accounting were terminated in the prior year, as part of a swap restructuring exercise. 

Cash flow hedges
In a cash flow hedge relationship, the proportion of the 
gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined 
to be an effective hedge is recognised directly in the 
cash flow hedge reserve. The balance in the cash 
flow hedge reserve is then recycled to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income to offset the impact of the 
hedged item when this occurs. Any ineffective portion 
of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is taken 
directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

The derivatives subject to cash flow hedge accounting 
have been terminated. As such, the related balances 
in the cash flow hedge reserve are amortised to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income over the original 
period of the hedged risk.

Bonds and senior loans
The Group’s financing facility includes bonds and 
senior loans totalling £1,604m. These accrue interest 
at an average of 3.18%, with an average maturity of 
18.1 years. They are secured by fixed charges over the 
Group’s properties.

Revolver loans
The Group’s financing facility also includes revolving 
credit facilities totalling £780m; these have undrawn 
balances of £720m as at 31 March 2021. Commitment 
fees of between 0.28% and 0.56% are charged on these 
undrawn facilities.
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